
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Planning Committee

Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held Virtually on Wednesday, 6 January 2021 at 7.00 pm when the business 
specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members can 
attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;

A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

a) 20190290 - Nuralite Industrial Estate, Canal Road, Higham, 
Rochester ME3 7JA - Redevelopment of the existing Nuralite site - 
report herewith

(Pages 11 - 
122)

b) 20201231 - Alexandrias Residential Home 147 Wrotham Road, 
Gravesend DA11 0QL - report herewith

(Pages 123 - 
136)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Planning & Development) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Members

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Brian Francis
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice
Steve Thompson

Substitutes: To be notified

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ


1

Planning Committee

Wednesday, 16 December 2020 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Brian Francis
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice
Steve Thompson

Jo Horne Legal Officer (Medway Council)
Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)
Richard Hart Principal Planner (Major Sites)
Alison Webster Career Grade Planner
David Herrington Digital Services Manager
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

29. Apologies for absence 

No apologies for absence were received.

30. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 25 November 2020 were 
signed by the Chair.

31. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Steve Thompson made a voluntary announcement of an other interest in respect of  
agenda item 5b - Application reference 20200561 Former St John’s Ambulance, Brigade 
HQ, Armoury Drive, Gravesend as he owned a property and resided 300 metres from the 
site and he was also one of the Ward Councillors for this area.

Cllr Tony Rice declared a significant interest in agenda item 5a – Application reference 
20200343 – Land at Market Square and Horn Yard Car Parks, New Swan Yard, Gravesend, 
as he was a member of the Rosherville Limited Board who had a pecuniary interest in this 
development. Cllr Rice left the meeting during discussion and voting on this item.

Cllr Jordan Meade made a voluntary announcement of an other interest in respect of  
agenda item 5b - Application reference 20200561 Former St John’s Ambulance, Brigade 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 16.12.2020

2

HQ, Armoury Drive, Gravesend as he had formerly been a St John’s Ambulance Cadet and 
had an enhanced knowledge of the site.

Cllr Jordan Meade also made a voluntary announcement of an other interest in respect of  
agenda item 5b - Application reference 20200561 Former St John’s Ambulance, Brigade 
HQ, Armoury Drive, Gravesend in that he lived within the Windmill Hill Conservation Area.

32. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

32.1 20200343 - Land at Market Square and Horn Yard Car Parks New Swan 
Yard, Gravesend, Kent - Erection of 242 no. residential units for Build to 
Rent (C3 Use Class), within three blocks ranging from 3 to 10 storeys, 
together with multi-storey car park as well as access, pedestrian links, 
landscaping, highway and other associated works - report herewith 

(Cllr Tony Rice left the meeting.)

Further to a meeting of the Planning Committee held on 22 July 2020, the Committee 
considered an application reference 20200343 in relation to land at Market Square and Horn 
Yard car parks, Swan Yard, Gravesend for the erection of 242 residential units for Build to 
Rent (Cs Use Class) within three blocks ranging from 3 to 10 storeys together with a multi-
storey car park as well as access, pedestrian links, landscaping, highway and other 
associated works.

The Principal Planner (Major Sites) advised that a revised planning application form had 
been submitted with changes relating only to the notice given/publicised to owners of the 
site. The information originally provided on  previous application form had been incomplete, 
specifically as there were very small portions of the site which were ‘unregistered’ land, in 
that the ownership was unknown, and notice had to be made in the local press to attempt to 
make those potential owners of the unregistered land aware of the application. The officer 
explained the process followed and stated that this technical error did not affect in any way 
the validity of any conclusions regarding the merits of the development made of officers or 
members of the Planning Committee at 22 July 2020 Planning Committee. The officer 
confirmed that the scheme had not been altered and displayed a land registry plan which 
showed the unregistered areas of land in white.

The re-consultation process had resulted in 35 responses which had all been addressed in 
the main and the supplementary reports. One comment mentioned the additional shops and 
the officer confirmed that the scheme was 100% residential with no retail element. Another 
comment stated that the application was not policy compliant. However, the officer 
considered that no further material considerations warranted a change to the application 

In conclusion, the officer stated that the application was policy compliant and confirmed that 
the decision agreed by the Committee on 22 July 2020 still stood.

The application had originally been referred for consideration as a major development 
proposal.

The Committee heard the views of the public speakers in support of and against the 
application who answered questions from Members.

Page 4



Planning Committee 16.12.2020

3

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 Following a “nonsensical design” comment, Members were advised that one of the 
speakers felt that while there was a need for additional housing in the Borough, this 
development was aimed at the overflow from London boroughs who would commute 
to their jobs in London. It would not be popular with Gravesham residents as families 
did not want to live in 2 bedroom flats in the town centre but would prefer more rural 
locations. It was considered that the economic landscape had changed this year and 
that this development did not provide for the people of Gravesham.

 A question was raised on the development not matching the town centre build 
density which had always been 3 to 4 storeys which some modern builds had 
followed. This was a super density scheme which would have an impact on the living 
conditions of residents and neighbouring dwellings because of its height, bulk and 
architectural design. It was noted that efforts had been made to make the 
development acceptable but this had not made an appreciable difference. It was 
advised that higher density developments in the town centre would take the pressure 
off the Council to build on the Green Belt to meet with the Government housing 
targets. However, it was considered that the previous scheme considered by the 
Committee in July 2020 was exactly the same as this application and therefore the 
above comment was a therefore a technicality. One of the public speakers did not 
consider the scheme to be policy compliant as the east and west quarters had been 
separated and a mixed use had not been insisted upon which they considered 
contrary to Policy CS5 of the Local Plan Core Strategy. It was considered that the 
officer’s report relied on the extant scheme which had not been commenced so could 
not be used as a justification for this application and therefore re-commencement 
conditions had not been complied with.

 The Principal Planner (Major Sites) confirmed that:
- all neighbours to the application site would be consulted on design issues when 

the conditions were discharged,
- all comments on the application received as a result of the re-consultation due to 

the unregistered land issue had been summarised in the report (paragraphs 2.2 
and 2.3) and legal advice had been sought.

- paragraphs 2.5 to 2.9 of the report showed the works to the site that had been 
lawfully implemented and an explanation was given on why the works had 
commenced in the archaeological zone 1.

- nothing in the proposal had been changed since the Planning Committee’s 
resolution in July 2020

Resolved that application 20200343 be delegated to the Planning Manager 
(Development Management) in consultation with the Chair of the Planning 
Committee, for the issue of planning PERMISSION subject to planning 
conditions and informatives as set out in the report and the completion of a 
Section 106Legal Agreement.

Note: (a) Pete Langly-Smith (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(b) Cos Constantinou (Architect) (a supporter) was present.
(c) Nick Diment (Planning Agent)(a supporter) was present.
(d) Les Woollends (an objector) addressed the Committee.
(e) Deborah Cameron (an objector) addressed the Committee.
(f) Mr Martin McKay (an objector) addressed the Committee.

(Cllr Tony Rice was re-admitted to the meeting.)

Page 5



Planning Committee 16.12.2020

4

32.2 20200561 - Former St Johns Ambulance, Brigade HQ, Armoury Drive, 
Gravesend - Demolition of vacant brick buildings and erection of 2 no. 
one bedroom bungalows and a two storey block containing 4 no. two 
bedroom flats with associated access from Albert Murray Close and 
Armoury Drive, car parking, landscaped amenity and ancillary enclosure 

The Committee considered an application reference 20200561 for the demolition of vacant 
brick buildings and the erection of 2 one bedroom bungalows with flexible living space on the 
first floor and a two storey block containing 4 two bedroom flats with associated access from 
Albert Murray Close (the block of flats) and Armoury Drive (the bungalows), car parking, 
landscaped amenity and ancillary enclosure at the former St John’s Ambulance Brigade HQ, 
Armoury Drive, Gravesend.

The Career Grade Planner showed a site location plan and described the location of the site 
in relation to the surrounding locality and the buildings currently on the site which included a 
former barracks building and a water tower. It was noted that the skylights in the bungalows 
pointed skywards to reduce the impact on neighbouring properties. The bungalows were 
also sited lower and therefore would not cause any detrimental effect regarding loss of light 
on neighbouring properties. A plan demonstrating the massing in the area and the location 
and effect of the proposals was shown as were photographs of the existing buildings on the 
site.

In conclusion the officer stated that the application was policy compliant and hence the 
recommendation as set out in the report.

The application had been referred to the Committee as Gravesham Borough Council was 
the applicant.

The Committee heard the views of public speakers in support of this application who 
answered questions from Members.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 Eighteen objections had been received which mainly related to the character and 
appearance of the proposal which abutted the Windmill Hill Conservation Area. The 
officers noted that the design was of a modern development which matched the 
design of residences to the north of the site. The Conservation Area to the south was 
separated from the site by a wall.

 Following a question on heritage concerns, Members were advised that Kent County 
Council (KCC) Archaeological Service had been consulted. KCC had then posed a 
specific question in relation to the water tower to Historic England who had advised 
that the water tower was not worth saving and could be demolished after being 
recorded for historical purposes. Members were shown a map of the location of the 
water tower on the site and it was noted that the Committee had little faith in opinion 
of KCC. It was suggested that the water tower be re-evaluated as to whether it was 
valuable or useful for Gravesham from a heritage point of view and Policy CS20 
(paragraph 5.16.10) was quoted in relation to the protection of local heritage.

 Other Members of the Committee were content to accept to opinion of Historic 
England and for the water tower to be recorded and then demolished. It was also 
noted that the financial resources for conversion or preservation of the water tower 
were not available. In addition, some considered that the brownfield site should be 
used to alleviate the housing shortage in the Borough.

Page 6



Planning Committee 16.12.2020

5

 Officers were advised that Historic England did not have the resources to get 
involved local heritage issues and was only interested in ancient monuments or 
Grade 2* listed buildings. It was suggested that the expertise of the Council’s 
Conservation Officer be relied on who’s opinion had been notably missing from 
Committee reports. It was also suggested that the former Barracks be considered for 
listing as it had been in use in the first and second World Wars as an artillery 
hospital.

 The Committee was advised that houses were not as space efficient as a block of 
flats and would have equated to 3 houses instead of 4 flats.  Therefore the layout had 
been designed to make the most efficient use of the site. 

 In relation to the heritage concerns, a question was raised on whether the 
architectural design of the water tower be reflected in the design of the proposal and 
also whether the plaque on the water tower could be incorporated in the soft 
landscaping. A suggestion was also made about the possible re-use of the water 
tower as a dwelling giving its solid construction which would accord with the Council’s 
Climate Change objectives. The applicant agreed that given enough funding for 
renovation and future maintenance, the tower could be utilised. However, this would 
be costly and was therefore not feasible and, if retained, would result in the loss of 
two dwellings on the site. This possibility had been considered but budget had 
precluded going forward with this idea. Members were advised that construction 
material from the water tower would be re-used for the hard landscaping on the site.

 Following a question about the heritage of the site, Members were advised that there 
was a detailed heritage study that could be made available. However, the Chair 
advised that public speakers were not permitted to share documents during the 
meeting. However, the document was in the public domain and so officers displayed 
the document once the public speaking had finished.

 Members were advised that a condition on obscure glazing in windows on the side of 
the block of flats had been as a result on objections received. It was noted that these 
were also bathroom windows. The design of the bungalows incorporated high level 
windows to avoid overlooking.

 There was a Tree Protection Order (TPO) on the boundary of Love Lane which 
mainly included lime trees. There was an Acer to be removed but this was not 
included in the TPO and would be replaced with two new trees. No evidence of the 
presence of bats had been found on the site. There was also a condition that 
vegetation clearance could not take place during the bird nesting season.

 The site was privately owned with no access to the public and therefore had not been 
used as a community space.

 The Committee was advised that an informative with regard to the hours of 
construction had been included in the recommendation set out in the report.

 The Principal Planner (Major Sites) advised that the heritage statement for the water 
tower detailed the structure of the tower and the existence of a more modern 
extension which was built of yellow stock brick. Members were shown internal 
condition photographs.

A motion for a Covid secure site inspection was moved, seconded and put to the vote. 
The vote was lost.

A number of Members asked that their vote on the recommendation set out below be 
recorded and it was suggested that the Committee’s vote as a whole be recorded as 
follows:

Page 7



Planning Committee 16.12.2020

6

For the motion – Cllrs. Lauren Sullivan, Harold Craske, Brian Francis, Elizabeth 
Mulheran and Steve Thompson.

Against the motion – Cllrs. Conrad Broadley, Bob Lane, Jordan Meade and Tony Rice.

Resolved that application 20200561 be PERMITTED subject to conditions 
and informatives as set out in the report including:

1. A condition requiring the implementation of the Code of Construction 
Management Plan to control the hours of working and levels of noise 
and pollution. (Based on the wording for Clifton Slipways approval Code of 
Construction Management Plan Condition.)

2. A heritage interpretation condition in relation to the preservation and 
conservation of the water tower dated plaque to be agreed before the 
demolition of the water tower.

3. A condition requiring the re-use of the construction materials from the 
demolition of the water tower to be used in the construction of the 
boundary walls where appropriate 

4. A condition in relation to the soft and hard landscaping.

Note: (a) Mrs Sharon Donald (Applicant)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(b) Anna Kadziolka (Architect)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.

33. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Planning & Development) 
under delegated powers had been published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.02 pm

Page 8



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20190290

Site Address: Nuralite Industrial Estate, Canal Road, Higham, Rochester, Kent, 
ME3 7JA.

Application 
Description:

The proposal is for the systematic redevelopment of the existing 
Nuralite site. This includes the importation of inert materials to 
cap, and landscape the historic asbestos landfill, thus containing 
its contamination risk. To demolish the existing buildings of the 
Nuralite industrial estate, deal with existing contamination, both 
through capping and removal of areas of hydrocarbon pollution, 
the laying of new service and utility infrastructure and the 
construction of 11 new purpose built light industrial type units 
and a site office.

Applicant: Mr Simon Hughes, LEJ Properties

Agent: Mr Chris Lee, Praxis

Ward: Shorne, Cobham & Luddesdown

Parish: Shorne

Decision Due Date: 8th January 2021

Publicity Expiry 
Date:

04.11.2020

Decision Level: Planning Committee 

Reason for referral: Major Development Proposal 

Recommendation:

It is recommended that the application is DELEGATED to the 
Service Manager (Development Management), in consultation 
with the Chair, for the issue of planning PERMISSION subject to 
planning conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement. 

Natural England is to be consulted on the Council’s Appropriate 
Assessment and consideration of the response received 
including potential need for additional requirements, is also 
DELEGATED to the Service Manager (Development 
Management) in consultation with the Chair.

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

This is a major planning application for the redevelopment of the existing Nuralite industrial 
estate, including the remediation of the entire site including the former asbestos landfill site.

Page 9 Agenda Item 5a



Whilst the report finely concludes the development is inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt, because of the uncertainty over part of the site’s previously developed land status, very 
special circumstances have been demonstrated which outweigh the harm to the Green Belt. The 
very special circumstances in this instance are considered to be:
• Contamination Remediation.
• Employment benefits.

There are no overriding adverse consultee comments to the development which is considered to 
be overall policy compliant with local and national planning policy.

It is recognised that this development is to be phased over a 3 year period and this will need to be 
carefully managed to minimise the impact on the surround. A phasing plan will be included in the 
legal agreement and Construction Management and Logistical Plan conditioned to ensure the 
impact on surrounding properties is minimised.

The proposed development will provide modern employment uses and replace substandard 
employment buildings and provide fit for purposes modern units which comply with the 
requirements of Policy CS07 (LPCS).

All representations received from both 3rd parties and consultees and have been taken into 
account when considering this proposal and the development is considered to comply with local 
and national planning policy.

Natural England raise no objection to the proposal subject to an appropriate assessment being 
undertaken, and shared with Natural England, to ensure that appropriate mitigation is secured via 
suitable planning conditions and s106 agreement. 

On balance, the recommendation is for planning permission subject to the planning conditions 
and heads of terms for the legal agreement which will be set out in the supplementary report. 

1. Proposal 

1.1 The proposal is for the redevelopment of the existing site known as ‘Nuralite Industrial 
Estate’ and will result in all the existing buildings (around 30) and associated 
compounds being demolished.

1.2 With the site being a former asbestos factory and containing an asbestos land fill site, 
the site will need to be remediated. This will require the export of materials from the 
sites demolition, and importation of material to encapsulate the landfill and the western 
portion of the site. Furthermore, imported materials will be used to create a 
development platform at the eastern portion of the site.

1.3 The remediation of the site will result in the site being raised from 1.8m to a maximum 
of 2.5m on the former landfill site and around the perimeter of the site would be 
retaining structures.

1.4 In addition, as part of the remediation package, the former Thames and Medway Canal 
which is heavily silted up and contaminated will be addressed as part of this 
application. 

1.5 Once the site has been remediated (this is likely to take place over a 3 year period), a 
development platform will be constructed on the eastern portion of the site with 11 
industrial units and a reception / canteen building constructed. 

Page 10



1.6 The 11 proposed industrial units are laid out each side of a new access road which 
runs through the centre of the site on a southwest  to northwest axis The footprint of 
each unit various slightly due to the layout of the site which is shown below:

1.7 The 11 units will provide a total of 24,000m² of floor space for business, storage and 
distribution purposes falling under uses B2/B8. 

1.8 In regard to employment numbers, over the three to four year development programme 
(post remediation) the applicant estimates it could create 270 full time jobs, and when 
operational the site could create between 600 to 6680 full time jobs.

1.9 The industrial units have an eaves height of 6.14m and a ridge height of 7.75m with 
roller shutter doors serving each unit. In addition high level windows are provided to 
provide natural light to the units, with additional windows at ground floor along with a 
pedestrian door.

1.10 Between each unit, hardstanding is proposed along with a central internal access road 
to provide sufficient parking/ drop off / pick up points for each unit.

1.11 The plans indicate the external finish for the units will be insulated steel sheeting and 
block work.

1.12 To the south of the site access point an office building is proposed containing a new 
reception area, canteen, security office and associated visitor car parking. This is a 
single storey building with a floor area of 300m², eaves height of 2.63m and ride height 
of 5.89m.

1.13 At the western end of the site, a turning area is provided for vehicles entering the centre 
along with 5 open storage areas. 

1.14 West of the compounds will be the remediated asbestos landfill which will have been 
turned into a Nature Conservation Area along with a pond being retained.

1.15 The vehicle parking provided by this development is shown to be 487 spaces with the 
hardstanding in front of each unit being able to provide further informal parking.  Cycle 
parking is also proposed to be provided to KCC SPG4 standards.

2. Relevant Planning History

Page 11



2.1 Activities upon the site pre-date the 1947 Planning Act and thus the recent relevant 
history for the site is as follows:

19920613 - Application for Hazardous Substances Deemed Consent for the storage 
of propane. Approval 18.11.1992

19881182  Circular 18/84 Consultation in respect of outline planning permission for 
the erection of buildings in connection with the use as a Charcoal Research and 
Training Facility. Withdrawn 17.05.1989

19830535 - Erection of an extension to existing factory to house manufacturing plant 
and machinery. Approved 28.09.1983

19820647  - Continued use of land as a vehicle turning and waiting park. Approved 
10.11.1982

19790897 - Continued use of land as a vehicle turning and parking area. Approved. 
15.11.1979

19760711 - Use of land as a waste and slurry tip. Refused 29.07.1977

19750848 - Formation of a vehicle turning and waiting park. Permitted  09.02.1977

3. Planning Policies

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) (September 2014):
• CS01 – Sustainable Development
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
• CS07 – Economy, Employment and Skills,
• CS10 – Physical and Social Infrastructure
• CS11 – Transport
• CS12 - Green Infrastructure
• CS18 - Climate Change
• CS19 - Design & Development Principles
• CS20 - Heritage and the Historic Environment

3.1 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2019) sets out that policies within adopted local plans should 
be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and 
should then be updated as necessary.  Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set 
out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012.

3.2 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and found that the adopted 
Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02, due to the 
increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted and the 
need to ensure that a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need.  Whilst saved 
policies from the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the NPPF (2019), 
the Council will also seek to replace these.  A Regulation 18 (stage 2) consultation is 
underway in regard to the Emerging Local Plan Partial Review, Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies (until 31 December 2020).  As the emerging Local 
Plan is at an early stage, in line with paragraph 48 of the NPPF, minimal weight will be 
afforded to policies in these emerging documents.

Page 12



Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (LPFR) (November 1994):
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
• T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network
• T3 – Significant Volumes of Commercial Vehicle Traffic
• T4– Significant Volumes of Commercial Vehicle Traffic (outside built up areas)
• T5 – New Access onto Highway Network
• TC3 – Development Affecting Conservation Areas

KCC Minerals and waste Local Plan (2013-30)
• CSW3 – Waste Reduction
• CSW10 – Development at Closed Landfill sites

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
• Section 4 – Decision-making
• Section 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy
• Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 
• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport
• Section 11 – Making effective use of land 
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
• Section 13 – Protecting Green Belt Land
• Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
• Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
•     SPG 4 - Parking Standards (2006)
• National Design Guide (October 2019)
• Landscape Character Assessment (2009)
• Lower Higham Conservation Area Appraisal (2016)
• Management Plan – Rural Conservation Area Appraisals (2016)

3.3 Section 72(1) of the Planning Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990 (as 
amended) requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas.

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Publicity

4.1 This application was advertised as by publication of a press notice, display of site 
notices and by neighbour notification letters sent to addresses in the vicinity of the 
site. 

4.2 During the course of the application two rounds of consultation were undertaken. The 
first round of consultation expired on 5 July 2019 and the second round of 
consultation expiring on 4 November 2020.

Page 13



4.3 The following section summarises, where necessary, the consultee responses 
received during the course of the application. Where there have been various 
comments from an organisation only the final/conclusive comments are included.

Internal 

Economic Development

The development of 24,000 square metres of new-build B2 and B8 accommodation 
within the Borough, would represent a significant provision of new commercial floor 
space, at a time when the need for this type of accommodation is already high and 
increasing significantly within north Kent. This is owing to the major commercial, 
transport and housing developments committed and the notable lack of new supply of 
light industrial and warehousing accommodation coming onto the market in recent years.   
Delivery of this much-needed accommodation on poor quality brownfield land, through a 
wholesale redevelopment, is an opportunity to deal comprehensively with the future use 
of a key strategic site, which currently represents lost potential to provide for the 
employment and economic needs of the Borough. This is particularly true, since this is a 
significantly under-optimised site, of which 80% currently remains dormant according to 
the application; due to contamination and the very poor condition of the majority of 
existing buildings.  

As a development proposal, the proposed layout of the site is typical of modern, flexible 
units which provide internal adaptability for individual tenants’ needs and easy expansion 
through adjacency of units within efficient block layouts.

Intended measures to support environmental sustainability in design are welcome 
enhancements; namely roof-mounted PV cells, ground source heat pumps (noting 
technical approvals referred to) and a future-proofed Electric Vehicle charging network. 
Design features such as these contribute to the Borough’s carbon reduction objectives 
and the creation of assets which should have lower operating costs and improved market 
attractiveness, which tend towards optimal long term management.

The application does not include a lettings strategy at this stage and so we are not able 
to comment on the likely mix and range of occupiers. However, the limited level of car 
parking provision and off-site transport options (albeit that a number of measures are 
proposed, such as a shuttle bus and bicycle storage at Higham Train Station), are a 
concern given the self-contained nature of the site and long, single access road. 
The site is located just a few miles from the main strategic road network and the access 
challenges to manage the type and number of movements via local roads, have been the 
subject of considerable examination throughout the consultation period. The off-site 
works and controls identified by Kent Highways are noted and we regard as being 
essential to minimum effective operation of the site as an expanded employment 
location.

Our final consideration is employment creation and the provision of ‘fit for purpose’ 
modern accommodation for existing local businesses. A development of this scale, 
involving significant remediation and mitigatory measures, will generate considerable 
employment in the construction phase and we would broadly support the applicant’s 
analysis of this positive impact. We presume that part of the site will accommodate the 
needs of existing local occupiers.

With regard to the job numbers associated with full occupation of the site, it is difficult to 
comment conclusively on the likelihood of these levels being achieved but it is 

Page 14



nonetheless important to recognise that unemployment in the Borough is now high and 
very likely to rise. 

A 7.4% registered unemployment rate for October 2020, is more than double the level of 
October 2019 (a rise of 123%) and does not yet factor in the additional unemployment 
projected to accompany the cessation of the Government’s Job Retention Scheme next 
year. This represents in excess of 2000 additional individuals unemployed this year. If 
this scheme proceeds, it could be expected to positively mitigate an already serious 
unemployment position within the Borough, in common with national trends.  
We therefore offer our support in principle for this scheme and welcome the controls and 
further details which will be confirmed as part of full determination of this planning 
application, particularly in relation to detailed unit / layout design as well as access and 
transport connections for HGV traffic and employees.  

Highway Development Management Officer (5th June 2019)

1. The first item I shall consider is the proposed routing of vehicles to the site from the 
wider area, whilst the introduction of one-way routing for the HGV construction traffic 
is to be welcomed, I do have issues with the road widths and proposed passing place 
widening. An eight wheeled truck manufactured by MAN can be 2.49 metres body 
width (mirrors require extra unspecified room), whilst a Land Rover, Range Rover 
with its mirrors unfolded is 2.22 metres wide. Allowing 3 x 75 mm clearance gaps, this 
gives a road width requirement of 4.935 metres or 5 metres or closer to 5.5m 
carriageway width (allowing for the lorry mirrors) to allow two vehicles to safely pass, 
and not the 4.2 metres suggested in the Transport Assessment. (Page 25). I would 
therefore recommend passing places should be provided on all carriageways less 
than 5.5 metres wide and each passing place should be a minimum of 5.5 metres 
wide. Whether this is possible within the existing highway I do not know, but is I 
suggest required as a result of the high level of HGV traffic during the construction 
phase and the potential for HGV traffic once completed. It should be noted that a 
Hyundai Ionq is 1.82 metres wide excluding mirrors, so this and an 8 wheeled truck 
without mirrors totals 4.31 width and doesn’t allow for any gaps between vehicles 
and/or verges which demonstrates the total inadequacy of what is being proposed.  

2. The proposed mini roundabout at the Lower Rochester Road with Church Street also 
raises concerns as there is insufficient distance between Canal Road and the 
roundabout to accommodate a large vehicle, so any large vehicle turning right from 
Canal Road would obstruct north bound traffic, there is also I believe an issue with 
northbound deflection. A Safety Audit of this proposal is required before additional 
comments can be made. 

3. Canal Road does not benefit from a footway and due to the high hedges along a 
significant proportion of its length and the total lack of any street lighting cannot be 
considered suitable for pedestrians. I note the comment regarding the road width, but 
as identified there are narrow sections where my comments in item 1 would equally 
apply. It should be noted a Ford Transit with mirrors extended is 2.474 metres wide, 
so to allow two such vehicles to safely pass I would suggest requires a minimum road 
width of 5.173 metres. Note a lorry and transit require in excess of this, so anywhere 
the width reduces below 5.5 metre passing places should be provided and should be 
5.5 metres wide, with each space being visible from its neighbours.  If suitable 
passing places cannot be provided, consideration needs to be given to shuttle 
working under traffic signal control.   

A site visit has shown that the railway bridge limits the height of vehicles that can visit 
the development. With the intensification of the use of the site adequate signage 

Page 15



must be provided at the village end of Canal Road to ensure over height vehicles do 
not attempt to access the development. But it is also essential that a suitable turning 
area is provided on the eastern side of the bridge to accommodate any vehicle that 
does arrive at the bridge, or additional warning is provided in advance with over 
height sensors where suitable turning can be provided

4. In terms of car parking at the development, the applicant has identified the need 
for electric vehicle charging and the fact neither Gravesham or Kent County 
Councils have any policy guidance on EV charging. He has therefore made a 
reasonable suggestion of provision of 5% active and 25% passive. However, I 
would suggest that along with the 5% active,95% passive should be provided as 
its installation now will be considerably cheaper than at some point in the future. 
Each charging point should be capable of providing a 30ampere supply. 

5. The layout of the proposed development needs to be proven by the use of swept 
paths, the turning area at the western end of the development appears to be 
restricted by the exit radii back on to the developments spine road and none of the 
spur access roads appear to have any form of turning which may mean vehicle 
accessing the units at the cul-de-sac ends of the roads will be unable to turn., which 
may make reversing movements prohibitively long.

6. Looking at the foul water treatment plant it is noted that within the WPL 
documentation that in section 3 Sales price, note (a) the following statement “Delivery 
to nearest hard road suitable for articulated vehicle having minimum headroom of 5 
metres.” Which is higher than is permitted by the rail bridge. The treatment works 
also needs to be accessible by tanker for the removal of sludge. There must also be 
some concern over the use of such treatment works on an industrial site, unless the 
waste entering it can be controlled to ensure no substance that can damage the 
treatment process enters the system.  At present I cannot locate the position of this 
treatment works or where the fluid will be discharged.

7. With regards to the TRIC’s analysis the approach seems reasonable but there is a 
distinct lack of detail submitted showing the TRIC’s data used, which is 
unacceptable if this is the case.

8. At this stage there seems to be little point at looking in detail at the Junctions 8 
calculations, as the acceptability of the junction proposal within Higham is open to 
question at this stage, it requires KCC approval and initially a safety audit. 

9. The Travel Plan is a typical document with very few issues, but the essential 
element is the provision of a shuttle bus service operating between the 
development, Higham Station and the bus services on Gravesend Road, the more 
local service to Higham is unlikely to be used by employees due to its operating 
hours. Plus the provision of suitable bicycle storage at Higham Station for 
employees to leave their bicycles in overnight whilst they travel the greater length 
of their journey by train.   

Highway Development Management Officer  (4th October 2020)

The revisions reflect ongoing discussions to achieve a pragmatic solution to the problems 
involved with the redevelopment of this site and in particular dealing with the hazardous 
materials on site. 

Page 16



I have no objections, but request all off site highway works being completed, including if 
necessary, Traffic Regulation Orders if approved, prior to any works commencing on site. 

There is a need for a financial contribution being necessary to permit Kent County 
Council to carry out TRO works irrespective of the outcome and this should be paid 
within four weeks of permission being granted, due to the time and costs involved in 
dealing with the TRO process.   

Waste Services

No comments received 

Regulatory Services (Air Quality)

After having considered the findings of the report 661821-AQ-01 by RSK dated 16 
January 2019 this service accepts the findings and conclusion of the report in Section 8 
of the report. 

There is significant potential for dust to be created by the earthworks on the site and as 
such it is very important that the necessary mitigation measures are required to be 
implemented to minimise the impact on local air quality such that it is negligible. 

Although operational phase mitigation is considered unlikely to be required, the 
implementation of good practice mitigation measures should be negotiated and required 
by condition to reduce the impact of emissions to air at sensitive receptors are 
recommended to ensure the air quality impacts are minimised. These include good 
design principles, and measures to help minimise vehicular trips and encourage more 
sustainable modes of travel.

Mitigation measures which could be implemented to facilitate a further reduction in the 
effects of the development on local air quality during construction phase should also be 
required by condition and have been recommended in Annex E. The effects of the 
development on local air quality would be considered to remain insignificant following the 
implementation of an appropriate selection of measures such as those recommended. 

Damage Costs - Annex F - The assessment includes a damage cost calculation for the 
proposed development, which was undertake in reference to relevant guidance. The 
damage cost calculation identifies the costs for transport average as:

NO2 £21,044 and 
PM10 £58,125.

The applicant should now propose what mitigation measures are proposed off site to the 
value of the total damage costs ie £79,169. These mitigation measures should be 
included in the S106 agreement. 

Regulatory Services (Noise)
The site itself is isolated and the noise impact from the actual site use is likely to have 
minimal impact on surrounding properties (We also need to take into account the current 
lawful use of the site). 
Agreed.

The concern from Members/public will be the noise from vehicles accessing the site 
along Canal Ride and the impact on Lower Higham and the surrounding areas. 
Also agreed.

Page 17



Also would the noise impact of the use/vehicle movements have any adverse impact on 
the Ramsar/SSSI or users of the public footpath to the north of the site?  
We would not comment on this or be concerned with noise affecting footpath users who 
are transient and on public land.
The application includes Noise Assessment and the HRA also makes reference to noise, 
we need to ensure we are happy with the contents. 
The Noise and Vibration Assessment looks at the existing baseline levels and likely 
impacts from:
        the construction and remediation of the site;
        traffic during the construction and operational phases; 
       fixed plant
and makes recommendations for best practicable and mitigation where required.

Construction noise impacts cannot be accurately dealt with due to the current lack of 
specific detail, but the report suggests that construction noise and vibration can be 
suitably controlled through an appropriate Construction Management Plan and 
adherence to the Best Practicable Means (BPM) agreed via a prior consent application 
at a later stage - as is quite normal.  Noise from construction, including 
earthworks/foundation, demolition and remediation works, are expected to be within the 
threshold levels for all the considered receptors in close proximity, whilst all other 
receptors are predicted to sit comfortably below.  The point is made that such noise is in 
any case short term.

Reference is made to construction work only occurring during standard construction 
hours, i.e. Monday – Friday (08:00 – 18:00) and Saturday (08:00 – 13:00), and 
predictions later contained in section 8 assume a 2-metre hoarding around the perimeter 
of the construction site will be installed throughout the duration of works.  Both of these 
elements would need to be conditioned.  

It is recommended that a further construction assessment based on BS5228, be 
included in the Construction Noise and Vibration Management Plan once the 
construction program and plant list are defined. The assessment should also include an 
assessment of the likely duration of the noise impacts for each construction phase and 
the implementation of any mitigation measures if applied.  This will be required.

Construction traffic noise impacts are predicted to range from minor, on Chequers 
Street, to Major, on Canal Road, with moderate impacts arising on Lower Rochester 
Road and Gore Green Road when assessed in accordance with the DMRB 
methodology. It is important to note that these are during the daytime only, due to the 
times when construction works would be permitted to occur.  When the values are 
appropriately converted to consider noise insulation eligibility, they do however fall below 
the lowest threshold values.  Again, the report clarifies that accurate determination of 
eligibility for an insulation scheme would depend on the predicted noise level at each 
receptor following an assessment that would (could only) be carried out for that purpose 
once detailed construction plans are in place.  This will need to be required.
14.1.6 of the Planning Statement suggests that meeting the maximum permitted level 
may be most readily achieved by lowering of the speed limit in the vicinity of the affected 
properties and the application of contractual working restraints (control of working hours 
and regular maintenance of access roads) during the construction period, which are 
considered potentially viable proposals.  

Vibration arising from construction traffic is not predicted to increase considerably above 
that already experienced from heavy vehicles accessing the site.   Similarly, he distance 
between the construction and demolition works at the nearest sensitive receptor is such 

Page 18



(i.e. approximately 40 metres) that vibration impacts are considered unlikely as result of 
the construction works themselves.  Further details, especially in relation to piling, will 
need to be forthcoming in a Construction Noise and Vibration Management Plan 
(CNVMP), having regard to the advice set out in the noise report that rotary bored piling 
offers a better noise and vibration performance in relation to driven or pressed-in 
techniques and so would likely be required as part of achieving BPM.

In terms of operational traffic noise, a moderate increase is predicted on Canal Road, 
whilst only minor impacts are predicted elsewhere.  Whilst the predicted elevation in 
noise on Canal Road is not predicted to reach the threshold of being entitled to noise 
insulation treatment under the Noise Insulation Regulations, the predicted increase 
nevertheless equates to an 8dB elevation above the recommended upper design criteria 
for external noise within BS8233:2014, which this Service would deem to be 
unacceptable.  The applicant will need to address this.

Section 9 deals with fixed plant noise.  Again, in the absence of specific details, an 
accurate assessment cannot be made.  As set out in the report, any plant should 
therefore be appropriately assessed prior to installation in order to meet the criteria 
contained in BS4142: 2014 and the requirements of Gravesham Borough Council.  We 
would expect rating noise from fixed plant in this location to not exceed -10dB below the 
background noise.  Given the distance to the nearest NSP and ability for plant to be 
located, enclosed, chosen, etc. with this in mind, this should not be problematic for the 
developers to achieve.

The proposed mitigation measures are set out in section 10.  These appear sensible 
and we would wish to see all applied, as a minimum.  

The salient Conclusions are that: 
-        There would be likely adverse noise effects as a result of the proposed development 

associated with daytime construction traffic and operational traffic in the short term, 
but none is predicted to be significant.

-        Construction noise and vibration can be suitably controlled through an appropriate 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and adherence to the Best 
Practicable Means (BPM).

-        On site noise from operation and fixed plant are not considered to be of particular 
concern given the current use of the site and scope for the detailed designs to factor 
this in.

The report appear comprehensive and makes reference to the appropriate standards, so 
we have no reason to dispute the contents.  

Regulatory Services (Contaminated Land)

It is recommendation that the application is approved subject to suitable planning 
conditions to ensure that the works are appropriately planned and completed.  These are 
required to protect construction workers, future site users and off-site receptors from the 
recorded contamination. 

The application includes sufficient information relating to the site, demonstrating that the 
extent, nature and risk of the existing contamination is understood.  The information 
includes a series of site investigation and risk assessment reports that identify 
contamination by asbestos (as free fibres and cement fragments) within the made ground 
across the entire site, together with localised areas of petroleum hydrocarbon impacts 
associated with the bulk fuel and oil storage.  Additionally the assessments highlight the 
potential risks associated with the silts/sediments within the adjacent canal and on-site 
ponds, with a need to mitigate and manage the risks.

Page 19



The RSK Remediation Option Appraisal and Method Statement has identified a 
remediation strategy for the site, comprising the localised excavation of petroleum 
hydrocarbon impacts and placement of cover system over the asbestos contaminated 
made ground.  It is agreed that the proposed remediation strategy would provide a 
suitable control of the recorded contamination and enable the redevelopment of the site.  
The only additional requirement is the inclusion of a high visibility puncture resistant 
marker layer (geotextile) the base of the cover soils to identify the extent of the (clean) 
cover soils above the contaminated soils to any future construction/maintenance 
workers.  The remediation strategy will need to be updated to reflect this additional 
requirement.
To ensure that the works are suitably controlled, the following aspects should be covered 
by conditions:

 Provision of a Remediation Implementation Plan specific to the remediation 
proposals of the site, detailing:

o Phasing of the works
o Management and controls of excavations, arisings and waste, to include 

movements within the site and stockpiling
o Identification of excavation works (localised hydrocarbon impacts) 
o Interim Verification Reports – linked to key stages of the remediation 

scheme
o Details of controls and monitoring during the remediation works
o Confirmation of the reuse and imported soils specification for the site

 Provision of a Maintenance and Management Plan for the Canal Works
o The RSK remediation strategy refers to the application of a proprietary 

product (e.g. Siltex) to manage silt within the canal.
o The report also indicate that periodic (ongoing) application of the product 

may be required
 Details are required on how this work be managed, monitored and 

reported going forwards. 

 Provision of an Air Monitoring Plan for the duration of the demolition and 
remediation works

o The plan must include details of:
 Monitoring locations
 Frequency
 Assessment and Reporting of results

 Details are required for the landscaping and planting works across the site, to 
include for:

o Tree pits
o Shrub planting in soft landscaping areas
o Management of the open space area (western part of the site)

Additionally, an asbestos plan of works will be required for the demolition and 
remediation phases. This will need to be produced by the contractors directly involved 
and reviewed by the HSE.

Regulatory Services (Commercial Comments)

Depending on the final use of the warehouses the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) or 
Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) Environmental Health will be the enforcing authority. 
The applicant must ensure that these premises comply fully with the Health and Safety at 
Work (etc) Act 1974 and all relevant regulations made there under. For information and 

Page 20



advice on health and safety matters check out the HSE website www.hse.gov.uk or 
contact the Environmental Health team on commercialhealth.admin@gravesham.gov.uk 
or 01474 337 000.
The warehouses will be immediately subject to the requirements of the Workplace 
(Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992. Particular attention should be made to 
the following requirements.

 Regulation 6 requires that effective and suitable provision shall be made to 
ensure that every enclosed workplace is ventilated by a sufficient quantity of fresh 
or purified air.

 Regulation 14 requires that every window or other transparent or translucent surface 
in a door or gate shall where necessary for reasons of safety be constructed of a 
safety material or be protected against breakage and also be appropriately marked.

 Regulation 20 requires that suitable and sufficient sanitary conveniences shall be 
provided at readily accessible places. Where between 6 and 25 persons are 
employed a minimum of 2 water closets must be provided.

Public Health Comments – Private Water Supply
Under the Private Water Supplies Regulations the competent authority (Gravesham 
Council) has a duty to ensure that the location of all private water supplies is recorded, 
and those that serve commercial businesses or more than one domestic property are 
monitored to ensure that they are of sufficiently high quality to protect the health of 
consumers.

The site is known to have a private water supply. Due to the public health risk associated 
with inadequate private water supply sources, associated sampling, treatment and 
system maintenance costs and the risk of insufficient supply during dry periods, a mains 
water supply is considered the most appropriate supply type. 

Where the applicant decides to continue with the use of the private water supply, detailed 
information regarding the private water supply, including the nature, location and 
adequacy of the source, any storage tanks/pipe works and the filtration and disinfection 
treatment proposed to ensure provision of an adequate and consistently wholesome 
water supply shall be submitted to the Environmental Health Commercial Section via 
email: 

commercialhealth.admin@gravesham.gov.uk, in line with the above regulation.

Conservation Architect

The heritage report is an acceptable record of the buildings and can be forwarded to the 
Kent HER.

Regarding the proposals the critical design issues are related to screening of the 
proposals and traffic generation and its impact on the adjacent conservation area.

The proposed scrub and woodland along the northern boundary will be important in 
reducing the impact of the proposals when viewed from the north and relevant conditions 
will need to be applied to ensure details are secured and on-going maintenance is 
ensured.

The raising of land levels will also need to be carefully considered in terms of views 
across the site, particularly when viewed from the south along Lower Higham Road, 
where further tree screening may be necessary along the southern boundary, which 
appears to be cleared in the proposals. Visualisations would assist in ensuring this.

Page 21

http://www.hse.gov.uk/
mailto:commercialhealth.admin@gravesham.gov.uk
mailto:commercialhealth.admin@gravesham.gov.uk


It is likely that increased traffic movement will impact on the character of adjacent 
settlements and it is noted within the Conservation Area Management Plan SPD for 
Lower Higham Conservation Area (Management Plan Rural Conservation Area 
Appraisals Supplementary Planning Document, page 26 5.6.4, 5.6.6) that an appropriate 
traffic management scheme should be considered as a result of heavy lorries using the 
roads through the village with consequent danger to pedestrians. Any developer 
contributions should be secured in consultation with KCC as the highways authority, with 
proposals being developed in consultation with GBC and the parish council.

External 

Health & Safety Executive (HSE)

No objection but raises the issue the development site falls within the vulnerable building 
consultation zone of licensed explosives facility.  

Natural England (16 July 2019)

No objection. 
Notes the application could have potential significant effects on South Thames 
Estuary and Marshes Site of Special Scientific Interest Thames Estuary and Marshes 
Ramsar Site and requires the following additional information:
 Confirmation that there will be no net loss of the SSSI and Ramsar designated 

sites.
 Clarity is required that the hard engineering proposed to reinstate the canal bank 

is outside the SSSI and Ramsar site.
 Clarity on the duration of the works and the impacts to the SSSI notified features 

during this period.
 Details on the re-establishment of bankside vegetation.
 Details of future monitoring work.

Natural England notes that the People Over Wind Ruling by the Court of Justice of the 
European Union concluded that, when interpreting article 6(3) of the Habitats 
Directive, it is not appropriate when determining whether or not a plan or project is 
likely to have a significant effect on a site and requires an appropriate assessment, to 
take account of measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of the plan 
or project on that site.  

The ruling also concluded that such measures can, however, be considered during an 
appropriate assessment to determine whether a plan or project will have an adverse 
effect on the integrity of the European site.   

Natural England advises that it is a matter for your Authority to decide whether an 
appropriate assessment of this proposal is necessary in light of this ruling. In 
accordance with the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017, Natural 
England must be consulted on any appropriate assessment your Authority may decide 
to make.

Natural England (23rd August 2020)

The submitted Breeding Bird survey which surveyed the entire application boundary 
including the area within the Ramsar found one Schedule 1 species, six Red List 

Page 22



species, and three Amber species; none of which are part of the Ramsar Criterion but 
do indicate the good habitat status of the site therefore Natural England would 
welcome measures to protect and enhance the habitat for them.  

The ‘Information to inform Habitats Regulations Assessment’ document is light on 
detail and we would advise Gravesham that a ‘likely significant effect’ cannot be ruled 
out at this stage, particularly as the authors do suggest in their likely significant effect 
screening section that there will be direct impacts to the Ramsar site and that it should 
be considered further at the Appropriate Assessment stage. 

Profiles of the existing canal side as it is now are required to compare to the profiles 
supplied in the document. The profiles supplied do not indicate where the boundary of 
the Ramsar site occur so we are not able to ascertain what will be lost or damaged 
during and after the works. Without these we are unable to confirm the statement in 
the HRA that ‘the proposed works will not result in a reduction in the size of the canal’. 
The submitted diagrams are not clear where the SSSI boundary is in relation to the 
work proposed and this information is needed to ensure there is no loss of  habitat 
within the Ramsar site.  

A temporary loss of habitat within a European Site may be considered to be ‘not 
adverse’ where there is sufficient certainty that the effect can be made good, 
remedied and the feature restored or recovered to its former pre-project condition or a 
condition from which it could recover itself naturally.

Although it is argued in the HRA that the loss of the canal side which is within the 
SSSI and Ramsar is temporary, plans or projects which are considered to have a 
‘temporary’ loss need to have certainty that the loss of habitat would be temporary 
and in that respect they should be strictly and clearly time limited, have a detailed 
remediation plan with proven remediation techniques that forms an integral part of the 
permission in order to ascertain no adverse effect on integrity.

On the basis of information provided, Natural England advises that there is currently 
not enough information to rule out the likelihood of significant effects. Natural England 
therefore advises that your authority should not grant planning permission at this 
stage.    

Natural England advises that additional information should be submitted by the 
applicant in order for your authority to fully assess the proposal. This would then 
provide an opportunity for your authority to progress to screening to check for the 
likelihood of significant effects of the project as submitted (i.e. with all new information 
provided as part of the proposal) but excluding, at this stage, any measures 
specifically intended to avoid harmful effects on a European site(s).  

If following the submission of additional information you conclude, as the competent 
authority, that there is a likelihood of significant effects, or uncertainties, you should 
undertake an appropriate assessment in order to fully assess the implications of the 
proposal in view of the conservation objectives for the European site(s) in question. 
Natural England must be consulted on any appropriate assessment your Authority 
may decide to make. 

Natural England (6 November 2020)

NO OBJECTION - SUBJECT TO APPROPRIATE MITIGATION BEING SECURED 

Page 23



We consider that without appropriate mitigation the application would:  
• have an adverse effect on the integrity of Thames Estuary and Marshes Special 

Protection Area (SPA) & Ramsar Site 
• damage or destroy the interest features for which the South Thames Estuary and 

Marshes Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) has been notified. 

In order to mitigate these adverse effects and make the development acceptable, the 
following mitigation measures are required / or the following mitigation options should 
be secured:  
• capping of bank works to be delivered in phased manner 
• habitat restoration via replanting of locally appropriate Ramsar species such as 

divided sedge once phases complete 

We advise that an appropriate planning condition or obligation is attached to any 
planning permission to secure these measures. 

Natural England’s further advice on designated sites/landscapes and advice on other 
natural environment issues is set out below.

The applicants appropriate assessment concludes that they are able to ascertain that 
the proposal will not result in adverse effects on the integrity of the Thames Estuary 
and Marshes SPA & Ramsar Site. Having considered the assessment, and the 
measures proposed to mitigate for all identified adverse effects that could potentially 
occur as a result of the proposal, Natural England advises that we concur with the 
assessment’s conclusions.  This is provided that capping works carried out in a 
phased manner and habitat restoration, with planting of locally appropriate Ramsar 
species, implemented as proposed in the provided documents (Information to Inform 
Habitats Regulations Assessment and Habitat Management Plan) are secured and 
considered by your authority at HRA appropriate assessment and secured in any 
planning permission given.  

Please note that if your authority is minded to grant planning permission contrary to 
the advice in this letter, you are required under Section 28I (6) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) to notify Natural England of the permission, the 
terms on which it is proposed to grant it and how, if at all, your authority has taken 
account of Natural England’s advice. You must also allow a further period of 21 days 
before the operation can commence. 

Other advice  

We also note that sensitive construction measures and habitat restoration works, 
such as those proposed, must also be suitably secured and implemented to ensure 
there is no significant impact on interest features such as; breeding birds, 
invertebrates and vascular plant assemblages of the South Thames Estuary and 
Marshes Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).

Kent Police

Having reviewed the plans no objection is raised but they note that the applicant has yet 
to make contact with them on addressing secure by design issues. As such any scheme 
that is approved should have the following secured:
1. Development layout and permeability 
2. Perimeter, boundary and divisional treatments. Vehicle gates/barriers into the site. 
3. Parking inc. visitor 
4. Lighting and CCTV 

Page 24



5. Access Control 
6. Doorsets 
7. Windows 
8. Alarms 
9. Use of the SBD Commercial initiative is recommended

If this application is to be approved we request that a Condition or Informative be 
included to show a clear audit trail for Design for Crime Prevention and Community 
Safety and meet our and Local Authority statutory duties under Section 17 of the Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998.

Dickens’ County Protection Society

Objects to the proposal on the following grounds:
 The proposed development is contrary to Green Belt policy and will adversely 

impact on the openness of the Green Belt and no special reasons have been 
provided to justify this development.

 The area used for the disposal of asbestos waste should not be disturbed.
 Proposals to cap  the area will result in undesirable changes the land form and 

would result in large number of lorry movements through the residential area of 
Lower Higham to the detriment of amenity and highway safety.

 The works proposed will impact on the Ramsar Site
 Unauthorised development that took place outside the original developed footprint 

should not be allowed to influence the determination of this application.

The society raises welcomes the proposal to reinstate the Thames and Medway 
Canal and any material which was deposited in the canal which emanated from the 
site should be the responsibility of the applicant to remove.

Environment Agency (22nd July 2019)

We object to the proposal due to the likely effect this will have on water voles and their 
habitat. Insufficient information has been provided to assess the risks posed by this 
activity and there is insufficient details of mitigation or compensation measures have 
been submitted to address any identified risks. Therefore, we recommend that planning 
permission is refused.

Environment Agency - Fisheries, Biodiversity and Geomorphology (23rd October 2019)

Whilst the additional information is helpful, we would still request further clarity on the 
following: 

The depth of buffer along the canal where development is to take place, as it is not clear 
from the submitted information how much space will be available between the canal edge 
and the development. Additional cross-sections that show the actual building size in 
relation to the proposed tree planting and canal would help to illustrate this. This is so 
that we can understand how much disturbance there might be from construction and use 
of the site. 

We note that only some of the 24 trees for the development area will be planted between 
the buildings and the canal and therefore the buildings will be highly visible from the 
canal side following construction. 

Page 25



There is no information on the lighting plan for the site, and this is particularly important 
for the canal side area and understanding how much light intrusion there may be along 
this edge. 

Confirmation that with the proposed depth of the ponds (2 metres) will still provide 
adequate capping to the site beneath the ponds, and therefore, this element is 
deliverable. 

We would encourage the use of the new Biodiversity Metric 2.0 to demonstrate that the 
development is delivering biodiversity net gain. At present it is not clear that this will 
definitely be achieved. 

The local planning authority will need to resolve how the management of the proposed 
nature area will be provided, as annual management of the site will be required in order 
to retain wildlife interest. 
 
The Management Plan doesn't appear to mention that the wild flower areas will probably 
need two cuts a year and for those cuttings to be removed (or raked into a single 
compost area within the site) in perpetuity. 

We wait to see the final water vole survey results from September. 

Please note that the above comments only relate to Fisheries, Biodiversity and 
Geomorphology. We have other comments to make in relation to issues within our 
remit, which will be provided if our above objections are overcome.  

If the Council is minded to granted permission against our advice we would ask you 
to contact us for further discussion.

Environment Agency (11th February 2020)

The outcome of the September water vole survey is noted. We await the other issues 
raised during the previous consultation response dated 23 October 2019.

Environment Agency (30th March 2020)

Thank you for consulting us on the above application. We do not have any objections 
subject to the following comments and conditions being applied to any planning 
permission granted.  

Fisheries, Biodiversity and Geomorphology
We note that the current proposals for the new buildings are immediately adjacent  to 
the line of the designated site in places. Whether this is acceptable will need to be 
determined by Natural England, as we would recommend them to be set back slightly 
to enable new planting to screen the buildings and disturbance from the canal 
corridor. We note all the other points.

A condition for a lighting scheme to be agreed that ensures the nature area and 
Ramsar is protected against any increased light spill would ensure that it is 
appropriately laid out. This could be agreed with Natural England.

We recommend that conditions are imposed to ensure the creation and maintenance 
provision for the nature conservation area is in place. It must ensure it can be 
sustainably managed for the future.

Page 26



Groundwater and Contaminated Land  
This site is a complex site, and all environmental receptors are sensitive, although 
surface waters and ecology are possibly higher than groundwater considerations 
locally. 

The site has had previous industrial activity and disposal actions which have placed a 
significant potential risk of hazardous materials release. This risk has to be managed 
carefully in all aspects of any permitted development to ensure that risks to human 
health and compliance with relevant waste management activity is properly managed. 
However we recognise the site does pose a current risk in its current state and some 
works to remediate the landfill and old abandoned structures are likely to be required 
to ameliorate this current status. 

This site overlies a secondary and principal aquifer, any pathways for contamination 
must be strictly controlled to avoid pollution of these aquifers from any historic
contamination identified on the site from previous uses.

Contamination 
The previous use of the proposed development site as an asbestos manufacturing 
facility and multiple other industrial/commercial temporary uses presents a 
high/medium risk of residual contamination that could be mobilised during 
construction to pollute controlled waters. Controlled waters are sensitive in this 
location because the proposed development site is located upon Principal aquifer 
overlain by a Secondary aquifer.  

The reports submitted in support of this planning application provides us with 
confidence that it will be possible to suitably manage the risk posed to controlled 
waters by this development. Further detailed information will however be required 
before built development is undertaken. It is our opinion that it would place an 
unreasonable burden on the developer to ask for more detailed information prior to 
the granting of planning permission but respect that this is a decision for the Local 
Planning Authority. 

In light of the above, the proposed development will be acceptable if planning 
conditions are included requiring the submission of a remediation strategy, carried 
out by a competent person in line with paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Without  these conditions we would object to the proposal in line with paragraph 170 
of the National Planning Policy Framework because it cannot be guaranteed that the 
development will cause or be put at unacceptable risk from, or be adversely affected 
by, unacceptable levels of water pollution.

Works to cap the landfill area must be undertaken in accordance with a strategy 
formally agreed with the Environment Agency. Relevant environmental permits may 
be required for placement of materials to cap the landfill and restore the site to open 
habitat. Works which will infill any open water will need appropriate permits.

Highways England (21st October 2020)

Requests refrain from determining this application until further information is submitted.

Highways England (19th November 2020)

Page 27



On 19 November, Highways England (HE) explained that the applicant’s transport 
consultant emailed Highways England on 29 October 2020 in response to HE’s initial 
emailed comments on the application dated 20 October. In the case of this proposed 
development, Highways England is interested in the potential impact that the 
development might have on the A2 near Gravesend and the M2 at Hoo.

HE’s email highlighted that the information provided to date on a number of areas was 
sufficient such as traffic growth and construction management plan.

But for other areas, further information was sought:

Trip Generation and Distribution

1. Action required- The TRICS report contained in Appendix 15 of the TA does not 
include evidence of the user selections made in TRICS for location, size of sites, etc, 
rather it skips straight to the site details. This should be provided.
2. Action required -The trip rates in Table 6.7 of the TA, do not match the TRICS output 
in Appendix 15 of the TA. This should be clarified. 
3. Action required - The TRICS data for the NB-02-D-02 site shows higher rates for 
08.00-09.00 than 07.30-08.30. The ATC data in Table 6.6 reports 08.00-09.00 peak hour. 
Please explain why Table 6.7 has used 07.30-08.30 AM peak hours. The highest peak 
hours should be used.

Traffic Impact

4. Action required - Table 7.4 ‘Development traffic routed onto A2/M2 junction from 
A289’ table title still states 2027 flows, however in line with the above requested 2030 
assessment, should this now read 2030 flows? Please clarify and update. 

5. Action required - The TA states “The AM and PM peak factors, as summarised in 
Table 7.1, have been applied to the 2018 survey flows and data obtained from 2017 
to generate forecast flows for 2021 and 2027, which are illustrated at Appendix 17.” 
However the 2018 survey flows are contained in Appendix 16. Please display the 
2018 base flows on a traffic flow diagram, to clearly identify how Appendix 17a and 
17d flow diagrams have been produced. 

6. Action required - Please update all relevant traffic flow diagrams in Appendix 17 in 
line with the changes to distribution in TN06 and the update to the trip generation 
peak hours above. 

7. Action required – We are predominantly concerned about the impact of operational 
traffic as this represents the worst case with 106 and 110 (note that this is based on 
07:30 to 08:30 AM peak and 08:00-09:00 is worse) AM and PM peak hour flows 
respectively compared to peak construction which will generate 55 and 55 AM and 
PM peak hour flows respectively. We understand from Appendix 17e Development 
Traffic Flows: Operational that 44 and 65 vehicles leave the site in the AM and PM 
peak respectively to travel along Chequers Street which could be towards the M2 
Junction 1. With due consideration of the above actions, please update the flow 
diagrams and outline how many of the operational trips travel to/from the M2 junction 
1 (or the SRN elsewhere) so that we can understand the potential peak hour impact 
at our junction.

Lower Thames Crossing 

8. Action Required - We note that the TN outlines that construction of LTC is 
programmed to coincide with this proposal, albeit peak construction and 2 of the 3 

Page 28



years of construction will be complete. Please also include information on the impact 
on operational traffic impacts. 

The applicant’s traffic consultant responded to HE on 24 November and advised that 
they had reviewed the actions listed and prepared their response which clarified the 
various points raised to allow HE to make their final formal response to the Local 
Planning Authority.

Please note that this is awaited. A chase-up email to HE was sent on 7 December 2020.

Inland Waterways Association (IWA)  (2nd November 2019)

IWA understands the need to minimise the spread of asbestos and that the existing 
estate is dilapidated and uneconomic, though with some historic buildings and 
associations. So, IWA is neutral on the developments proposed for those areas outside 
the canal corridor.

We are pleased that no built development is proposed over the canal corridor.

However, we are concerned that the “Remediation Options Appraisal” is not proposing 
that the asbestos contaminated silt in the canal be dredged, but rather that ‘Siltex’ be 
used to shrink the silt ‘in-situ’ so that it settles and is covered by a thin layer of water 
which is proposed to be equivalent to the capping layer. We are unsure of the efficacy of 
‘Siltex’ and, even if it does create a clear depth of water, there remains a risk that any 
disturbance, such as by animals or boats, would release asbestos. We would greatly 
prefer that the canal be dredged to around 1.5m depth to remove any chance of 
spreading asbestos in the future. This would include removal of some of the material 
dragged into the canal by the felling of all the neighbouring trees around four years ago. 

We are disappointed that the application proposes to permanently block the continuity of 
the historic water-filled corridor over the westernmost end of the site with the addition of 
imported material to raise land levels to form what is termed a ‘picnic area’. In our view 
this length should also be dredged to provide clear water as far as the site boundary.

The “Sections AA, BB, CC, DD” drawing ‘NURA 1-03’ shows a revetment-type 
embankment alongside most of the canal and this is supported by both the “Contour 
Plans”. However, Section CC is shown as having a length of gabion retaining wall 
toward the top of the embankment. The wall looks too thin to be stable. A long section of 
gabion walls alongside the canal at Mark Lane recently failed and had to be dredged 
out.

The “Planning Statement” says… “In all it is estimated that around 485,000 tonnes 
(269,000 cubic metres) of material will need to be imported over a three (to four) year 
period to safely cap the asbestos landfill.” Clearly, importing this quantity would put a 
heavy strain on local roads. An alternative source of inert fill would be to excavate the 
inert rubble with which the canal near Shornemead Crossing was infilled after the war. 
This material has been checked uncontaminated by Groundwork Trust and WS Atkins in 
the 1990s. Removing it would re-create the continuous open water of the canal corridor.

The “Flood Risk Assessment” proposes that the canal be used to attenuate flooding by 
rainfall. The level changes proposed are slight and IWA has no objection to the concept. 
However, if the ‘Attenuation Canal’ were to be directly connected to the rest of the canal 
at Shornemead then there would be sufficient surface area to attenuate without the need 
for a discharge into the environmentally sensitive SSSI marsh ditches, with excess water 

Page 29



taken by the existing weir in the canal that drains to the Thames via the (non-SSSI) 
Denton Outfall.

Cl.11 of the “Planning Statement” describes the sparse existing services on the site, 
none of which is within the canal corridor. We note that few new services are proposed 
and their locations are undefined. We would prefer that new services do not cross the 
canal corridor and that any that do are buried at least 2m below the canal water level.

The canal corridor should be maintained on the north eastern end where the proposed 
development appears to create a pinch between the existing Canal Road and a new site 
road. Sufficient width should be maintained for the canal.

KCC Heritage (21st October 2020)

The site contains built heritage assets associated with the Thames & Medway Canal 
and the former British Uralite Company. None of these assets are designated but it is 
recognised that the complex of surviving buildings at the site represents an important 
example of late 19th and early 20th century industrial heritage, with some of the 
buildings having been designed by architect Edwin Sachs. The application for 
development of the site is supported by a heritage statement (Stephen Levrant 
Heritage Architecture. Ltd.. 2018) which provides a summary of the site and 
buildings, their significance and an assessment of proposed impacts and mitigation. It 
is understood that due to asbestos containing materials within the fabric of the 
buildings as well as on surfaces and within the surrounding environment, that all 
historic structures are proposed for demolition. To mitigate this significant loss of non-
designated heritage assets, it is proposed that all historic buildings and structures will 
be recorded to Historic England Level 3 or Level 2 (depending on agreed 
significance) before demolition. Based on structural survey information and the health 
and safety arguments that have been presented, it appears that there is no option 
other than to accept the physical loss of built heritage assets at the site. Were it not 
for the significant health and safety issues, I would recommend the retention and re-
use of the most significant buildings at the site. However, if demolition is accepted, 
then the proposed recording would be appropriate and the details of this work 
(including the nature of reporting and archiving) could be secured by use of an 
appropriate planning condition.

Below-ground archaeological potential 
The site lies in an area of significant archaeological potential associated with multi-
period activity, including early prehistoric remains, later prehistoric, Romano-British 
and early medieval burials and occupation. The site is underlain by river terrace 
gravel deposits which have Palaeolithic archaeological and palaeoenvironmental 
potential. This location also has archaeological potential for prehistoric and later 
activity on buried occupation surfaces beneath or within Holocene alluvium and peat 
at the changing interface between the wetlands to the north and the higher and drier 
landscape to the south. There is also the potential within these Holocene alluvial 
deposits for well-preserved organic remains which are dependent on appropriate 
hydrological conditions. The northern boundary of the site is formed by the Thames 
and Medway Canal. This is a surviving linear historic landscape feature and industrial 
heritage asset. It is of high local importance and is an important and complex heritage 
asset which is being brought back into use as a public amenity. Associated with the 
canal are subsidiary fixtures and fittings, including road bridge, earthworks, and 
cultural material. There are likely to be below-ground archaeological remains 
associated with this more recent industrial heritage at the site.  

Page 30



Archaeology was scoped out of the Environmental Impact Assessment process and 
so the application has not been submitted with an archaeological desk-based 
assessment or detailed consideration of impacts to below ground archaeological 
remains. It is understood that the reason for this was that, due to the high level of 
asbestos contamination across the site, development across the majority of the site 
would proceed with effectively a ‘no dig’ approach comprising capping of the site with 
between c.1.0 and 1.4m of imported material. However, the application is supported 
by a Preliminary Design Report – Perimeter Slopes & Structures by Gabriel 
GeoConsulting Ltd. (GGC, January 2019), which as well as providing important 
information about the underlying deposits at the site, looks at options for works to 
retain perimeter slopes and structures. These works would involve varying degrees of 
excavation below ground and possibly into deposits with archaeological and 
palaeoenvironmental potential and indeed the data within the GGC report confirms 
the presence at the site of alluvial deposits and river terrace gravels beneath varying 
thickness of made ground. All three of these deposits may have archaeological 
potential. It is understood that the intention is to minimise works which would expose 
below ground asbestos containing materials, for example by locating all services 
within the capping layers and the use of driven piles. However, it is possible that the 
remedial works and piling would have an impact on uncontaminated deposits with 
archaeological potential and therefore there may be a need to agree appropriate 
methods for recording, where this would be practical and safe to undertake. Given 
the potentially limited nature of such work, this could be secured by an appropriately 
worded condition.

Public information 
As the site has known heritage interest and there would be a significant loss of 
heritage assets as a result of the proposals, it will be important in the event that the 
development proceeds, that information about the history and archaeology of the site 
is collated, reported on and made available to visitors to the site and to the wider 
public. This should include deposition of relevant reports with the Kent Historic 
Environment Record, the Archaeological Data Service and through the provision of 
information boards and displays at the site and on the adjacent public rights of way, 
with links to more detailed information online.  

In light of the heritage interest of the site and the need for a range of approaches to 
mitigate impacts to this heritage as highlighted in the three sections above, I 
recommend that the following condition is applied to any forthcoming consent: 

No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written specification and timetable which has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological and heritage interest are properly 
researched, examined, recorded and reported on for the benefit of this and future 
generations. 

KCC Ecological Advice  (6th July 2020)

The following comments are based on the assumption that the vegetation clearance 
within the west of the site will be carried out the same year that the remediation works 
are carried out. Our comments are likely to change if the whole site is cleared of 
vegetation in year one but the replacement habitat is not created until year 4.   

We have reviewed the submitted information submitted with the planning application and 

Page 31



discussed the application with the applicants ecologist.  We have the following comments 
to make:  

The following reports have been submitted: 

• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
• Reptile Survey 
• Bat Emergence survey 
• Breeding Bird Survey 
• Habitat Management Plan 
• Habitat Regulations Assessment 

 The submitted reports have detailed the following:
• Low populations of slow worm 
• Low population of common lizards (confirmed breeding population) 
• Anecdotal evidence of grass snake 
• 5 pipistrelle bat roosts in the buildings 
• Likely leisler’s bat, soprano pipistrelle and brown long eared bat roosts in the trees 
along the western section. 
• At least 7 species of roosting bats 
• At least 30 species of breeding birds

Reptiles 
No map has been submitted confirming the location of the proposed receptor site. We 
understand from discussion with the applicants ecologist that the receptor site is to be 
located to the north of the canal which will not be impacted by the remediation works but 
is directly connected to the wider site and therefore once the habitats have re-established 
on site the reptile population can recolonise the site.    

Therefore we are satisfied that the proposal are acceptable – we advise that any 
enhancements to this area must be carried out in advance of the mitigation works 
commencing.  We understand that this area is also a footpath therefor the enhancements 
must not be damaged as a result of maintenance for the footpath. 

A map has been submitted showing a construction buffer zone and we highlight that this 
document is only for the construction period not for the remediation works as we 
understand that works are required to the canal as part of the remediation works. We 
question if this buffer zone is realistic – as it appears to be drawn right up to the edge of 
the development footprint and typically the construction footprint is often larger than the 
completed  development footprint. We recommend that there is a need to ensure that a 
reptile translocation is carried out within all areas to be impacted by the proposed 
construction and remediation works.

Bats
We are satisfied that the bat surveys provide a good understanding of the bat usage of 
the site and advise that for the determination of the planning application we are satisfied 
that no further bat surveys are required but there may be  need for updated bat surveys 
to inform the EPS licence application. 

The surveys have confirmed that there are at least 5 bat roosts within the buildings and 
potentially at least another 3 roosts within the trees within the western part of the site.  
The roosts will be lost as a result of the proposed development and remedial works.   

 At least 7 species of bats were recorded foraging/commuting within the site and the 
following highlighted that bats were recorded foraging through the site. 

Page 32



 The activity transect surveys revealed that the habitat areas where bats were recorded 
foraging and commuting which included broadleaved woodland, areas of scrub, and 
between the industrial buildings where lighting was minimal. The surveys also identified 
two key areas of habitat where bat activity was concentrated: the area of broadleaved 
woodland between the two lakes and around buildings 13 and 21, 22, 53. 

We highlight that the proposed development will initially result in a complete loss of 
habitat within the site and therefore, prior to the re-establishment of the nature area, the 
proposed development will result in a loss of suitable foraging habitat. However the site 
is directly adjacent to the Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar and SPA and South 
Thames Estuary and Marshes SSSI awe therefore we accept that as the impact is only 
temporary as there is suitable foraging habitat within the surrounding area. However we 
highlight that there is a need to ensure that the proposed nature reserve area is re-
established as soon as possible. 

The proposed development will result in an increase in artificial lighting and there is a 
need to ensure that the external lighting and the buildings to be designed to ensure there 
is minimal light spill within the site and surrounding area – particularly towards the 
designated sites to the north and proposed habitat area. We recommend that the 
buildings are designed to ensure that there are no windows within the northern elevations 
of the buildings. 

To mitigate the impact on roosting bats the bat survey has stated that eco rocket bat 
boxes will be erected on the north of the site during construction and the following 
permanent mitigation will be implemented within the development site (and it has been 
confirmed in the ES): 

It is recommended that nine 1FF Schwegler Bat Box Built-in Wood Rear Panels are 
installed on the proposed industrial buildings within the site. Eight on the northern gable 
of proposed  buildings B-G and K-L and one on the southern gable of proposed building 
G. The bat boxes will be installed at least 4m above the ground, in a sunny but sheltered 
locations, usually south or south-west facing. Examples of these bat boxes are provided 
in Appendix 10. 

We highlight that there is a need to ensure that the buildings can support these bat boxes 
and they will not (as detailed above) be impacted by lighting.  There is a need to ensure 
that if bat boxes are to be located on the norther boundary of the building that there will 
be no light spill within the northern section of the site. 

Breeding Birds 
The breeding bird survey provides a good understanding of the breeding bird usage of 
the site and it recorded 30 species of breeding bird within the site and 10 of these 
species had specific protection or were of note (e.g. red list species). 
 
The proposed development will result in a temporary loss of suitable nesting habitat we 
have reviewed the aerial photos and we agree that there is suitable habitat within the 
surrounding area (including the adjacent Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar and SPA 
and South Thames Estuary and Marshes SSSI) and therefore we accept that as the 
impact is only temporary there is suitable foraging and nesting habitat within the 
surrounding area to support the population while works are being undertaken.   

We agree that the habitats proposed to be created within the proposed habitat area will 
provide suitable replacement nesting habitat in the long term however we highlight the  

Page 33



importance of this area being created as soon as possible and appropriate management 
being implemented for the life time of the proposed development.  

The submitted information has confirmed that in addition to the habitat creation area a 
variety of bird nesting features (including sparrow terraces and sand martin nest tunnel) 
will be erected throughout the site. 

Water vole 
Water vole were not recorded during the survey and we accept that, while they have not 
followed best practice guidelines, the results of the surveys are sufficient to determine 
the planning application.  However as detailed within the report there is potential that 
water vole will establish on site and therefore we advise that there will be a need for a 
pre commencement survey and updated mitigation strategy (if required) prior to works 
commencing on site.

Habitat Creation 
There is proposal to re-establish and manage habitat within the north and west of the site 
we are supportive of this proposal but we highlight that there is a need to ensure that it 
will be implemented and managed in the long term.   

A management plan has been created and it has detailed that the following habitats will 
be created within the site: 
 
• Marginal planting 
• Wildflower meadow 
• Scrub 
• Water bodies 
• Woodland 
 
We advise that we have considered the habitat detailed within the habitat creation plan 
NOT the site layout plan as that just suggests that the proposed nature area will be 
mainly grassland. 

We agree with the principles of the information detailed within the submitted 
management plan however we advise that if planning permission is granted a more 
detailed habitat creation/management plan is required to ensure that someone with 
limited experience of creating habitats / managing a site for biodiversity can implement 
the work.  We advise that the species to be planted within the site must be similar to the 
species currently present within the site.  

 The site will be cleared due the asbestos remediation works which are required and 
therefore the applicant has control over the soils which are spread within the nature 
conservation area.  

We would strongly recommend that soils that are not nutrient rich are spread across the 
site as species rich wildflower meadows are typically found within the nutrient poor soil. 

Timings of works / updated surveys 
We note that the construction timetable within the HRA indicates that the enabling and 
construction works will be spread over 4 years with the habitat creation area being 
created within the 4th year. 

We highlight that there is a risk that the conclusions of the submitted surveys may no 
longer be valid by the time works commence on site and highlight that if planning 
permission is granted, at the start of each phase, there will be a need for at least an 

Page 34



updated preliminary ecological appraisal to review the site and assess if the existing 
surveys/mitigation proposals are still valid or if updated surveys will be carried out.   

We highlight that the above statement includes the demolition of the buildings – the bat 
surveys were carried out during 2018 and are now two years old therefore there may be 
a requirement for updated bat surveys to be carried out to inform the EPS licence.

KCC Flood and Water Management

Having reviewed the drainage strategy the following comments are made:

1) Appendix J (Outputs from MicroDrainage) are not included within the report but are
noted to be provided as a separate file. It appears however that they are not supplied
within the submitted documents and would ask for these to be provided for review.

As an advisory, we would expect to see the drainage system modelled using FeH
rainfall data in any appropriate modelling or simulation software. Where FeH data is 
not available, 26.25mm should be manually input for the M5-60 value, as per the
requirements of our latest drainage and planning policy statement (June 2017).

2) Whist it has been recognised that pollution is present on site and remediation 
methods have been proposed, the new surface water drainage system has little 
information submitted which demonstrates suitable pollution control methods have 
been proposed for the development itself. We would require that the new drainage 
system complies with the required total treatment levels as detailed within Ciria Suds 
Manual (2015) Part E section 26. We would also expect to see outline details of all 
the pollution control methods proposed.

3) It should be noted that the site is located within the jurisdiction of the Upper 
Medway Internal Drainage Board. Therefore, any works whatsoever including the 
creation of new outfalls may have the potential to affect any adjacent watercourse (or 
the network’s ability to convey water) and will subsequently require their formal prior 
written permission.

Advisory: The drainage strategy report outlines maintenance requirements detailed 
from the Ciria Suds manual. We highlight that future maintenance proposals should 
be bespoke to the drainage strategy for the site. It is not essential for this information 
to be provided at this stage.

North Kent Marshes Drainage Board 

This response is based on review of Flood Risk Assessment Report K0855/2, 
(Hydrologic Services, January 2019).

The assessment does not include an appraisal of water quality and set out how the 
drainage scheme meets the industry best practice set out in CIRIA SuDs Manual C697. 
This needs to be submitted at a detailed design stage.

Note that the area is under the jurisdiction of the North Kent Marshes Internal Drainage 
Board for the purposes of its land drainage functions.  Watercourses in this location are 
classified as an ‘ordinary watercourses’ and under the jurisdiction of the North Kent 
Marshes Internal Drainage Board for the purposes of its land drainage functions.  Any 
works within the channel of the watercourse including for example construction of a 
culvert or flow control structure requires prior consent from the North Kent Marshes 
Internal Drainage Board under the Land Drainage Act 1991.

Page 35



Network Rail

No objection to the proposal but recommends the applicant contents network rail 
Asset Protection Team to enable approval of works. Furthermore the applicant must 
ensure that works on site does not:
 encroach onto Network Rail land 
 affect the safety, operation or integrity of the company’s railway and its infrastructure 
 undermine its support zone 
 damage the company’s infrastructure 
 place additional load on cuttings 
 adversely affect any railway land or structure 
 over-sail or encroach upon the air-space of any Network Rail land 
 cause to obstruct or interfere with any works or proposed works or Network Rail 

development both now and in the future 

Network rail require an informative to be included making reference to the following:
 Future Maintenance
 Drainage
 Plant & Materials
 Scaffolding
 Piling
 Fencing
 Lighting
 Noise and Vibration
 Landscaping
 Vehicle Incursion

West Kent Public Right of Way Officer (21 June 2019)

Public Rights of Way NS140 will be affected by the application and the office objects 
to the proposal for the following reasons:
 
This footpath although not part of the direct planning works runs along the route of 
access to the new development and indeed in the planning area.  It also is part of a 
National Cycle Network route. As such I expect to see separate hard surfaced 
provision for cyclists and pedestrians on the section between the bridge over the road 
to the entrance of the new works.  This is to ensure the safety of the users from 
motorised traffic during and after the development has taking place. 
 
It is important to advise the applicants that a public right of way must not be stopped 
up, diverted, obstructed or the surface disturbed and there must be no encroachment 
on the current width, at any time now or in future.  This includes any building 
materials or waste generated during any of the construction phases. Please note that 
no furniture or fixtures may be erected on or across Public Rights of Way without the 
express consent of the Highways Authority.  

Kent County Council Public Rights of Way Officer (15th October 2020)

Public Rights of Way NS140 and NS156 may be affected by the application and I 
therefore enclose a copy of the Public Rights of Way network map showing the 
definitive line of this path for your information.  

Page 36



I appreciate that the submitted design has included a 2 metre wide path along the 
western side of Canal Road.  Unfortunately routing the path this side will mean that 
pedestrian traffic will have to cross Canal Road twice with all the risks that involves 
especially during the early stages of construction.  I would like to see this path 
swapped to the eastern side so no crossings are necessary. 

Additionally I would like to see the path continued under the railway bridge as far as 
NS156 which skirts the railway yard. Here I would like a formal crossing and warning 
notices to advise both vehicular traffic and pedestrians that their paths may cross. 

Finally the path will need to be wider than 2 metres as this route carries the National 
Cycle Network Route 1.  This is very busy with cyclists and will need to be a dual use 
path of at least 3.5 metres wide   I would like to see a verge between the path and 
road so as to protect the path users from close contact with the increased traffic that 
this development will create.  As the application stands currently I can foresee the 
cyclists using the 2 metre wide footpath and create chaos with the pedestrians.  

It is important to advise the applicants that a public right of way must not be stopped 
up, diverted, obstructed or the surface disturbed and there must be no encroachment 
on the current width, at any time now or in future.  This includes any building 
materials or waste generated during any of the construction phases. Please note that 
no furniture or fixtures may be erected on or across Public Rights of Way without the 
express consent of the 
Highways Authority.  

Thames and Medway Canal Association (4th October 2020)

The Thames and Medway Canal Association was formed in 1976 with the aim of 
restoring the Canal from Higham to the Canal Basin. We continue to promote this aim to 
all who influence decisions affecting it. The benefits of our vision are outlined in a letter 
sent to Councillors regarding the Albion development. (attached for your reference). 
There have been a number of submissions logged regarding this from both the Inland 
Waterways Association and the TMCA who are generally in favour of the development. 
The main points of deviation that have emerged are outlined below details of which can 
be seen in previous submissions. 

1) The pinch point in the North West corner should allow the canal route adequate 
width of green space similar to the existing waterway between Canal Road and 
any adjacent hard standing or permanent structure.

2) We ask for dredging of the canal to provide adequate depth of water in the long 
term.

3) We ask that the infilled section designated ‘Picnic area’ at the Western end of the 
canal is dredged to reinstate the waterway to the site boundary.
We ask that developers provide a useable continuous waterway within their boundaries 
and prefer bridges where the canal is crossed. We realise that bridges can be a financial 
obstacle but not insurmountable. At the very least we ask for a green corridor of 
sufficient width and clear depth. Please bear the above in mind when finalising this 
development.

KCC Flood and Water Management (2nd October 2020)

Page 37



We have no further comment to make on this proposal and would refer you to our 
previous response on 4 July 2019

Shorne Parish Council 

See Appendix B and C for 7th July 2019 and 23rd October 2020 comments.

Higham Parish Council 

See Appendices D & E for 22nd October and 3rd December 2020 comments.

Kent Highways Services & Transportation Services (comments received 1 December 
2020)

See Appendix F.

Neighbour Notification & Publicity

4.4 Two rounds of consultation (the second period expired on 4th November 2020) have 
been undertaken for this proposal and as a result of this 241 comments been have 
been received objecting to the proposal on the following reasons:

 Increase in traffic
 Roads too small/narrow to accommodate development
 Surrounding roads not suitable for HGV’s
 Speeding of HGV’s as a result of this development
 No footpath dangerous for users of Canal Road.
 The rents for the new units will be too high.
 Danger to wildlife
 Noise pollution
 Light pollution
 Adverse impact on the Green Belt
 Roundabout is an idiotic idea
 Too many blind spots on Canal Road.
 Lorries damage pavement/walls and hedges
 Surrounding roads cannot accommodate development
 No public transport links so more workers/visitors using private care so more traffic
 Use of navigation system takes Lorries through the village.
 Dangerous for walkers/horse riders/runners/cyclists
 Impact on residential amenity
 Adverse parking on surrounding areas
 Disturb underlying asbestos
 Health risk due to contaminated site. 
 Dangerous at school times
 Danger to children
 Footprint unsuitable
 Hydrocarbon pollution 
 Surveys out of date
 S.106 Contributions will not address the highway impact
 Pollution in canal is not acceptable.
 The proposed development offers no benefits to Higham residents.
 Questions how long movements will be enforced.
 No amount of amendments can result in this proposal being acceptable

Page 38



4.5 A number of non-material planning considerations were also raised by neighbour 
representation letters. As they are non-material considerations they are not 
summarised in this report.

4.6 The comments above received are all of those received up until midday on 22nc 
December 2020. Any additional 3rd party comments received up to midday on 29th 
December 2020 will be summarised in the supplementary report. Any further 
comments received will be verbally updated to the Planning Committee.

5. Interim Service Manager (Development Management) Comments

Site Context 

5.1 The application site is located within the Green Belt to the northwest of the settlement of 
Lower Higham. The site is in close proximity to the Thames Estuary Marshes, which are 
a designated RAMSAR and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) with the top strip / 
section of the site (the former canal) being within the SSSI and Ramsar site.

5.2 Access to the site is via a rural road known as Canal Road and is around 1mile in length 
extending from the junction with Lower Rochester Road, Church Steer and Chequer 
Street in Lower Higham. In addition to serving the application site, the road also provides 
access to a small number of residential dwellings, Beckley Hill Works industrial estate, 
small holdings and the Hoo Junction railway yard.

5.3 There are no footways present on Canal Road and the road has speed humps along its 
length and is generally 5.50m or greater in width, accommodating two-way traffic. There 
are a small number of locations where the road narrows to 5.0 m although the forward 
visibility to these pinch points is good, ensuring that conflicts are manageable.

5.4 The road is used by pedestrians and cyclists on a regular basis, particularly for 
recreational use for those using National Cycle Network route 1, which follows the route 
of the former canal. The regular speed humps ensure that vehicle speeds are kept 
relatively low, offering a reasonable environment for pedestrians and cyclists.

5.5 The eastern end of the road is adopted highway for the first 450 metres from its junction 
with Chequers Street with the remainder being a private road which is in the ownership 
of Network Rail. Shortly northwards of the railway bridge at Hoo Junction, the road is 
within the applicant’s control.

5.6 Abutting the site to the south is Hoo junction which is a railway yard serving the North 
Kent Line and the freight only Hoo Peninsula branch line with vehicular access to the 
yard form both Canal Road and Queens Farm Road. 

5.7 Hoo Junction is one of the key sites for Network Rail in the south east where trains of 
sleepers, rail, ballast are assembled for major engineering works and any materials that 
have been removed are returned to the site. There is also a rail freight presence at the 
southern end of the site.

5.8 At the northern end of the application site is the remains of the Thames and Medway 
Canal (which is now landlocked), which originally linked the canal basin at Gravesend 
with the Strood canal basin. However, with the introduction of the railways in the 19th 
century and with the purchase of the Higham and Strood canal tunnel in 1846 the canal 
was cut off from the Medway.

Page 39



5.9 The canal was used up until 1934 (from Gravesend to Higham) and a number of areas of 
the former canal have been backfilled.  A lot of the backfill around the application site 
was either waste material from Nuralite or rubble form WW2 air raids. This includes parts 
of the canal that run along the northern section of the application site.

5.10 Northeast of the site is the industrial estate known as Beckley Hill Works which is built 
within the confines of an old quarry. This site is accessed by Canal Road. 

5.11 North of the site running east/west is National Cycle Route 1 which runs parallel to the 
discussed Thames and Medway Canal. 

5.12 Parts of Public Rights of way NS140 and NS317 lie within the site (albeit not within the 
area proposed to be developed), with NS156 running to the east and south of the site. 
This is illustrated on the below extract from Kent County Council Public Rights of Way 
Map.

Site History

5.13 The site was developed in the late 19th century (1899-1900) by the British Uralite 
Company and designed by architect Edwin Sachs who specialised in the design of 
theatres and in fire-resident building techniques. The factory produced asbestos and 
other building materials.

5.14 The location for this factory was chosen for its transport infrastructure (adjacent to canal 
and the railway yard to the south). A siding was provided with a private station on the 
railway for the use of works and this station closed to passengers around 1901 and to 
freight traffic in 1961.

5.15 The Illustration below shows the British Uralite Company with its early buildings.

Page 40



5.16 As outlined in the supporting Heritage Statement, by 1939 the buildings on site had 
increased substantially, reflecting the expansion of the company and increase in 
products constructed on site. 

5.17 From 1945 to 1970 saw the post war building boom with a high demand of building 
materials and was the site’s most successful period.  During this period up to 800 people 
were employed at the site with many workers arriving from the surrounding area on 
coaches. From the 1980s onwards the workforce reduced to around 400 people due to 
more efficient production methods.

5.18 During this boom period the site continued to develop and this is demonstrated when 
comparing the 1940 and 1960 aerial photographs of the site.

1940 aerial photograph 1960 aerial photograph

   

5.19 Further development on the site took place, especially at eastern end of the site and 
south west corner of the site. This is reflected in the1990 aerial photograph.  However, 
from 1990 onwards the site remains largely unchanged.

1990 2020

Page 41



   

5.20 The lack of further development on the site from the 1990 onwards is linked to the 1980s 
health concerns around asbestos. In 1985 with outright ban of blue (Crocidolite) and 
brown (Amosite) asbestos, almost overnight all asbestos products became susceptible to 
market boycott, and the company’s demise came quickly after this when demand 
plummeted.

5.21 The company therefore filed for liquidation for the third, and final time in November 1987 
eleven years before the import, sale and second-hand re-use of white asbestos was 
outlawed in 1999, and a buyer not being able to be found, the company closed soon 
after.

5.22 The liquidators continued their work until 1995 when they applied for the company to be 
formally dissolved, but due to the outstanding unsecured creditors and unresolved court 
cases where serious illness and deaths had been associated with working at Uralite, the 
Company is still ‘technically’ in existence and still listed as such at Companies House.

5.23 In addition to being used as manufacturing site for asbestos and other materials the site 
has been used for significant landfilling (at the western end) for asbestos cement 
chipping, asbestos cement slurry and commercial waste with the license expiring in 
1999. No proper and formal closure and restoration of the former landfill areas has been 
undertaken, and asbestos containing materials can be freely observed littering the 
surface of the Western portion of the site.

5.24 Other areas of the site have been prone to historic fly tipping.

5.25 The following map taken from the Phase 1 and II Geo-environmental Assessment shows 
the location of the built form, various landfills on site and areas subject to flytipping. 

Page 42



5.26 The site also has Hazardous Substances Consent (ref: 19920613) for the storage of 
propane tanks over 5 locations within the site. The applicant has confirmed these 
propane tanks were decommissioned a number of years ago. In due course, they will be 
removed by Calor (who own them and the enabling infrastructure). For the avoidance of 
doubt any removal will need to comply with all relevant HSE requirements.

5.27 Since the site ceased manufacturing asbestos and the landfilling at the western end of 
the ended in 1999, the site is sublet to various businesses and the lawful use of the site 
is part Sui Generis (the landfill)  with various  B2 (General Industrial) and B8 (Storage or 
distribution uses across the site. It should be noted as the industrial uses have occurred 
on the site for over 100 years it’s a lawful use and there are no planning restrictions 
(such as hours of use, vehicle movements or noise levels) associated with the site.

5.28 With the highly contaminated nature of the site, only around 20% of the buildings are 
currently let.

5.29 The applicant purchased the site in 2016 with the intent of providing a comprehensive 
remediation and redevelopment for the site.

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Screening

5.30 The proposed development, in accordance with the EIA regulations, constitutes EIA 
Development under Schedule 2, Part 10a ‘Industrial estate development projects’ as this 
site exceeds the (0.5ha) for this class of development and is considered ‘likely to have 
significant effects on the environment by virtue of factors such as its nature, size or 
location.

5.31 The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement and Appendices 
(Volume 2).  In reaching their recommendation, officers take into account the 
Environmental Statement which was submitted under the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, and are satisfied that the 
Environmental Statement complies with the above Regulations and that sufficient 
information has been provided for them to assess the environmental impact of the 
proposal.

Page 43



5.32 The Secretary of State has been consulted but no formal response has yet been 
received.

Key Issues

5.33 In determining this application  the key issues which need to be considered are as 
follows:

 Contamination
 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
 Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking
 Green Belt
 Impact on the Landscape
 Heritage (Including Archaeology)
 Design, Character and appearance
 Sustainability 
 Biodiversity  
 Amenity of Existing/future occupiers of the site
 Neighbouring Amenity
 Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements
 Fire Safety

Principle of Development & Employment Use

5.34 The principle of employment use on this site has been established through the lawful 
use of the site  dating back to the late 19th century when it was first use as an 
Asbestos factory and then subsequently for other various industrial uses.

5.35 Gravesham’s Economy and Employment Background paper (December 2012) notes 
that Gravesham has the lowest level of B class employment floorspace of all nearby 
districts. Gravesham’s total employment space is also low, relative to its population 
size. In particular the amount of commercial office and warehouse floorspace per 
capita is particularly low in comparison with nearby districts.

5.36 The paper notes that besides the Nuralite and the adjacent Beckley Hill works the 
remainder of the traditional B Use classes are located in the urban area.

5.37 In this paper the Nuralite site (as existing) was identified to be poor quality taking into 
account the following criteria
 Strategic Road Access and Local Road Areas;
 Accessibility to public transport and Services;
 Adjoining uses;
 Site size and development constraints; and
 Attractiveness to the market.

5.38 Gravesham Local Plan at paragraph 5.1.22 notes that there only a few major 
employment sites within the rural area and this small number of sites do facilitate 
sustainable lifestyles by providing opportunities for people to live and work locally, 
and they also help to support the delivery of local services. Furthermore, it notes that 
interests in new employment space in the rural area are low and opportunities are 
constrained by the Green Belt. Any future demand for employment space within the 
Green Belt should be met through the retention or refurbishment of existing 
employment space. This approach is set out in policy CS07 (Local Plan Core 
Strategy - LPCS) that seeks the delivery of 186,490m² of employment floor space 

Page 44



With this scheme a total of 24,133m²  employment floor space will be provided which 
is a net gain of over 15,763m² over the existing usable floor space on site. 

5.39 Policy CS07 (LPCS) states the Council will support the refurbishment and upgrading 
of existing industrial and commercial premises and this proposal will achieve this.

5.40 At a national level paragraph 83 of the NPPF (2019) states that decision should 
enable the sustainable growth and explain of all types of businesses in the rural area. 
Paragraph 84 of the NPPF (2019) goes on to state decisions should recognise that 
sites to meet local business and community needs in rural areas may have to be 
found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements, and in locations that are not well 
served by public transport. In these circumstances it will be important to ensure that 
development is sensitive to its surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact 
on local roads and exploits any opportunities to make a location more sustainable 
(for example by improving the scope for access on foot, by cycling or by public 
transport). The use of previously developed land, and sites that are physically well-
related to existing settlements, should be encouraged where suitable opportunities 
exist.

5.41 In summary, as this is a redevelopment of an existing employment use and will 
provide additional employment floor space, the principle of redeveloping the site for 
employment uses is acceptable in planning policy terms.

5.42 However, the proposal still needs to consider all other relevant issues, including 
contamination, Green Belt, Highways issues, ecological impact, which are addressed 
below in turn. 

Contamination 

5.43 Planning Policy at both a local (Policy CS19 (LPCS)) and national level (Paragraph 
170 NPPF (2019)) is clear that new development should seek to avoid adverse 
environmental impacts of land contamination and seek to remediate contaminated 
land.

Asbestos Regulations  

5.44 Asbestos and the potential danger to human health is specificity dealt with by the 
Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and is outside the remit of the planning system.

5.45 All the works proposed on the site affecting asbestos containing materials (ACM) are 
subject to The Control of Asbestos Regulations (2012). Depending on the nature of 
any works they may be classed as licensable under the regulations and would need 
to be carried out by a specialist asbestos contractor who is licensed by the HSE.

5.46 The applicant has confirmed that the works proposed to remediate the site which 
contain asbestos materials makes the work are licensable. As such prior to any work 
commencing on the site, which may cause deterioration or significant excavation the 
licensed contractor would need to give 14 days’ notification to the HSE before work 
commencing on site. For the avoidance of doubt this would not negate any planning 
conditions that would need to be discharged prior to work commencing on site.

Background

5.47 As outlined previously in the ‘site history and context section’ of this report the site 
was originally constructed as an asbestos factory. The factory had 30 buildings with 

Page 45



many of these in a varying age of disrepair. A number of these buildings sealed off 
due to the asbestos contamination on the site. Only around 20% of the buildings on 
site are occupied. Across the site there is also evidence of asbestos on the surface.

5.48 An initial site investigation was undertaken in 2012 and this report comprised of 8 
cable percussive boreholes, 19 trial pits and 23 window sample boreholes. The 
investigation confirmed widespread asbestos contamination within the made ground 
(The western section) and to a less extant within the reworked natural soils of the site 
(eastern section)

5.49 A further report in 2016 noted that the vegetation that had been cleared on the 
western portion of the site, which in dry conditions could allow asbestos fibres to be 
released from the dry soils. To address this issue grass seed has been used to 
supress dust on the western portion of the site.

5.50 In 2017 a further report was undertaken which included drilling and installing 12 
monitoring wells to assess contamination. This report confirmed as per the previous 
reports identifies widespread asbestos contamination across the site which poses a 
risk to human health.

5.51 In 2018 silt and soil sampling around the two water bodies on site was undertaken to 
look at what approach to use to break all pathways from the asbestos contamination 
on site to the wider environment at site. At the same time a preliminary design report 
was undertaken in 2018 which taking on board the previous studies recommends 
minimal disturbance of soils. As such the proposal which has been submitted is 
based on the recommendation of previous reports.

5.52 In order for the applicant to design a proposal that addressed both the contamination 
of the site along and an economically viable redevelopment of the site, numerous 
reports have been undertaken.

5.53 Given that the site history as both an asbestos manufacturing plant and landfill for 
asbestos waste, the ground contamination materials containing asbestos containing 
material (ACM) is widespread through the site, but most prevalent in the western 
portion of the site.

5.54 The reports have identified ACM being identified in the following areas and all have 
been assessed to have potential risk to human health if not actively managed and 
contained.

 In the buildings comprising the existing industrial estate, many of which were 
part of the original asbestos factory.

 The wider site is made up ground impacted and re-worked natural soils 
associated with the former asbestos factory.

 The canal banks and bank slip fed now contained within the canal
 Slit and soil comprising the two existing ponds.

5.55 As well as the ACM on the site the reports have identified some localised 
hydrocarbon pollution, largely associated with previous fuel storage.

5.56 The above condition of the site poses an on-going risk to human exposure. Without 
systemic management, future site users could be potentially exposed to asbestos 
fibres from all of the above sources identified.  Equally part of the national cycle 
network and a public right of way passes along much of the northern boundary of the 
site and is heavily used by members of the public.

Page 46



5.57 Prior to submitting the application the application engaged with various stakeholders 
and looked at a range of remediation options. The full details of these various options 
were submitted as part of this application in the support document ‘Remediation 
Options Appraisal and Method Statement.

5.58 The site can be divided into two areas. The western side which contains the former 
landfill site and the eastern side which contains the former asbestos factory and 
associated land.

5.59 The western portion of the site is an old landfill site that use to take waste deposits 
from the factory and also from external sources. The landfill was used up until 1999. 
The landfill does not appear to have undergone any formal landfill closure and the 
physical capping on site appears to be crude, rudimentary and not suitable for long-
term containment of the pollution contained within.

5.60 Out of these various options considered to remediate the site, the one which was 
viable and a feasible solution is a combination of cap and contain along with 
excavation and disposal. 

Cap and contain

5.61 Cap and contain would be used for dealing with the majority of the site. Importation of 
a range of inert materials to the site would be used to form a containment layer over 
the existing asbestos contamination. There would also be re-profiling of the site for 
both structural stability, appropriate drainage of surface water and for habitat 
creation.

Excavation and disposal

5.62 Excavation and disposal would be utilised for hydrocarbon hotspots, which would be 
disposed of off-site.

5.63 With the combination of cap and contain, and excavation and disposal this will 
require a large amount of soil to be imported and excavated. It is estimated that 
around 485,000/500,000 tonnes will need to be imported and around 200,000 tonnes 
of material removed from the site.

5.64 The highways section of this report addresses the impact of vehicles movements to 
and from the site.

Canal

5.65 At the northern end of the application is part of the former Thames and Medway 
Canal which has been landlocked since at least the 1930s. The surveys which have 
been undertaken have revealed that the canal is significantly silted, with silt present 
above the water line in some areas. In order to reduce this and at the same time limit 
the disturbance of the asbestos within the silt it is proposed to treat it with Siltex. 
Siltex particles are able to penetrate right into the silt layer and create the right 
environment for the micro-organisms to re-establish themselves and start to digest 
the organic matter, thus reducing the silt volume.

5.66  With regards to the former canal there is the on-going risk that if the canal dries up in 
there is a risk of asbestos paste exposure. To address this the canal will be treated 
with siltex and air sparging. Air sparging is an in situ treatment technology that uses 

Page 47



injected air to remove volatile or biodegradable contaminants from the saturated 
zone) in order to reduce the amount of silt build up and hence increase volumetric 
capacity and reduce the risk of asbestos paste exposure. 

5.67 Both the Environment Agency and Gravesham Regulatory Services raised no 
objection to this proposal, subject to defined conditions being put in place, and this 
will adequately address the short and long term contamination issues on the site.

5.68 Due to the heavily contaminated nature of the canal and soils it would not be safe to 
try and seek the landlocked part of the canal to be linked up with the remaining canal 
sections to the east or west of the site. For the avoidance of doubt the agent has 
been asked about the possibility of opening up the canal and stated the following:

On the matter of opening up the canal, as you are aware, both the northern sections 
with standing water and the Easter sections now dry, both contain high levels of the 
old asbestos pastes from the factory. As we mentioned, these are the most 
problematic of all of the site asbestos wastes as they are friable and can become 
airborne very easily. Consequently, to try and excavate and either remove off site, or 
to redistribute before covering would be prohibitively expensive and impractical from 
a site operative and public health perspective. Indeed, this is why the very essence of 
our entire contamination containment strategy is based on minimal excavation and 
movement of existing soils, prior to being covered/contained with clean material.

Design Solution

5.69 Having Taking into account all of the above it clear that cap and contain option is the  
only feasible option  combined with excavation and disposal. 

5.70 To cap the historic landfill and industrial this will require the importation of a range of 
soil and other inert materials. This will be supplemented by the recycling of all 
suitable demolition and construction wastes from the demolition of the existing 
industrial estate. This is subject to the materials not being contaminated and being 
suitable for reuse.

Western End

5.71 The western end of the site the levels are variable and the resulting cap will be 
variable in thickness levels and designed to regulate the flow of surface water and 
direct it away from internal low points of the existing landfill, and towards specified 
infiltration basins as set out in the proposed Surface Water Management Plan 
(SWMP). 

5.72 In areas of the proposed SWMP infiltration basins the initial barrier will be 0.5m thick 
layer of imported soil, stone and gravel, placed to allow infiltration of rainwater. 
Elsewhere the barrier layer will comprise 0.5m thick layer of compact soil and stone, 
which will be compacted to a minimum density in accordance with the earthworks 
methodology. It is vital that the materials used limit permeability and prevent 
bioturbation by tree roots and animals.

5.73 On top of the barrier layer will be subsoil and topsoil to provide a suitable 
environment for growing vegetation (in accordance with the landscape plan for the 
site which will be conditioned). In total the barrier layer, subsoil and topsoil will form a 
minimum thickness of 0.9m with the minimum thickness of topsoil in tree planting 

Page 48



areas of 0.6m, in shrub planting areas of 0.4m managed amenity grass of 0.1m with 
non-present in infiltration basins where the barrier layer will be present to surface.

Eastern End

5.74 At the eastern end of the site an initial barrier layer of 0.5m thick compact soil and 
stone will be placed directly onto the existing material following limited removal of 
floor slabs etc that may impact the foundations of the proposed buildings. This will be 
compacted to such an amount that it will act as low permeability layer, preventing 
downward migration of surface and rain water. This material is likely to be sourced 
from either crush arising from demolition or imported.

5.75 Above this layer will be an additional 0.5m thick upper layer of soil and stone, lightly 
compacted to allow construction over the top and installation of relevant services. It 
should be noted that in in order to create a level development platform the initial 
barrier layer may need to be slightly thicker in places.

Retaining Structures

5.76 As part of the remediation works, retaining works will be undertaken to the 
embankments, slopes and banks adjacent to the railway in the south, Canal Road in 
the east, the former Thames and Medway Canal in the north and the pound in the 
west of the site will be required. According to the supporting documents the slope up 
to the railway line will be retained by a king-post wall and the slope down to Canal 
Road will be retained by a brick wall using reclaimed bricks from the site. Finally the 
canal will be retained using gabions.

5.77 In each case the barrier layer of retaining structures forming the perimeter slopes 
around the site will incorporate a 0.5m thick layer of cobbles below a 2.5mm diameter 
steel mesh to reduce the risk of bioturbation by mammals.

Hydrocarbon contaminated soils

5.78 The applicant has identified a number of hydrocarbon hotspots within the ground and 
to address this issue the contaminated ground would be excavated in order to 
remove the main source of any hydrocarbons. Give that the source of the 
hydrocarbons are the old fuel tanks on site, and that they will be removed as part of 
the demolition/clearance of the site no continuing source would exist and any minor 
residual risk would dissipate over time. Furthermore, the applicant has confirmed that 
any excavated material would be placed in covered wagons and removed from site 
and taken to a suitable disposal facility.  

5.79 With a site of this nature and the degree of uncertainty what may be below ground 
there may be needs to address the time table. In order to ensure the LPA has control 
over the development a phasing plan will conditioned.  

5.80 In summary information which has been submitted provides sufficient reassurance 
that a long term strategy can be implemented to address the historic contamination 
on the site.

Conclusion

5.81 The above proposed steps and methodology have been reviewed by Gravesham’s 
Regulatory Services officers and the Environment Agency, and no objection is raised 
to this element of the proposal subject to conditions to ensure the form, details and 

Page 49



phasing / timetable of remediation are agreed. Subject to these conditions, there is 
no conflict in this regard with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and paragraph 170 of the NPPF 
(2019). 

Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage

Flood Risk (current site conditions)

5.82 In support of this application a flood risk assessment has been provided. The majority 
of the application site lies within Flood Zone 1, with a small section along the northern 
boundary, including the former route of the canal, as lying predominantly within flood 
zone 3.

5.83 This is shown on the map below (Source Environment Agency)

5.84 In regard to the Strategic Flood Rik Assessment (SFRA) and sequential test the NPPF 
(2019) includes a table to highlight whether particular types of development are 
appropriate in each flood zone and the proposed development would be classed as 
less vulnerable and this development would be appropriate in all flood zones except 3b.

5.85 As essentially no development is proposed within in flood zone3 neither a sequential 
test or exception test is required for this proposal.

5.86  In regard to the site there are 5 key hydrological features which are listed below:

 The canal along the northern boundary. Whilst this is an isolated section of the 
former canal and no longer in use, it is being restored by a local canal society.

 Drainage ditches to the north of the Site forming part of the Shorne Marshes. 
 A concrete lined lagoon on the east of the site that is no longer in use but may 

have been part of the former processing operations. 
 The east and west fishing lakes in which fishing is no longer permitted. 
 Surface water ponding along the southern boundary with the railway marshalling 

yards that likely are the main source of the water.

5.87 In regard to sources of flood risk this is summarised in the below table (source: 
applicant’s Flood Risk Assessment)

Page 50



5.88 The existing built development on the site (orientated towards the eastern half) 
comprised exclusively of impermeable surfaces, these being either roofs or hard 
standing. The drainage system is rather haphazard, comprising some surface and sub-
surface routes.  The shallow gradient across the site has likely led to some 
accumulations of ponding.  In response to this, a sump-pump system has been 
installed. This outfalls to land adjacent to the canal, into which the pumped water would 
flow.

5.89 The western section of the site comprising the former landfill has no formal drainage 
and there is no evidence of runoff from the landfill itself. Standing water is evident along 
the southern margin.

5.90 In summary no measures are required to protect to protect the site from tidal flooding or 
breach of flood defences. 

5.91 The Environment Agency have raised no objection to the proposal on flooding grounds.

Surface Water Drainage

5.92 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage 
and surface water drainage and surface water run-off. Kent County Council (KCC) is 
the Lead Local Flood Authority and has reviewed the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment.

5.93 As identified in the Surface Water Management Plan, the site will consist of two 
different elements - the eastern side and western side. The current groundwater quality 
data from beneath the Industrial Estate area illustrates impacts from former fuel storage 
and distribution activities most likely associated with underground tanks and distribution 
lines. This diesel-type contamination is showing some mobility and capacity to migrate 
from its origins and limiting infiltration over the affected area will assist in limiting 
potential migration and any further impacts to groundwater.  

5.94 Taking into account the ground contamination from diesel-type contamination it is 
considered that infiltration of rainfall through shallow soils within the Industrial Estate 
area should be avoided  The EA is clear on this and states ‘any pathways for 
contamination must be strictly controlled to avoid pollution of these aquifers. Planning 
conditions will be used to ensure the EA concerns are addressed. The surface water 
management design is based on KCC pre-application advice and guidance. 

5.95 The supporting documentation provides a suggested approach which is as follows:
 Create a system for attenuating runoff from impermeable surfaces for the 

proposed industrial estate

Page 51



 A hybrid system of infiltration basins along with an attenuation using the existing 
Canal to manage runoff from the proposal area of former landfill site, to greenfield 
rate of runoff.

5.96 In summary both attenuated runoff from the former landfill and industrial estates is 
proposed to ultimately discharge to the former canal located adjacent to the Shorne 
Marshes. This strategy is outlined on the following image.

5.97 North Kent Marshes Drainage board have been consulted and raise no objection, 
however stating the following:

The assessment does not include an appraisal of water quality and set out how the 
drainage scheme meets the industry best practice set out in CIRIA SuDs Manual 
C697. This needs to be submitted at a detailed design stage.

Note that the area is under the jurisdiction of the North Kent Marshes Internal Drainage 
Board for the purposes of its land drainage functions.  Watercourses in this location are 
classified as an ‘ordinary watercourses’ and under the jurisdiction of the North Kent 
Marshes Internal Drainage Board for the purposes of its land drainage functions.  Any 
works within the channel of the watercourse including for example construction of a 
culvert or flow control structure requires prior consent from the North Kent Marshes 
Internal Drainage Board under the Land Drainage Act 1991.

5.98 KCC Flood as the Lead Local Flood Authority raise no objection to the principle of the 
development but require some further technical details of the scheme. This is reflected 
by the Environment Agency who raise no objection subject to appropriate planning 
conditions.

5.99 The design of this feature have not been provided in full at this stage and therefore 
acknowledge that further work is likely required prior to construction and this will be 
dealt with through the appropriate planning condition (When discharging this condition 
KCC, EA and IDB will be consulted) covering the following issues:

Page 52



1. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Council.

2. Verification Report pertaining to the surface water drainage system.

5.100In summary, it is not considered that the proposal would not conflict with Policy CS18 
(LPCS) in regard to drainage matters.

Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking

5.101The proposed development needs to be considered against Policy CS11 (LPCS) which 
states that new development should mitigate their impact on the public highway and 
that transport assessments should be provided and implemented to ensure delivery of 
travel choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. Furthermore, it states that 
sufficient car parking in new developments will be provided in accordance with adopted 
standards which will reflect the availability of alternative means of transport 
accessibility to services and facilities. This is also reflected by Saved Policy T1 (LPFR) 
which requires proposed development to be adequately served by the highway 
network and Saved Policy P3 (LPFR) which sets out highways parking standards for 
development.

5.102At a national level the NPPF (2019) states at paragraph 103, significant development 
should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting 
the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. The NPPF (2019) 
goes on to state development should only be prevented or refused on transport 
grounds where the cumulative impact of development is severe.

5.103Prior to this application being submitted and during the course of the application, the 
applicant has had extensive discussions with both the borough and county highways 
engineers. These discussions have covered both how the development would impact 
on the surrounding highway network during construction, and once the development is 
completed. The scheme before Members has been influenced by these extensive 
discussions.

          Existing Situation

5.104Firstly it has to be noted that the existing site is located within a rural location with its 
only access being via the Canal Road which is a largely un-adopted road owned by 
Network Rail. 

5.105The application site dates back to the late 19th century and there is no planning 
restrictions controlling vehicle movements to and from the application site.  The site 
can currently operate 24 hours day 7 days a week lawfully.

5.106Canal Road also serves Hoo Junction Railway yard, Beckley Hill industrial estate, a 
number of dwellings and access to a number of fields. Canal Road forms part of NCR 
1.

5.107The Road has no footways and is boarded by vegetation and agricultural land. The 
road has speed humps along its length and is generally around 5.5m or greater in 
width, accommodating two-way traffic. There are a small number of locations where 
the road narrows to 5m, although forward visibility to these pinch points is good, 
ensuring that conflicts are manageable. The following photo shows part of Canal Road.

Page 53



5.108A railway bridge is located near the access of the site which has a height restriction of 
4.1m and restricts the type of HGV which can access the site.

5.109At the north western end of Canal Road, a gated access approximately 8m wide is 
provided. This is the only access to the site and two manual security barriers are 
provided adjacent to a security officer.

5.110Within the site a distributor road runs through the middle of the site providing access to 
various industrial units which are functioning within the estate. The parking 
arrangements throughout the site are provided informally within or adjacent to the 
curtilage of the units, with a number of unit’s double parking.

5.111The following image shows the informal parking around the site

5.112The site comprises a mix of buildings and open storage yards some of which are 
occupied. However, many of the buildings are only useable for a proportion of the 
floorspace due to their condition. Furthermore, two of the largest buildings were used 
in the manufacture of asbestos and is no longer in use due to the presence of ACM, 
this results in around only 20% of the available building floorspace of the overall site 
being in use. There are a number of large yards which generate traffic which don’t 
have a building associated with them or have only a small building disproportionate to 
the scale of the plot.

Page 54



5.113 The local Highway Network beyond Canal Road is rural in nature. The end of canal 
road connects to Lower Rochester Road at a junction to form a slightly staggered 
crossroads with the Road running east west direction and connects to the B200 at a ‘Y’ 
Junction. This road is similar to Canal Road being between 4.0 and 5.0m in width with 
no footway. The road is bordered on both sides by agricultural fields, with a hedgerow 
present on the northern side of the carriageway and intermittent along the southern 
side.

5.114The following image (Google Maps) provides context of the wider highway network.

5.115An Alternative routing between Canal Road and B2000 is via Gore Green Road and 
Lillechurch Road.  Gore Green Road leads in a north-easterly direction from the west 
end of Lower Rochester Road where it extends for around 0.9 miles before continuing 
as Lillechurch Road for a further 800 metres. The road then connects to Town Road, 
B2000 and north of the junction with Lower Rochester Road.  This road varies in width 
with a constrained width of around 3.0 m at its western end to a more generous 5.0 m 
towards the eastern end with a number of informal passing bays and reasonable 
forward visibility.

5.116The B2000 provides a junction to the westbound carriageway of the A289, a four-lane 
dual carriageway, subject to national speed limit, which extends from the M2 in the 
west to the residential area of Wainscott.
 

5.117At the end of Canal Road running south is Chequers Street which is around 135m in 
length and exceeds 5.5m in width with a footway on the west the road. After crossing 
over the railway via a bridge it joins School Lane, Chalk Road. This road has some on-
street parking associated with the dwellings of Lower Higham.

5.118Moving further north you have Chalk Road which runs northwards from the junction 
with Chequers Street while School Lane represents the southern section of this road, 
leading into Higham. Chalk Road initially runs parallel to the railway, providing direct 

Page 55



access to a number of residential properties, before heading north west through rural 
areas towards Chalk and Gravesend (becoming Lower Road). Midway along this road, 
Green Farm Lane provides a connection between Chalk Road and A226 Gravesend 
Road, although a 7.5T weight restriction is imposed along its length.

5.119North of the junction is Church Street which is a narrow lightly trafficked rural land 
which connects with Bull Lane, and beyond that it terminates at St Mary’s Church 
which is on the edge of the Marshes.

5.120Public Transport to the site is limited with Bus Services from Chequers Street serving 
Cliffe, Higham Shorne and Gravesend with bus route 417 along with 311 school bus 
service.

5.121Higham station has 14 sheltered cycle storage spaces and a car park. In addition this 
station forms part of the North Kent line and is also served by Thameslink and High 
Speed 1 domestic services. 

          Remediation/Demolition.

5.122The first phase of redeveloping the site will be the remediation of the former asbestos 
landfill at the western end of the site. This will require around 500,000 tonnes of 
material which will be required to cap the former landfill site. This will start at the 
western end of the site and move eastwards to prevent the spread of contaminated 
materials.

5.123As the remediation moves westwards the existing building will be demolished which is 
likely to create around 200,000 tonnes of materials with a large proportion having to be 
removed from the site, with the possibility of some materials being suitable for capping 
of the site (possibly around 40,000) tonnes. However, with there being a risk that none 
of the material may be reusable  due to ACM, the applicant’s transport assessment 
works on the assumption all existing materials will need to be removed from the site.

5.124As outlined in the’ Amenity of existing/future occupiers of the site; section of this report 
tenants will be relocated -temporarily or permanently- to allow the development of the 
site. This will be secured via a Phasing Plan to be contained within the s.106 
agreement.

5.125It is expected that the remediation of the site will span across three phases over three 
years which is set out in the applicants Transport Assessment and the remediation 
phasing is outlined below.

5.126For the avoidance of doubt, the redevelopment of the site will be run in conjunction 
with the remediation of the site.

Page 56



Redevelopment 

5.127Alongside the remediation of the former landfill site, construction of a new industrial 
estate will commence. It is estimated that around 230,000 tonnes of material may be 
required to construct the units. When complete, this will provide a number of units, 
some of which will be occupied by existing tenants as they relocate during the 
development on the site. 

5.128The phasing of development will be over 3 years and will start the same time as the 
remediation of the site giving an overall build programme of 3 years.

5.129The phasing of construction is set out in the applicants transport assessment which is 
as follows:

Impact on highway network

5.130It is acknowledged that remediation along with the development of the site will have an 
impact on the surrounding highway network and this can be broken down into four 
distinct impacts:

 Importation of around 500,000 tonnes of materials.
 Demolition of existing buildings and exportation of 200,000 materials.
 Construction of the new industrial units and associated infrastructure.
 Operational traffic from the new industrial estate.

5.131 In order to understand the current traffic flows along Canal Road an Automatic Traffic 
Survey (ATC) was undertaken by the applicant’s highway consultant and these 
numbers have been added to the proposed traffic generation to provide an overall 
forecast of vehicles travelling along Canal Road and onto the wider local Highway 
Network.

5.132 The supporting traffic assessment (which has been reviewed by both Gravesham and 
Kent Highways officers both of which agree with the conclusions of the report) bases 
all activities on 50 working weeks in a year (2 weeks shutdown for Christmas), 5 
working days and a 15 tonne average payload (tipper trucks can take up to 20 tonnes).

5.133To ensure that all reasonable options were considered, prior to officers accepting that 
materials had to be brought into the site via Canal Road, the applicant was asked to 
explore all alternative options. 

5.134 The only option that may have been practicable would be via Hoo junction Railway 
Yard to the south but this was deemed not to be economically viable, partly due to 
multi-handling without additional connections which themselves were prohibitively 
expensive, and would have been impractical. As such this proposal has been 
assessed on materials being imported and exported on road via Canal Road. 

Page 57



5.135 In addition to the HGV movements, workers will be required for each of the activities. 
Workers are likely to share journeys by car or van due to the nature of working in 
teams and travelling from similar origins. Average vehicle occupancy of 1.5 has 
therefore been applied to the assessment of worker travel. The table below provides a 
summary of what activities and vehicle movements are assumed to occur over the 3 
year redevelopment of the site.

5.136 For the purposes of the traffic assessment, the working day is considered to be a 10 
hour period and the applicant acknowledges this will need to be carefully timed to 
avoid conflict with school traffic and commuting traffic.

5.137To address the impact on the surrounding highway network the applicant is suggesting 
a Construction Management Plan. However, in this instance its felt that this would not 
be sufficient and a more detailed Construction Logistics Plan would be required, which 
would seek to reduce environmental impacts, road risk and congestion on the 
surrounding rural roads.

5.138To ensure a Construction Logistics Plan will be secured by a pre-commencement 
condition and any monitoring costs associated with the plan will be secured through 
the S.106 agreement.
 

5.139 The following extract taken from TFL’s ‘Construction Logistic Planning Guidance’ 
shows the stages a Construction Logistics Plan goes through. It should be noted that 
whilst the applicant refers to a Construction Management Plan in the supporting 
documentation many of the issues covered will be expanded and incorporated into the 
Construction Logistics Plan.

Page 58



5.140The Construction Logistics Plan will require standard construction practices to be 
included but for the avoidance of doubt the condition will specifically ask for the 
following:

 GPS Routing and tracking details for vehicles
 Details and locations of holding pattern for HGV Vehicles
 Timing of HGV deliveries to the site.
 Access routes to and from the site.
 Protection of existing occupiers on the site.
 Parking of vehicles of site for personnel and visitors.
 Storage of plant and materials.
 Dust management controls.
 Measures of minimising the impact of noise and, if appropriate, vibration arising 

from construction activities.
 Predicted noise and, if appropriate, vibration levels for construction using 

methodologies and at locations agreed with the Local Planning Authority.
 Scheme for location and appearance security fencing/hoardings, depicting a 

readily visible 24-hour contact number for queries or emergencies.
 Details of disposal of waste arising from the construction programme, including 

final disposal points (the burning of waste on the site at any time is specifically 
precluded). 

 Hours of operation 
 Smoke management controls; 
 Odour controls; 
 Road cleaning and wheel washing facilities; 

Highways Improvements

5.141Having concluded the only viable option is to use the existing access road (Canal 
Road) and with Canal Road being a private Road after the first 450 metres, the 
Highway Authority has no jurisdiction over this part of the road.

Canal Road (Adopted Section)

Page 59



5.142 Within the adopted section of Canal Road, KCC Highways note there is a pinch point 
just beyond the residential properties where HGVs would not be able to pass and land 
is not available for undertaking any widening. It is proposed that temporary traffic 
signals will be installed for the first 3 years of the works to manage alternate one-way 
working which is an acceptable solution to avoid queueing or more particularly, 
reversing by HGVs. There are concerns that this form of traffic control may also be 
necessary once operations start on the industrial development and this will need to be 
assessed at the end of the 3-year period for permanent signals. The Highway Authority 
is able to determine this and to implement any necessary charges as a result.  The one 
way working would be undertaken through a Section 278 agreement and enforced 
through the S.106 agreement. 

HGV Routing

5.143 KCC Highways acknowledge that Higham and Shorne are unsuitable for HGV 
movements but the sites use is lawful and needs to be remediated. The applicant has 
agreed that a HGV routing will be required during the various phases of the 
redevelopment.  Any vehicles travelling westward would be able to use Chalk Road to 
link with the A226 at Lion Roundabout since this road is sufficiently wide and with 
reasonable forward visibility.

5.144 It is proposed to introduce a one-way routing strategy for HGV vehicles travelling east 
using Lower Rochester Road westbound and Gore Green Road eastbound. Whilst it 
may be possible to implement a Traffic Regulation Order to control these one-way 
movements it will also be controlled as part of a Construction Logistics Plan together 
with a requirement for all HGVs to be fitted with GPS racking devices to ensure 
compliance and to check for any non-compliance. 

5.145Both Lower Rochester Road and Gore Green Road are relatively narrow (less than 
4.0m in parts with lengths of poor forward visibility). Any vehicles meeting an HGV 
coming in the opposite direction would have difficulty passing and could result in 
lengthy reversing manoeuvres detrimental to highway safety. In order to overcome this 
concern, it is proposed to introduce additional surfaced passing places along both 
roads with a minimum road width of 5.5m and a length of 12m – sufficient to 
accommodate an HGV. 

5.146Each passing place will need to be visible from the previous one. A survey of the roads 
has been undertaken to identify where passing places are required which appears 
achievable provided the passing places are within the existing adopted highway or on 
land available to the applicant. This needs to be further clarified by the applicant as 
sufficient information does not appear to be available and therefore would need to be 
covered by Condition and within the S.106 agreement. A suitable S278 / S38 
Agreement with the Kent would be required to adopt the new passing places.

Other Highway Improvements

5.147Further mitigation works are being proposed at the Canal Road / Chequers Street / 
Church Street / Lower Rochester Road staggered junction in the form of a new mini 
roundabout. This will improve traffic flows and visibility to accommodate traffic 
movements at the junction. It has been the subject of a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit and 
is be acceptable to the Highway Authority. The works are all within existing public 
highway and would be carried out under a Section 278 Agreement with Kent and would 
be secured as part of the S.106 agreement.

Page 60



5.148 In summary with regards to vehicle movements to and from the site it is considered 
that through the highway improvements in conjunction with construction logistics plan 
the development will not impact on highway safety and there would be no severe 
impact on the highway network. The NPPF (2019) is clear that development should 
only be prevented or refused where the above occurs. 

Post development use

5.149The long term benefits of this proposal  for this application for the area should not be 
underestimated being:

 The remediation of the site 
 Planning control over hours of hours of use of the site (which can control vehicles 

coming and going from the Nuralite site).

5.150The layout of the proposed development has been accompanied by swept paths which 
show the site can sufficiently serve good vehicles entering/exiting the site.

5.151It is considered that once the industrial estate is operational the vehicle trips generated 
are likely to remain largely unaffected by the redevelopment of the site. However, once 
the redevelopment is complete predominantly due to the larger size of units, reduced 
areas of open storage and the types of businesses that may occupy modern units 
there will be some change.

5.152This is demonstrated on the following graphs which compare the existing and 
proposed trip generations from the site.

Page 61



5.153In addition a draft travel plan has been submitted to show how once the development 
is occupied what measures will be included to help reduce traffic movements and this 
includes:

 enhanced cycle parking at Higham Station
 details of a shuttle bus between the development site and Higham Station to be 

operated for a period of at least 3 years from commencement of its operation

5.154Full details of the travel plan will be required through a pre-occupation condition.

Parking provision and site layout

5.155The layout of the proposed development has been accompanied by swept path 
analysis which show the site can sufficiently serve goods vehicles entering/exiting the 
site.

5.156Each unit has sufficient parking provision with sufficient unallocated visitor parking 
spaces provided to the north and south of the central distributor road on site.

 

Public Rights of Way

Page 62



5.157 Canal Road shares the Route with NCR1 and PROW NS317 and NS140 running 
along the former canal path. The impact on the footpaths and NCR1 during the 
construction phase will be addressed through the Construction Logistics Plan and post 
development there will be no highways impact on the various PROW or NCR1. For 
context below map extract shows the relevant PROWs.

5.158In conclusion, the parking provision for the site and the impact on the highway network 
during the schemes’ full occupation, it is unlikely to have insignificant impact on the 
highway network which has been confirmed in the applicants transport assessment and 
in the formal comments from Kent Highways and Transportation Services and 
Gravesham Highway Development Management Officer. There is no conflict with local 
or national planning policy.

Green Belt

5.159As set out in chapter 13 (Protecting Green Belt Land) of the NPPF (2019), the 
government attaches great importance to the Green Belts where the fundamental 
aim is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. The essential 
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence.

5.160Paragraph 145 of the NPPF (2019) regards the construction of new buildings in the 
Green Belt as inappropriate unless it falls within one of the following exceptions:

a) Buildings for agriculture and forestry;

b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a  
change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds 
and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and 
do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;

c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building

d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces;

Page 63



e) limited infilling in villages;

f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out the 
development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and

g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), 
which would: 

‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or 
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the 
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an 
identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority

5.161The proposed replacement buildings does not meet the exceptions of (a), (b), (c), (d), 
(e) and (f) as:

 it is not related to agricultural or forestry uses, 
 is not for the provision of appropriate facilities, 
 does not relate to extensions to existing building, 
 replacement of building the same size and use, 
 the proposal is not for limited infilling in villages or 
 not limited affordable housing.

5.162Consideration therefore needs to be given whether the development falls under (g), 
namely the ‘limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
development land’. 

5.163The NPPF (2019) defines previously developed land as:

Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 
developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage 
should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: 
land that is or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has 
been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill, where provision 
for restoration has been made through development management procedures; land in 
built-up areas such as residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; 
and land that was previously developed but where the remains of the permanent 
structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape.

5.164The site was developed in the late 19th century originally as an asbestos factory and 
further development took place on the site up until the 1960’s. From the 1960’s 
onwards the built form of the site has largely remained un-changed.

5.165This is demonstrated by the below comparison of the 1960 aerial photograph and the 
2020 aerial photographs of the site.

1960 Aerial Photograph (Google Earth Pro)

Page 64



2020 Aerial Photograph (Google Earth Pro)

5.166The lawful use of the buildings and compounds is B2 (General Industrial) which was 
formally known as British Uralite until its closure in the late 1980s. After its closure a 
number of buildings have been let out for various B2 (General Industrial) uses. 
However, a number of the buildings on site are vacant due to the dangers of 
asbestos and being in a poor state of repair. 

Existing extent of built form on site:

Page 65



Proposed extent of built form on site:

5.167Whilst the permanent buildings on site occupy a smaller area than those proposed in 
the eastern side of the site, it is clear on site that the area of land host to operational 
development and activity also includes the northern strip between the internal access 
road and the canal section.  It is therefore considered that the proposed 
redevelopment of the industrial estate on the eastern portion of the site meets the 
definition of previously developed land.

5.168The western portion of the site is a historic landfill site and may  constitute previously 
development land. The reason for the uncertainty is the inability to find a planning 
application for the landfill and determine whether the permission required site 
restoration after the use ceased. Annex 2 of the NPPF (2019) is clear that land that 
has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill  where 
provision for restoration has been made through development management 
procedures, does not constitute previously developed land equally if a requirement 
for restoration wasn’t included, this would meet the previously development land 
definition.

5.169Notwithstanding the above uncertainty, the land raising and remediation works on the 
former landfill site are deemed engineering operations and would fall under the remit 
of 146 (b) of the NPPF (2019) which states the development is not inappropriate 

Page 66



development provided the development preserves the openness and does not 
conflict with the purposes of the land being in the Green Belt. 

5.170A small section of the application site which will contain the open storage yards and 
one of the units (unit G) is on land that was not previously developed. This area of 
land would not meet the definition of paragraphs 145(g) or 146 (b) of the NPPF 
(2019) as such the development here is inappropriate development as it does not 
meet any of the exception tests.
 

5.171Having concluded the majority of this  proposal meets the definition of paragraph 
145(g) and 146 (b) of the NPPF (2019)  the this does not rule out development which 
is deemed ‘appropriate’ by the NPPF (2019) cannot still result in conflicting with one 
or more of the five purposes of  the Green Belt.. However it has to be acknowledged 
that a small portion of this development is by definition inappropriate development 
and very special circumstances will need to be considered.

Impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purposes of including land in 
the Green Belt

5.172The next stage is to consider whether the use of the site for an industrial estate 
and remediation of the site would have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt and the purposes of including land in the Green Belt, than the existing 
use and development on the site.

5.173For the purposes of this application, the existing use has been established as 
being industrial use (B2) and the adjacent landfill site being sui generis. The 
proposal seeks to have the built form of the development on the site of the former 
buildings (around surrounding area) and no built form on the former landfill is 
proposed.  The key consideration revolves around 145 (g) of paragraph 145 of 
the NPPF (2019) which requires development to not have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt than the existing development.
 

5.174There is no definition of openness in the NPPF (2019), but as highlighted in the 
accompanying planning guidance, the courts have identified a number of matters 
which may need to be taken into account in making this assessment. As such it is 
generally accepted that it openness is capable of having both spatial and visual 
aspects – in other words, the visual impact of the proposal may be relevant, as 
could its volume; the duration of the development and the degree of activity are all 
relevant to the assessments. 

5.175The NPPF (2019) advises that openness and their permanence are essential 
characteristics of Green Belts. The attributes of openness are largely related to the 
absence of built development or development that would have a visual dimension. 
Given that there are existing buildings and associated structures on site a 
comparison of the existing and proposed development is required.

5.176The existing buildings on site have a footprint of approximately 25,763m² (this 
excludes the ad-hoc hard standing around the site) and the proposed buildings have 
a footprint of 24,133m² and when you include all the hardstanding (required for the 
capping solution) you have a total footprint of 84,338m² of either hardstanding or 
buildings for the proposed development.

5.177This is demonstrated on below where the existing and proposed block plan is 
compared.

Page 67



5.178 In addition to the built form on the site, the land raising of between 1.5 to 2.5m with 
the importation of around 500,000 tonnes of material, will extensively alter the 
topography of the site. With the former landfill area being void of development and 
covered in soft landscaping this will make the engineering operations the more 
apparent.

5.179The introduction of all of the above would result in a change to the character and 
appearance of the site. The site would be cleared of all vegetation and the 
requirement to having retaining structures around the site boundary, along with hard 
paving the entire development around the commercial units (encapsulation of the 
contaminated ground). The land although raised, would broadly be raised to reflect 
the existing general topographical profile of the land, with levels rising from west to 
east, with a higher central spine to the west and a flat platform in the east. 

5.180The impact on the openness of the Green Belt would be from the intensified use of 
the site (currently a large portion of the buildings are vacant due the presence of 
ACM) associated vehicle movements, increased lighting on the site in areas void of 
development. A further impact would be the site would sit more elevated in the 
landscape through the land raising of between 1.5m to 1.8m across the site.

5.181Self-evidently, the development would also represent an encroachment of 
development into the countryside and therefore conflicts with paragraph 133 of the 
NPPF (2019) and 4.2.27 of CS02 of Gravesham Core Strategy. These policies 
support development outside settlement boundaries where it is compatible with 
national and local policies for protecting the Green Belt.

5.182The encroachment in this case into the countryside is a result of the spread of 
built form from the development into areas of the site currently void of 

Page 68



development/structures such as the northern part of the site. Or in the central 
portion, where the eastern pond is currently located. Secondly, further 
encroachment occurs with the retaining wall structures required around the site 
and gabions adjacent to the former canal.

5.183The loss of openness and encroachment into the Green Belt would be readily 
apparent from persons using NCR1, surrounding PROW, occupiers of Network 
rail yard and from train passengers using the north Kent Railway line.

Conclusion on Green Belt issues and assessment of harm.

5.184Permanent loss of openness – Openness and permanence are the essential 
characteristics of the Green Belt. Whilst it may be possible to mitigate the visual 
impact to a limited degree by screening, this cannot in itself overcome the 
adverse impact on openness which is defined by the presence or absence of built 
development.  The most significant elements of the development contributing to 
the loss of openness are the westward and northwards extension of built forms, 
though the scale of new buildings and their position above capped and raised 
land will accentuate the visibility and visual effect of all new buildings above the 
existing built form on site.

5.185Encroachment of the countryside – This is a stated national purpose of the 
Green Belt at paragraph 134 of the NPPF (2019). The application site is located 
outside the settlement boundary of Lower Higham which is inset from the Green 
Belt. Between this settlement boundary and the application site is around 1 mile. 
The increased form of built development on the site would result in the 
development having a greater prominence within the countryside. When 
combined with railway yard to the south and Beckley Hill works to the northeast 
the area would area as a more significant industrial estate than is currently the 
case.

5.186Safeguarding the countryside by minimising the expansion of the 
Borough’s rural settlements - This is a stated local purpose of the Green Belt 
as set out at paragraph 4.2.7 of the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (2014). The development site lies remote from the nearest rural 
settlement, and as such would not lead to a material harm in this regard. 

Consideration of ‘very special circumstances’

5.187Having concluded that the development is inappropriate development, as although 
the greater part of the areas of built form redevelopment lies upon the existing built 
up area, the new development, as well as that extending north and westwards would 
“have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development”, that not falling within the scope of the NPPF exception at paragraph 
145 (g).

5.188Therefore, very special circumstances needs to be considered as part of the Green 
Belt assessment. Paragraph 144 of the NPPF (2019) is clear on this matter and 
states the following:

When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure 
that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special 
circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.

Page 69



5.189The applicant has put forward the case that the contaminated nature of the site, the 
long term employment benefit, planning control benefits and landscape 
improvements will clearly outweigh the identified harm to the Green Belt.  The 
applicants very special circumstances argument is as follows: 

Contamination Remediation 
1) The entire site contains a range of asbestos contamination/pollution from its time 

as both an asbestos manufacturing facility and an asbestos landfill, that needs to 
be dealt with if it is not to continue to be a latent public health risk. Only a 
systematic and comprehensive redevelopment of the entire site can realistically 
and economically deal with this issue for the long term. On the Western side of 
the site is the old asbestos landfill, initially used for the asbestos wastes from the 
adjacent factory and after its closure other wastes. This will be capped and 
landscaped to create valuable ecological resource. On the Eastern side of the 
site, the buildings all contain a wide range of asbestos based building 
components and are poorly laid compared to any modern business park, and in 
varying states of disrepair to unfit for use. These will be safely dismantled and all 
asbestos products and wastes moved safely off site for secure disposal.  Non 
asbestos products will be recovered for re use on site wherever possible. A cap 
will be placed over the entire area prior to the construction of 11 new purpose 
built and high quality business units.

Employment Benefits
2) The site itself is one of a handful of strategic rural employment locations in the 
borough and is under-utilised in its ability to house new businesses and hence 
create new jobs. It is estimated that the demolition and construction programme 
could create up to 270 FTE over a three to four year period and when operational 
the site could create net 600/650 new full time jobs. Given the boroughs own 
predictions that an additional 2,800 economically active people will be resident in 
the borough by 2028, it is clearly important to provide matching employment 
opportunities if the area is to avoid yet more outflows of commuters with jobs 
outside the borough. 

Planning Control Benefits
3) The site is currently un-regularised in planning terms. There is therefore 
currently little opportunity to frame and control, in planning terms, the uses and 
nature/impact of uses on the surrounding area (e.g. traffic). The comprehensive 
redevelopment and modernisation of the site and its use affords this opportunity.

Landscape improvements.
4) Impacts on both Green Belt purposes and indeed wider impacts can be and 
have been mitigated through the design process. The visual and landscape 
assessments make clear that the design of both the buildings and the ecological 
area, whilst no doubt having a moderate impact in the short term, can have a 
moderate beneficial impact in terms of the key Green Belt requirement of 
'openness'. The current industrial site is unattractive and obtrusive within its 
setting and this will be improved once completed. In terms of other potential 
impacts, the proposed development has worked hard to ensure that all key 
statutory stakeholders are comfortable with the proposals ability to mitigate, 
manage and where possible actually improve the situation over the current 
baseline.

5.190When considering the above case, the contamination remediation that is required to 
deal within the on-going health risk associated with the highly contaminated nature of 

Page 70



the site (due to the presence of ACM and to a lesser extent hydrocarbons) is 
considered by officers to amount to very special circumstances. With the presence of 
ACM in both in the buildings, surface of the site and an asbestos landfill which hasn’t 
been sufficiently capped there is an on-going health hazard. This is an on-going 
health hazard to occupiers and visitors of the site. Furthermore, with part of the canal 
having being filled with ACM and heavily silted in the summer months, when the 
water levels decrease there is risk that the silk containing ACM could be wind-blown. 
This may result in the health of occupiers of NCR1 and surrounding Public Rights of 
Way being affected. The employment benefits of this proposal being intertwined with 
the remediation of the site are vital, as it allows a viable scheme to be developed for 
the site and would create attractive employment uses. In the long term some of the 
‘bad neighbour industries would be no longer present on the site and would cause. 
Without a viable scheme it is unlikely the remediation of the site would occur.

5.191 The remaining two arguments that planning control and landscape improvements 
are not considered to meet the high test of very special circumstances.  

Final balancing exercise on Green Belt Issues

5.192The application site lies within the Green Belt and constitutes inappropriate 
development due to the proposed redevelopment of the site having a greater impact 
on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development on the site, and 
also encroaching into the Green Belt beyond the existing envelope of previously 
development land within the site. However, the applicant has clearly demonstrated 
very special circumstances exist on this unique site which outweigh the identified 
harm to Green Belt from this proposed development.

Impact on the Landscape

5.193Policy CS12 (LPCS) seeks to ensure that the overall landscape character and 
valued landscapes are conserved, restored and enhanced. In addition Policy CS19 
(LPCS) seeks to ensure new development conserves and enhances the character of 
the natural environment. At a national level the NPPF (2019) in Paragraph 170 seek 
that development should contribute and enhance valued landscapes.

5.194The application site is located within Higham Arable farmlands which is characterised 
by a number of features which includes gently undulating topography, open arable 
farmland, views out to the Marshes and River Thames. The LCA Assessment seeks 
to restore and create the landscape as it is identified as being poor.

5.195The existing site is in a poor state of upkeep and is harmful to the character of the 
landscape. The site is creation of ad hoc development over 120 years combined with 
the use of a landfill site results in a blight in the landscape. 

Page 71



 

5.196It is acknowledged that during the development phase there will be a loss of all 
vegetation on site including perimeter vegetation to allow the required retaining 
structures around the site. However, an appropriate landscaping scheme including 
boundary treatments can be conditioned.

5.197The proposed development would not be as tall as some of the site (even allowing 
for the land levels to be raised to allow remediation of the site) but they would cover a 
larger area in terms of footprint. However, the replacement building are an 
improvement over the existing built form on the site and unlike the current use the 
LPA can have full control over soft/hard landscaping/ hours of use and external 
lighting. Controlling these measures will allow the schemes impact on the landscape 
to mitigated which will include external finish to the buildings and soft and hard 
landscaping scheme.

5.198Longer views across the landscape would be minimally effected by this development 
and site is well screened and generally flat. To the south of the site is Hoo junction 
will has a greater impact on the landscape than this proposal.

5.199Therefore whilst there would be some impact on the landscape the benefit of 
remediating the site and the replacement with modern building which will provide 
employment use outweighs any impact on the landscape.

5.200In summary and having taken into account the lawful use of the site, the highly 
contaminated nature of the site and wider benefit of redeveloping this site the 
proposal would comply with Policy CS12 (LPCS) and Paragraph 170 of the NPPF 
(2019) subject to appropriate planning conditions.

Heritage (Including Archaeology)

5.201The application site does not contain any listed buildings, and is not within a 
conservation area. However, the only vehicular access to this site is through Lower 
Higham Conservation area. As such the proposal needs to be considered against 
Section 72(1) of the (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990which 
requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of the conservation area and is a material consideration for 
this application. These duties are reflected Section 16 of the NPPF (2019) and in 
Policy CS20 (LPCS) and saved policy TC3 (LPFR). 

Page 72



5.202 Policy CS20 (LPCS) sets out that the Council will accord a high priority towards the 
preservation, protection and enhancement of its heritage and historic environment as 
a non-renewable resource central to the regeneration of the area and the 
reinforcement of sense of place.  Proposals and initiatives will be supported which 
preserve and, where appropriate, enhance the significance of the Borough’s heritage 
assets, their setting where it contributes to the significance of the asset and their 
interpretation and enjoyment, especially where these contribute to the distinct identity 
of the Borough.  Saved Policy TC3 (LPFR) expects development to make a positive 
contribution to Conservation Areas.

5.203 Paragraph 190 of the NPPF (2019) states that ‘Local planning authorities should 
identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be 
affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a heritage 
asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They 
should take this into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage 
asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and 
any aspect of the proposal.’

5.204 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (2019) states that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the 
greater the weight should be. The courts have determined that considerable 
importance and weight should be given to harm found to the significance of listed 
buildings.

5.205 Paragraph 194 of the NPPF (2019) requires that any harm to, or loss of, the 
significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from 
development within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification. This 
application is submitted by a substantial Heritage statement and Townscape Visual 
Impact Assessment. 

5.206 Whilst the application site is not within a Conservation Area the only vehicular access 
to the site is Canal Road. Section 3.2 of the Lower Higham Conservation area 
appraisal states ‘The village is subject to heavy lorries driving to and from the former 
Nuralite Works site along Canal Road as well as skip lorries along Lower Higham 
Road. This use has a visually detrimental effect on road verges, hedges etc in and 
adjacent to Lower Higham and may also cause some pedestrian danger’.

5.207 The appraisal goes on to state at paragraph 9.3 ‘that general traffic through the village 
and the regular use of part of the roads through the village by heavy lorries, all with 
consequent danger to pedestrians, have been identified as negative factors within the 
conservation area. Consideration should be given to an appropriate traffic 
management scheme. It should be noted that highways matters are the remit of KCC 
and subject to their funding arrangements and funding arrangements and further 
consultation with GBC and the Parish Council’.

5.208 Whilst the above concerns are taken into account as outlined in the highways section 
of the supplementary report, the existing industrial use of the application site, and the 
other developments being used by Canal Road, are lawful.

5.209 The benefit of this proposal is that the redevelopment of site will allow the LPA to 
introduce planning conditions on the hours of use and type of use on the site. 
Whereas currently unrestricted use can occur over a 24/7 period and the LPA has no 
control over this through the planning system.

Page 73



5.210 Whilst the site is only one of the commercial businesses that uses Canal Road, it 
contributes a high percentage of traffic along Canal Road and this scheme will help 
address and manage this.

5.211 With regard to redeveloping the site it is not considered the built from on the site will 
have an impact on the Lower Higham Conservation Area. The buildings proposed are 
a lower height than some of the existing buildings on site and due to the distance no 
direct views from the Conservation Area to the applicant site are impacted.

5.212 Gravesham’s Conservation Architect raises no objection to the proposal but states 
that the proposed scrub and woodland along the northern boundary will be important 
in reducing the impact of the proposals when viewed from the north and relevant 
conditions will need to be applied to ensure details are secured and on-going 
maintenance is ensured.

5.213 Secondly the Conservation Architect states the raising of land levels will also need to 
be carefully considered in terms of views across the site, particularly when viewed 
from the south along Lower Higham Road, where further tree screening may be 
necessary along the southern boundary, which appears to be cleared in the 
proposals.

5.214 All of the above suggestions will be incorporated into the relevant planning conditions 
and the Conservation Architect will be consulted on any discharge of conditions 
applications.

Non-designated Heritage Assets

5.215 Non-design heritage assets are buildings, monuments, sites, places or areas 
identified by plan-making bodies as having a degree of heritage significance meriting 
consideration in planning decisions but which do not meet the criteria for designated 
heritage assets.

5.216 At a national level paragraph 197 of the NPPF (2019) states that the effect of an 
application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken 
into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or 
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be 
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset.

5.217 The application contains a supporting Heritage Statement which has identified that the 
site contains 3 surviving  non-designated heritage assets, These are

1.British Uralite Factory;
2.Site of Uralite Halt;
3.Bridge No.7; and

5.218 The supporting heritage assessment identified a 4th non-designated heritage asset 
which is known as the ‘out farm adjacent to the former Thames and Medway Canal. 
As this has been completed demolished and no longer exists it cannot be considered 
to be an existing non-designated heritage asset.

5.219 The following aerial photograph shows the location of the non-designated heritage 
assets (No.4 is the location of the former out farm which no longer exists)

Page 74



5.220 The architect for the original development on the site was Edwin Otto Sachs, a 
renowned architect and engineer who explored and pioneered methods of fire 
prevention; he is considered to have revolutionised fire prevention methods in the 
construction industry. He appears to have specialised in theatre construction and 
equipment and was instrumental in introducing the safety curtain. He undertook the 
entire reconstruction of the stage at the Royal Opera House, Covent Garden in 1901.

5.221 As set out in the supporting heritage statement the historical value of the site is in 
relation to the development of asbestos materials across the world. Furthermore, the 
site should be seen as part of the wider history of the Hoo Peninsula in terms of the 
development of new industries within the otherwise rural somewhat bleak landscape; 
it is noteworthy though that the Historic England landscape study of the Peninsula 
makes no mention of the site in its discussion of industries.

5.222 Notwithstanding the above, it is not considered that any of the structures on site are 
worth of listing.

5.223 This proposal will result in the demolition of all existing structures on site and this 
must be considered as causing substantial harm to the NDHA. However it is 
considered that due to the highly contaminated nature of the site with both asbestos in 
the ground and buildings it would not be feasible to look to retaining some or all of the 
buildings. This is explained in more details in the contamination section of this report. 
Existing building materials on the site cannot be incorporated into the development 
due to the ACM risk. 

5.224 The supporting heritage statement summarises this well by stating the following:

The site and extant buildings are contaminated with asbestos with varying degrees of 
risk. Considering the exceptional level of asbestos contamination on the site, the 
demolition of the existing buildings becomes necessary to bring the site back into use. 
Since asbestos contamination is not restricted to the buildings but prevalent 
throughout the site (considering that the site was used as an Asbestos dump), a full 
redevelopment including landscaping works becomes necessary for the site’s 

Page 75



successful rehabilitation. It light of this, the present proposal which envisages the 
decontamination and redevelopment of the site would be seen as a public benefit.

5.225 The Conservation Architect and KCC Heritage raise no objection to the loss of the 
buildings  as the loss of the physical fabric will be sufficiently mitigated by 
documentation of individual buildings through measured surveys and photographic 
recording (where it is safe to do so)

5.226 Since the site contains a number of buildings of different architectural and historic 
interest, and not all buildings are of high significance, it is proposed that the significant 
buildings are documented using a Level 3 methodology whereas the site as a whole is 
documented using a Level 2 methodology.

5.227 The survey will be enforced through an appropriate planning condition.

5.228 KCC Heritage also state the following regarding providing public information to the 
site

As the site has known heritage interest and there would be a significant loss of 
heritage assets as a result of the proposals, it will be important in the event that the 
development proceeds, that information about the history and archaeology of the site 
is collated, reported on and made available to visitors to the site and to the wider 
public. This should include deposition of relevant reports with the Kent Historic 
Environment Record, the Archaeological Data Service and through the provision of 
information boards and displays at the site and the adjacent public rights of way, with 
links to more detailed information online.  

5.229 This has been agreed with the applicant and will be addressed through appropriate 
planning conditions.

Archaeology

5.230 The application site is located in an area of significant archaeological potential 
associated with pre-historic remains, later prehistoric, Romano-British and early 
medieval burials and occupation. The site is underlain by river terrace gravel deposits 
which have Palaeolithic archaeological and palaeo environmental potential.

5.231 Due to the highly contaminated nature of the site Archaeology was scoped out of the 
Environmental Impact Assessment process and so the application has not been 
submitted with an archaeological desk-based assessment or detailed consideration 
of impacts to below ground archaeological remains.

5.232 Development across the majority of the site would proceed with effectively a ‘no dig’ 
approach comprising capping of the site with between 1.0 and 1.4m of imported 
material.

5.233 It should be noted Preliminary Design Report – Perimeter Slopes & Structures by 
Gabriel GeoConsulting Ltd. (GGC, January 2019) does identify that remedial works  
and piling may have an impact on uncontaminated deposits with archaeological 
potentials and therefore there may need to be agreed methods for recording, where 
this would be practical and safe to do so. 

5.234 As such an appropriate condition for archaeology will be included. The caveat with 
this condition will be dependent on contamination.

Page 76



5.235 KCC Heritage have been consulted on this application and having fully appreciated 
the contaminated nature of the site raise no objection to the loss of the buildings and 
subject to archaeology works condition and a recording of the building no objection is 
raised.

5.236  In respect of Heritage and taking into account all 3rd party comments received and 
the contaminated nature of the site, subject to appropriate conditions the proposal 
meets the requirements of Policies CS19 and CS20 (LPCS). Saved PoliciyTC3 
(LPFR), Sections 15 of the NPPF (2019) and Section 72(1) of the (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Design, Character and Appearance

5.237 Having established that on balance the loss of the non-designated assets on the site 
are deemed acceptable (subject to the recommendations relating to Heritage) the 
issues of design of the proposed development needs to be carefully considered.

 
5.238 At a local level Policy CS19 (LPCS) states that the design, layout and form of new 

development will be derived from a robust analysis of local context and character and 
will make a positive contribution to the street scene, the quality of the public realm 
and the character of the area. Section 12 (Paragraphs 124 – 132) of the NPPF 
(2019) sets out that the creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental 
to what the planning and development process should achieve and add to the overall 
quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development.  
It also states that permission should be refused for development of poor design that 
fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an 
area and the way it functions, taking into account any local design standards or style 
guides in plans or supplementary planning documents.

5.239 The design of the development has been carefully considered due to the need to 
address the historic contamination on the site which will involve capping/ land raising 
across the site and being able to deliver the development in a phased approach. 

5.240 When designing the layout of the site it would not be feasible to make reference to the 
historic layout of the site as the existing site layout is a complex layout of around 30 
buildings which span over 90 years of development which are ad hoc in layout. The 
current buildings on site have a very limited appeal in regard to commercial 
occupation due to their historic nature, condition and the ad hoc layout of the site and 
the wider contamination across the site.

5.241  However, as outlined in the Heritage section of this report, at the entrance to the site 
an interpretation board providing historic context to the site will be provided along 
with level 3 recording of the site.

5.242 The architects being informed by market demand and site constraints (contamination) 
are proposing a layout to provide 11 flexible business units which will offer B2/B8 
use, and the buildings have been designed to be functional to appeal to the wide 
spectrum of the business market. At the western end of the site 5 compounds of 
open storage compounds (B2/B8 use) are proposed which vary in size. 

5.243 The layout of the site utilises the existing access (with a re-alignment) and a 
reception, canteen and security office to the south of the entrance, along with visitor 
parking. running  through the centre of the site is an access road with side entrances 
providing access to the 11 purpose built light industrial units.

Page 77



5.244 In front of each of the units an area of hardstanding and parking will be provided for 
each unit which will provide drop off/pick up points and parking for each unit. The 
details of parking arrangements for each unit and hardstanding will be appropriately 
conditioned.

5.245 The design of the buildings are typical of modern industrial units being functional in 
design to appeal to a wide area of the business community. The buildings have a 
slab to ridge height of 7.8m with an eaves height of 6.12m. 

5.246 Whilst the external finish of the 11 industrial units would be subject to a planning 
condition the proposed plans show type of finish proposed which is common with 
these type of industrial units.

5.247 At ground floor level block work is proposed, with insulated steel sheeting proposed 
above. The roof is a simple insulated steel sheeting. Each unit has pedestrian access 
with an additional full height roller shutter door to allow lorries and other larger 
vehicles to enter the units.

5.248 To ensure the units are sustainable and the use of full height glazing is provided on 
the corner units with high level windows below the eaves of each unit. 

5.249 The following images show a typical cross section and elevation to the proposed 
units.

5.250In regard to the management office in the north east corner of the site, this building is 
designed to be subservient to the larger industrial units on site, and it would not be as 
tall as of the existing buildings on site.  The footprint of this building is 300m² and the 
slab to ridge height is 5.86m. To add interest to the building full height glazing is used 
on numerous locations along with yellow facing engineering brick and roof tiles. As 
per the other built development on the site all external facing materials will be 
conditioned to ensure a satisfactory finish to the development.

5.251At the western end of the site 5 areas of hardstanding are proposed to open storage 
yards with associated access roads. To ensure the impact of these yards is minimal 
on the wider landscape there will be appropriate conditions to ensure boundary 
treatment, external lighting and the height of materials which can be stored on the 
site will be appropriately conditioned.

Page 78



5.252To the west of the site above the former landfill site no built development is proposed 
on this area of land and this will be a soft landscaped nature conservation area. At 
the northern end of the site the former canal will be desilted and various 
improvements made. Further information on how these areas will be addressed is 
covered in the contamination section of this report.

5.253The below image shows the proposed layout of the built form elements of the 
development:

5.254When considering the site the proposed built development in the wider context it is 
noted that whilst this site is located in open countryside the historic nature of the site 
combined with the brownfield site of Hoo junction directly to the south the proposed 
redevelopment will not look out of context in the wider area.

5.255 As demonstrated with the below CGI image when viewing the development from 
Canal Road into the site will be a vast improvement over the ad hoc existing form of 
development on site

Proposed CGI Image of completed development

Page 79



Existing view from Canal Road

5.256 In regard to the design of the proposed development it is considered that subject to 
conditions on materials, boundary treatment and soft and hard landscaping the 
proposed development meets the requirements of Policy CS19 (LPCS) and section 
12 of the NPPF (2019) and will make a positive contribution to the street scene, the 
quality of public realm and the character of the wider area.

Biodiversity  

5.257This will be addressed in the Supplementary Report 

Sustainability 

5.258Policies CS01 (LPCS) requires the Council to take a positive approach that 
reflects the presumption in favour of Sustainable development contained with the 
Core Strategy and the NPPF (2019). Policy CS02 (LPCS) requires development 
to prioritise the redevelopment and recycling of underused, derelict and previously 
developed land in the urban area. This application site meets all of these 
definitions.  Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out that new development should aim to 
reduce the overall carbon footprint of on development.  Policy CS19 (LPCS) 
requires (where relevant) that new development will provide carbon reduction and 
provision for low carbon and renewable imagery, minimising energy consumption 
and water use.

5.259At a national level, the NPPF (2019) states in paragraph 8 that achieving 
sustainable development means improving biodiversity, using natural resources 
prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate 

Page 80



change, including moving to a low carbon economy. Paragraph 103 of the NPPF 
(2019) states the planning system should actively manage patterns of growth in 
support of these objectives. Significant development should be focussed on 
locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to 
travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This can help to reduce 
congestion and emissions, and improve air quality and public health. However, 
opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban 
and rural areas, and this should be taken into account in both plan-making and 
decision-making.

5.260Gravesham Borough Council recognises the importance of sustainability and on 
25 June 2019 at its full Council meeting declared a climate emergency and this 
includes the target to make the borough Carbon Neutral by 2030. 

5.261It must be noted that this is an existing industrial estate and as such whilst Kent 
Highways view it as a unsustainable location its use is historic and lawful.  

5.262The supporting transport assessment proposes the following sustainability 
measures:
 Provide enhanced parking provision at Higham Station (subject to South Eastern 

approval
 Mini-bus shuttle service
 Improved walking routes around the site
 Cycle parking provision within the scheme 

5.263 The above measures would need to be supported by a travel plan

5.264The report acknowledges that bus services are available in lower Higham but the 
distance/infrequent poorly timed service will be little benefit to future occupiers. 

5.265Cycling is seen as a more attractive options as NCR1 passes the site and cycle 
storage provision will be provided on site.

5.266The application is supported by a Planning Statement and Energy Statement and 
it is proposed to incorporate a low carbon strategy for this development which will 
result in  a 10% reduction in C02 emissions over 2013 Building Regulations Part L

5.267Energy modelling for this proposed development estimates C02 emissions of 
2,797.8 tonnes (TC022) and in order to make 10% C02 reduction  there needs to 
be a least a saving of 279.78 tonnes (TC022). 

5.268To achieve the required C02 reduction, the applicant is proposing Solar PV with 
an array of 11,475.5m² in total on the roofs.

5.269To ensure the CO2 reduction occurs on site this will be secured by appropriate an 
appropriate planning condition

5.270It is clear from the supporting information with this application that sustainable 
construction and energy conservation has influenced the design of the scheme, 
form of the proposed apartments and the layout of the overall scheme. 

5.271The ecology and landscape information submitted as part of the application 
highlights the measures for mitigating potential impacts and the measures to 

Page 81



provide net gains in biodiversity.  Full details of the landscaping scheme would be 
conditioned.

5.272 The applicant has also confirmed there will be basic infrastructure installed as 
well as sufficient spare capacity to accommodate electric car & bicycle charging 
points if required at some point in the future. A future-proofing strategy for the 
other parking areas can be secured by planning condition to ensure that in the 
future, unnecessary disruption to what is constructed now is avoided in terms of 
increasing charging points. 

 Broadband provision 

5.273Section 10 of the NPPF (2019) acknowledges that reliable high quality 
communications is essential for economic growth including full fibre connections 
and new development shall look to provide full fibre connections.

5.274The applicant has confirmed that the primary utilities review for the site has given 
a range of options. The current broadband system is copper based and they are 
looking to identify whether high speed fibre broadband is an option and the 
applicant will liaise with the BT reintegration team.

5.275In order to try and facilitate this a planning condition will be included requiring a 
details of how fibre to the premises will be provided to the serve the development 
and be available at first occupation.

5.276In summary the proposed development (taking into account the existing site use 
and location) is considered to be sustainable form of development that is 
designed to minimise the impact on climate. As such there is no conflict with 
Policies CS01, CS02, CS18 and CS19 (LPCS) and section 2 of the NPPF (2019).

Amenity of Existing/future occupiers of the site

Existing Conditions

5.277Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires that all development should be ‘fit for purpose’ and be 
‘adaptable to allow changes to meet the need of users’. In considering this proposal, 
the amenity of existing occupiers need to be considered both during the construction 
phase and once the development is completed. 

5.278 The site was formerly a landfill site for asbestos and the wider site is heavily impacted 
with asbestos. It should be noted that large portion of the buildings on site cannot be 
occupied due to asbestos contamination and there are loose asbestos fibres present at 
the surface around the site.

5.279Whilst the use of the site is lawful the current risk to existing occupiers is the presence 
of ACM throughout the site is a health risk to existing users. Secondly a pollutant 
linkage has been identified with respects to Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPH) in 
ground water.

5.280In the short term the applicant has a number of measures to protect current occupiers  
on the site have been undertaken  such as regeneration  a grass sward cover on the 
former landfill  to bind soils and minimize wind-whip effects and the cessation of 
angling from ponds on site have been implemented to provide a short term remediation 
measure.

Page 82



5.281 The application site presents an immediate risk to human health because of the 
potential mobility of exposed asbestos fibres and asbestos containing material in made 
ground waste from the uncapped surface. The risks of fibre generation on site have 
increased significantly since the vegetation clearance. Short term remedial steps, 
comprising the application of grass seed to the site, have been taken to decrease the 
potential of site surface soils disturbance through wind-whip generating windblown 
dusts.

5.282The contaminated land section of this report outlines the strategy for remediation of the 
site and this will impact on existing occupiers in two ways; firstly during the 
construction phase and secondly for future occupiers of the site.

Construction Phase 

5.283 The proposed development is to be phased over 3 years period and will be 
undertaken in a phased approach. The applicant has confirmed that existing occupiers 
of the site will either be temporarily or permanently relocated to facilitate 
redevelopment of the site. To ensure existing occupiers are protected details of the 
phasing plan including reallocation of occupiers will form part of the phasing plan within 
the S.106 agreement.

5.284 In order to ensure the disruption  to existing occupiers is minimised a condition will be 
required to provide a phasing plan for the development along with a construction 
management plan which will include the following:

 details on how existing occupiers will be protected during the construction of the 
estate.

 Good working practice in line with current legislation when safely handling and 
disposing of any potential asbestos containing material along with the provision 
of an appropriate Asbestos Management Plan. 

 Good working practice in line with current legislation when safely handling and 
disposing of any potential asbestos containing material along with the provision 
of an appropriate Asbestos Management Plan. 

Future Occupiers

5.285 In regard to future occupiers of the site following the implementation of the 
aforementioned long term remedial measures, involving the placement of an 
engineered capping system to the site to fully encapsulate and isolate the asbestos 
containing material, the site would not be considered to pose a potential risk of 
significant harm to human health

5.286In summary it is considered that, subject to the appropriate planning conditions, the 
amenity for occupiers during the phased redevelopment of the site and future 
occupiers will be acceptable and there will be no conflict with Policy CS19 (LPCS).

Neighbouring Amenity 

5.287Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to safeguard the amenity, including 
privacy, daylight and sunlight, noise and quality of its occupants and those of 
neighbouring properties and land and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019) requires 
development to have a high standard of amenity for existing users (In this case 
surrounding properties).

5.288A key issue in considering this application is the extent to which the new development, 
principally the new buildings themselves, but also the associated impacts such as 

Page 83



vehicle movements (during construction and after construction) will impact upon the 
living conditions of surrounding residents. 

5.289What makes this site unique is that there is only one dwelling in the vicinity of the site 
which is to the north of the site known as ‘Bridge House’. All other residential properties 
which may be impacted by this proposal are located on the eastern end of Canal Road 
and the surrounding roads which provide access to Canal Road.

5.290 It should be noted that Canal Road has been serving both Nuralite Industrial Estate 
and Hoo Junction railway yard since the 19th century, and anyone purchasing or renting 
a property on the surrounding highway network would need to take into account there 
is longstanding and extensive industrial uses served by Canal Road.

Built Form/Use

5.291The proposed development will have no greater impact than the existing use of the site 
on the existing dwelling to the north due to the distance from the site. Appropriate 
noise/lighting boundary treatment conditions will be used to ensure the amenity of this 
property and the wider area is protected. Furthermore, the redevelopment of the site 
will introduce planning conditions to control hours of use, external lighting, noise etc. 
The current site and use has no planning restrictions.

5.292 The site is highly visible from NCR1 and the other PROW running to the north of the 
site and the site is visually unattractive. The improvements proposed will create a 
visually enhanced area including an improved canal (trees removed and silk removed) 
and soft landscaping improvements and restoration of the former asbestos landfill site 
at the western end of the site. 

Construction Phase

5.293As outlined in the ‘Highway impacts and vehicle parking’ section of this report there will 
be 3 years of disruption with the various vehicle movements during the remediation and 
construction phase. This will no doubt impact on the amenity of those properties 
fronting onto Canal Road/ Chequers Street and other surrounding roads. This is 
demonstrated below on an extract from google maps which shows how properties front 
Canal Road.

5.294 The disruption to the surrounding properties will be  primarily from the HGV 
movements to and from the site and other associated deliveries to the site. 

Page 84



5.295This concern is reflected by 3rd party representations received. In order to address this 
as set out previously in the ‘Highway impacts and vehicle parking’ of this report  a 
construction logistics plan will be a pre-commencement condition and this will ensure 
disruption to surrounding properties is reduced as much as possible. 

5.296KCC Highways have requested HGVs need to follow pre-agreed routes and HGVS will 
need to be fixed with GPS tracking to ensure the routes are followed. Furthermore, the 
applicant will be required to provide details of where HGVs will be held prior to bringing 
materials on site. This will ensure HGVS do not end up parking in inappropriate places 
prior to bringing material onto site.

Operational Phase

5.297As outlined previously in this report the site is currently lawful and there are no planning 
restrictions on the site. What this means is that the following can occur:  

 The site can operate 24 hours a day 7 days a week.
 No control over the type vehicle movements to and from the site.
 No control over the routing of HGV’s to and from the site.
 The uses on the site are not restricted (B use class)

5.298With this proposal it is acknowledged in the ‘Highway impacts and vehicle parking’ 
there will be a slight increase in vehicle movements on Canal Road. However, this has 
to be offset against the following gains for neighbouring amenity:

 Hours of use of the site will be conditioned. 
 Site management plan can be conditioned.
 Routing agreement for HGVs
 Uses of each building/yard/ can be adequately controlled.
 The site will be remediated and the danger from ACM will be removed.

5.299Once operational the vehicle movements to and from the site are not likely to have 
an impact on the amenity of surrounding properties (including those along Canal 
Road and the wider surrounding roads). 

Air Quality

5.300Air quality constitutes a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications (as set out in paragraph 005 of the planning practice guidance) and this 
is reflected in Policy CS19 (LPCS) which requires new development to avoid 
adverse environmental impacts, which include air quality. This is reflected within the 
NPPF (2019) at paragraph 81, which states decisions should sustain and contribute 
towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, 
taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air 
Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas.

5.301The application site is not located within an Air Quality Management Area and the 
proposal includes a detailed Air Quality Assessment which has been reviewed by 
Gravesham Regulatory Services who accept the findings of the report.

5.302For the purposes of this report air quality will be addressed in two sections; 
construction phase and operational phase.

Construction Phase 

Page 85



5.303During the construction phase, redevelopment of the site is likely to generate dust 
and the applicant’s report concludes the following:

During the construction phase, impacts of the proposed redevelopment may 
potentially arise due to fugitive dust emissions. The risk of dust impacts was 
assessed according to a widely used method published by the Institute of Air 
Quality Management. Mitigation measures have been recommended to reduce the 
dust risk for general site activities and construction-specific activities, as well as 
emissions from plant associated with construction related activities; with the 
implementation of the appropriate measures, no significant impacts are 
anticipated.

5.304 Gravesham Regulatory Services agree with the above and to address dust impact 
this will be addressed in detail within the pre-commencement Construction Logistics 
Plan condition.

5.305 With regard to ACM, whilst this is a concern from 3rd parties and the Parish Council, 
this will be separately addressed by the HSE. A relevant informative will be included 
on the decision notice to remind the applicant of their duty of care relating to ACM.

5.306Concern has been raised about the impact on air quality during and after occupation 
and the applicant’s air quality report concludes the following which Gravesham 
Regulatory Services agree with.

The predicted NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 concentrations, at all existing human receptors 
and for all modelled scenarios, would not exceed the relevant air quality 
objectives. As a result of the development during both the construction and 
operational phases, a ‘negligible’ air quality impact predicted with respect to 
annual mean NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 at all existing sensitive receptors. Therefore, 
the overall air quality impact of the development may be considered ‘not 
significant’.

5.307Appendix E of the air quality report suggests mitigation measures which will be 
incorporated into the Construction Logistics Plan. Examples of the suggestions are 
as follows:

 Ensure all vehicles switch off engines when stationary - no idling vehicles. 
 Avoid the use of diesel or petrol powered generators and use mains electricity or 

battery powered equipment where practicable.
 Impose and signpost a maximum-speed-limit of 15mph on surfaced and 10mph on 

unsurfaced haul roads and work areas.
 Produce a construction logistics plan to manage the sustainable delivery of goods 

and materials. 

5.308The measures set out in Appendix E of the air quality report (where relevant) will be 
included in the Construction Logistics Plan condition. 

Operational Phase

5.309Once operational, the vehicle movements to and from the site are not likely to have 
an impact on the air quality of surrounding properties, including those along Canal 
Road and the wider highway network.

Page 86



5.310 However, it is recommended that measures are included to help minimise vehicular 
trips and encourage more sustainable modes of travel, thus reducing any potential 
impact on air quality. For the purposes of this application the measures will be 
included within a travel plan.

         Air Quality Contributions 

5.311Appendix F of the air quality  reports includes a damage cost calculation being the 
following:

NO2 £21,044.
PM10 £58,125

5.312The applicant will need to propose mitigation measures to a total value of the 
damage costs (£79,169). The mitigation measures will be secured through the 
S.106 agreement which will be addressed in the supplementary report.

5.313In conclusion, the effective implementation of proposed mitigation measures, it is 
considered that air quality should not present a constraint to the granting of planning 
permission for the proposed development

Noise

5.314The site itself is isolated in nature (with only one dwelling to the north) and the noise 
impact from the actual site use is likely to have minimal impact on surrounding 
properties. However, the application is accompanied by Noise and Vibration 
Assessment which has been reviewed by Gravesham Regulatory Services. This 
report covers construction noise, construction traffic noise, and post completion, the 
report covers operational traffic noise and fixed plant noise.

        Construction phase 

5.315The report notes that there will be noise from construction, including 
earthworks/foundation, demolition and remediation works. These works are expected to 
be within the threshold levels for all the considered receptors in close proximity, whilst 
all other receptors are predicted to sit comfortably below. 

5.316 The above potential noise impacts will only be in the short term and the Construction 
Logistics Plan would seek to condition hours of works on site which would be Monday – 
Friday (08:00 – 18:00) and Saturday (08:00 – 13:00). Furthermore a Construction Noise 
and Vibration Management Plan (CNVMP) condition will also be included to specifically 
address these issues.

5.317Construction traffic noise impacts are predicted to range from minor, on Chequers 
Street, to major, on Canal Road, with moderate impacts arising on Lower Rochester 
Road and Gore Green Road when assessed in accordance with the Design Manual for 
Roads and Bridges (DMRB) methodology. It is important to note that these are during 
the daytime only, due to the times when construction works would be permitted to 
occur. 

5.318Vibration arising from construction traffic is not predicted to increase considerably 
above that already experienced from heavy vehicles accessing the site.

5.319Further details, especially in relation to piling, will need to be forthcoming in the CNVMP 
condition. This condition will need to have regard to the advice set out in the noise 

Page 87



report that rotary bored piling offers a better noise and vibration performance in relation 
to driven or pressed-in techniques.

        Operational Noise

5.320Following the completion of the development a moderate increase in noise is 
predicated on Canal Road, whilst only minor impacts elsewhere. However, it is worth 
noting that unlike the current situation the hours of use for the site will be conditioned 
and traffic movements will not be able to operate 24/7.

5.321 Section 7.2 of the report shows that the operational noise level will be moderate on 
Canal Road (4.2DB increase) and minor on all other surrounding roads. Regulatory 
Services raise concern with the noise increase in Canal Road. To address this issue a 
suitable pre-occupation condition will be included for the applicant to demonstrate what 
measures can be undertaken to reduce any noise impact on Canal Road. Measures 
would include hours of operation for the site etc.

5.322Section 9 of the report addresses plant noise and as set out in the report, any plant 
should therefore be appropriately assessed prior to installation in order to meet the 
criteria contained in BS4142: 2014 and the requirements of Gravesham Borough 
Council The Council would expect rating noise from fixed plant in this location to not 
exceed -10dB below the background noise.  Given the distance to the nearest NSP and 
ability for plant to be located, enclosed this will be achievable.

5.323Noise impacts are summarised as follows:

 There would be likely adverse noise effects as a result of the proposed development 
associated with daytime construction traffic and operational traffic in the short term, 
but none is predicted to be significant.

 Construction noise and vibration can be suitably controlled through an appropriate 
CNVMP condition and adherence to the Best Practicable Means (BPM).

 On site noise from operation and fixed plant are not considered to be of particular 
concern given the current use of the site and scope for the detailed designs to factor 
this in.

5.324In summary, it is considered that taking into account the existing lawful use of the site, 
the remediation benefits of this proposal and the proposed mitigation measures there 
will be no long term harm to the amenity of surrounding properties.

5.325Secondly there will be no long term impact on the users of NCR1 or the surrounding 
PROW.

5.326 As such the proposal complies with Policy CS19 (LPCS) subject to the inclusion of 
suitable planning conditions. 

Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

5.327Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to incorporate facilities for the storage 
and recycling of wasted generated.

5.328With the development being 100% commercial, the businesses on the site will have a 
legal duty to choose a licensed waste carrier to collect waste from the site.

Page 88



5.329 As the site can only be accessed via Canal Road vehicle movements including refuse 
collection needs to be carefully managed along with ensuring sufficient refuse storage 
is provided on site. A refuse management strategy for the entire development would be 
conditioned to d cover the following aspects:
 Servicing of waste bins;
 Number of composition of bins;
 Provision of bins
 Strategy for waste management of the commercial elements of the scheme 

(Business units, Café and retail unit).

5.330Subject to the securing of an appropriate condition for a waste management strategy, 
the proposed development complies in this regard with Policy CS19 (LPCS).

Fire Safety

5.331Since the Grenfell Fire, the way in which buildings are designed has been changed. 
The agent has been asked to clarify how thie Grenfell Fire has influenced this design 
and they have stated the following:

the detailed building design and fire safety requirements will be aligned with both 
existing legislation and legislative amendments (e.g. Current Government's Draft 
Building Safety Bill), but in reality, will be driven largely by the lessons emerging from 
the Hackitt Review in this post Grenfell environment. The focus will therefore be more 
on awareness of materiality, procurement and construction techniques. 
Non combustible/flammable building materials will be specified and procured for all 
buildings and sprinkler systems installed where appropriate and required

5.332It is considered that there is sufficient legislation in place to minimise the danger for 
future occupiers of the development in the event of a fire.

Suggested Conditions 

5.333This is addressed in the supplementary report.

Planning Obligations
 
5.334This is addressed in the supplementary report.

6. Planning Balance and Conclusion 

6.1 The application is located in an isolated location within the Green Belt which been in 
existence since the late 19th century and has developed in a piecemeal fashion. The 
use of the site for employment uses is lawful through the passage of time and there 
are no planning restrictions associated with the site and the only vehicular access is 
along Canal Road.

6.2 For the reasons set out in 5.34 to 5.41 of this report, the redevelopment of the site 
for continued employment use is acceptable in planning policy terms. 

6.3 Whilst the report finely concludes the development is inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt, because of the uncertainty over part of the site’s previously 
developed land status, very special circumstances have been demonstrated which 

Page 89



outweigh the harm to the Green Belt. The very special circumstances in this 
instance are considered to be:
 Contamination Remediation.
 Employment benefits.

6.4 In terms of the assessment of the impact of the development the key 
considerations, beyond the form and principle of the development have been the 
following:
 Contamination
 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
 Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking
 Green Belt
 Impact on the Landscape
 Heritage (Including Archaeology)
 Design, Character and appearance
 Sustainability 
 Biodiversity  
 Amenity of Existing/future occupiers of the site
 Neighbouring Amenity
 Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements
 Fire Safety

6.5 These matters have been carefully considered from the offset during pre-
applications discussions into the formal determination of this application. 
Stakeholder and consultee comments have informed those discussions and where 
additional technical information has been required by officers or consultees, this has 
been requested and subsequently supplied by the applicant. 

6.6 There are no overriding adverse consultee comments to the development which is 
considered to be overall policy compliant with local and national planning policy.

6.7 3rd party comments received during the course of the planning application, raising 
material planning considerations have been taken into account. The applicant has 
been informed of 3rd party comments received during the course of the application 
and where applicable has addressed these concerns.

6.8 With regard to site contamination this is addressed in detail in sections 5.43 to 5.81 
of the report and the EA and Gravesham Regulatory Services raise no objection to 
the remediation strategy for the site

6.9 As outlined in 5.44 as and the potential danger to human health is specificity dealt with 
by the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and is outside the remit of the planning 
system. 3rd party representations raised concern on asbestos and an informative will be 
included on the decision notice reminding the applicant of the needs to comply with 
HSE requirements. 

6.10 As will be outlined in the supplementary report, the planning conditions and the heads 
of terms for the legal agreement will ensure that all the requirements from internal and 
external consultees are addressed.

6.11 It is recognised that this development is to be phased over a 3 year period and this 
will need to be carefully managed to minimise the impact on the surround. A 
phasing plan will be included in the legal agreement and Construction Management 

Page 90



and Logistical Plan conditioned to ensure the impact on surrounding properties is 
minimised.

6.12 Natural England raise no objection to the proposal subject to an appropriate 
assessment being undertaken, and shared with natural England, to ensure that 
appropriate mitigation is secured via suitable planning conditions and s106 
agreement. The planning conditions and heads of terms are included in the 
supplementary report.

6.13 The proposed development will provide modern employment uses and replace 
substandard employment buildings and provide fit for purposes modern units which 
comply with the requirements of Policy CS07 (LPCS).

6.14 On balance, the recommendation is for planning permission subject to the planning 
conditions and heads of terms for the legal agreement which will be set out in the 
supplementary report. 

Recommendation
 
It is recommended that the application is DELEGATED to the Service Manager 
(Development Management), in consultation with the Chair, for the issue of planning 
PERMISSION subject to planning conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement. 

Natural England is to be consulted on the Council’s Appropriate Assessment and 
consideration of the response received including potential need for additional requirements, 
is also DELEGATED to the Service Manager (Development Management) in consultation 
with the Chair

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Shorne Parish Council
 Borough of Gravesham 

Clerk & Responsible Officer
Mrs S Poole
Shorne Village Hall
The Street
Shorne
Nr Gravesend
Kent DA12 3EA

E-mail: clerk@shorneparishcouncil.org  

7th July 2019.

GR/2019/0290

Nuralite Industrial Estate Canal Road Higham Rochester Kent ME3 7JA

The proposal is for the systematic redevelopment of the existing Nuralite site. This includes the 
importation of inert materials to cap, and landscape the historic asbestos landfill, thus containing 
its contamination risk. To demolish the existing buildings of the Nuralite industrial estate, deal 
with existing contamination, both through capping and removal of areas of hydrocarbon pollution, 
the laying of new service and utility infrastructure and the construction of 11 new purpose built 
light industrial type units and a site office.

The Nuralite Industrial Estate lies mainly within the Parish of Shorne, the Parish Boundary with 
Higham (to the east) running north-south through the easternmost part of the site.  Hence while the 
entrance and approach roads are in Higham, the bulk of the site is located in Shorne Parish.

The Parish Council previously submitted comments on the Scoping Opinion under reference 
20180802.  The majority of the comments made then are still pertinent.  This submission updates 
these with regard to the numerous documents supporting this latest application.

PRINCIPAL OBJECTIONS:

There are two main aspects to this planning application, to which we OBJECT:

 Replacement Industrial Estate layout – We OBJECT to the expansion of the Industrial Estate 
beyond its original built footprint and particularly beyond the historic boundary of the 
Nuralite site.  Additional replacement units and hardstanding etc should not be allowed 
outside of the original built area (the previously developed land), as defined by the original 
route of Footpath NS156 around the western and northern limits of the original Nuralite 
buildings plus not extending east of the disused reservoir.  

 Capping the whole site (Contamination remediation) - The western part of the site was in 
the past polluted in some areas but then remained undisturbed for several decades.  The 
principal problem today is that the land was then disturbed by the applicant and 
contamination was spread into new areas.   It is our belief that the majority of the western 
parts were in a safe condition prior to this.  We OBJECT to the proposal to cap the western 
part of the site and to the depth stated as we do not believe this to be necessary merely for 

Page 93

mailto:clerk@shorneparishcouncil.org


2

restoration of the damaged wildlife habitat.  Scrub is already naturally regenerating, 
particularly on the margins of the site, and can continue to do so.  We suggest that 
independent expert advice is needed but otherwise would accept the opinions of GBC/KCC 
concerning the suitability of the proposals for remediation of the canal, the types and depth 
and configuration of the capping materials, the new land profiles, and the required design of 
perimeter and slope structures.  However, we would prefer the canal to be re-excavated and 
remediated in all areas as a Community Asset.   We would also like to see a more natural 
appearance at the perimeter rather than a high and steeply edged, flat-topped platform 
particularly at the western and south-western boundaries.  All the perimeter walling should 
be plantable so that it is camouflaged.  We suggest that the remediated area, stated to be 
proposed as a Nature Conservation Area, should be more clearly defined and protected by 
being permanently fenced off from the Industrial Centre and any public picnic area (if 
permitted).  Conditions should be imposed safeguarding against all future development.  
There also needs to be a separate and conditioned management plan.

Other issues arise from the proposals and are detailed below, but we are particularly concerned 
about:

 Development in the Green Belt:  With a proposed near 50% increase in floorspace the 
development becomes inappropriate and with a greater impact on Green Belt openness.  No 
special reasons have been provided to support expanding the built area, and the proposals 
as a whole are not sustainable development.  

 Further disturbance of the contaminated land:  It would be preferable for there not to be 
any further disturbance of the land.  Disturbance that has already occurred has resulted in 
contaminated soils being distributed more widely over the site and this should be rectified 
and brought back to the previous longstanding state.

 Traffic impacts:  There will be significant traffic impact on the Lower Higham Conservation 
Area with traffic increase and consequent noise, fumes and vibration pollution being 
imposed on the residents of the Chequers area of Lower Higham and other nearby roads.

 Impact on local amenity and environmentally protected land:  Likelihood of noise, light and 
environmental pollution arising from increased site size and activity impacting on the 
amenity of the adjacent footpath and cycle track, and the North Kent Marshes, plus the 
impact on the wider landscape.  It should be noted that Canal Road passes through the 
Ramsar Site (see map extract below).  The proposed picnic area is also within the Ramsar 
site.  The appropriateness and actual usefulness in the location shown is uncertain and there 
are obvious disadvantages.  Meanwhile the plans do not otherwise show or define any 
recreational or open-air amenity space for the users of the industrial estate.

 Landscape Impact:  At present the Landscaping/Habitat Creation plans read well but these 
need replacing with detailed and definite plans which actually get implemented.  Rather 
than building right up to the southern boundary, a margin should be left at the top of the 
new perimeter bank to allow for dense and tall permanent plantings of trees and bushes to 
screen the new buildings from close and distant views.  

Page 94



3

GENERAL POINTS:

Land Registry information:  The land which is the subject of this application was acquired by the 
present owners in May 2013.  It consists of two separate parcels of land:

 K426860 is the Nuralite Industrial Centre and the adjacent Canal bed:

 K645198 is the land of the western part of the application site.  The deed contains restrictive 
covenants concerning use of the land and its effect on neighbouring properties.

The point is that buildings were historically limited to the south-eastern area as previously bounded 
by the public footpath NS156 prior to its diversion.  No buildings etc have ever existed on the 
western part of the application site, which is a separate physical area. 

Location and suitability of the site, and non-sustainable development:  While the site is already in 
existence, a factory having been first built there in the early 1900’s, if this were a new application it 
would be strongly opposed as the location would nowadays be considered highly inappropriate.  
Originally, the bulk of staff, materials and products were transported by rail.  The proposed change 
of use of the site will nowadays impact adversely on local residents and threaten the adjacent North 
Kent Marshes and Ramsar Site.  Having such an industrial estate in a remote rural area is not a 
sustainable form of development.  There is no housing close nearby and no public transport, 
therefore the development will encourage increased vehicle use for access by workers and visitors.

Page 95



4

Extract from map on GBC website showing the boundaries of the Ramsar Site, see 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/195837/Ramsar-Site-and-Special-Protection-
Area-Map.pdf 

Alterations to the site since May 2013:  Significant adverse alterations to the site have already been 
made without there being planning permissions in place.  These are principally that: 

 In 2016 all existing trees and vegetation habitat was cleared from the bulk of the site, along 
with the removal of the previous perimeter fencing.  This activity disturbed Asbestos 
containing ground at risk to the workers and anyone in the vicinity at the time, including in 
part of the Ramsar Site.  The site was levelled with materials being banked to the edge of the 
canal, which may have increased its contamination.

 Large areas of hardstanding have been laid out in locations beyond the footprint of the pre-
existing Nuralite site. 

 High, metal palisade fencing has been erected on the perimeter by the canal where it has 
visual impact.  

 There is open storage of containers stacked up to three high.  Previously, a large scaffolding 
structure was erected, which was taken down after Planning Enforcement intervention.

Application description and building heights:  The description refers to 11 purpose built units but 
these actually comprise 55 two-storey units (all of 7.8m net height) of varying sizes now proposed in 
11 separate buildings, plus 5 more hardstanding/open storage areas (height restriction is needed on 
these) and the offices/canteen building (net height appears to be 6.5m).  Due to the ground level 
being raised prior to building, the gross height of all the industrial units for landscape impact 
assessment is approximately 2m higher, i.e. 9.8m.

Plans:  We have the following additional comments on the presently submitted plans:

 Master Plan deficiency:  The deposited proposed site plan does not show the western 
boundary of the site (although included in other documents).  

 Encouraging sustainable travel:  Reference is made in the transport/Travel plans to the units 
having showers so as to encourage cycle use but the units do not show any internal fitting 
out that would ensure this and such a facility is also not included in the more communal 
office/canteen building.

Page 96

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/195837/Ramsar-Site-and-Special-Protection-Area-Map.pdf
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/195837/Ramsar-Site-and-Special-Protection-Area-Map.pdf


5

 Package Plant and water supply locations:  The proposed location for the Package Pant 
(Sewage collection) and the borehole well and water treatment plant are not shown on the 
plans.

 Refuse arrangements:  Location of refuse bins and bin stores, including for the 
canteen/offices building are not shown.

 Cycle Route and Footpaths, site entrance:  The proposed arrangements for the cycle route 
and footpaths, and generally at the entrance to the site are presently vague and more detail 
is required.  An oblong structure is shown by what appears to be a gate, and the land to the 
east of this (north of the offices building and new entrance road) is not described.   No 
barrier/gate is shown at the entrance.

 Fencing:  Details are needed of the location and composition of all proposed perimeter fence 
treatments plus those for the individual units and the hardstanding/open storage areas.  

 Paths within the site:  These are not shown clearly as the plans presently lack detail.  The 
clear line just south of the canal requires clarification as do the edges of the remaining pond.

 EIA:  The full EIA has not been made available on-line, only an over-brief non-technical 
summary. 

 Perimeter vegetation and trees:  The siting of buildings close against the southern boundary 
does not allow for any screening trees and vegetation to be planted there and this should be 
rectified.  The screening to Canal Road should all be retained undisturbed.

 Materials/colours to be used:  Brick would be preferable to blocks, and metal cladding 
should be coloured to camouflage the buildings in the landscape, i.e. usually to be some 
variant of Khaki Green.  There is discussion about possibility of “green roofs” but also of 
photovoltaic panels – “green roofs” would be welcome but conditions would need to be 
imposed concerning their maintenance and permanence.

Parish meeting:  The Transport Statement refers to the meeting held in Higham Parish however no 
meeting was offered to Shorne Parish and there has still not been any contact to the Parish Council 
from the owners/developers.  Higham residents were strongly opposed to the proposed increases in 
traffic.  It is stated that Higham and Lower Higham residents were supportive of the covering of the 
landfill however that physical area lies in Shorne Parish.

Operational Policy:  The deposited documents do not include an operational policy detailing matters 
such as:   operating hours (said in text to be 06.00 to 20.00) and their enforcement;  any restrictions 
on tenants/usage of the business units to reduce pollution risks;  usage of the canteen and office 
building;  security and other lighting during operating hours and at night;  prevention of dust and 
rubbish etc contaminating the local environment;  cleaning and maintenance of the common parts 
of the site, etc. 

TRANSPORT AND ACCESS ISSUES:

Future traffic levels:  Our principal concern is with the operational phase.  The traffic assessment 
and prediction data is flawed in a number of ways and therefore lacks credibility.  This is mainly due 
to it being adjusted using national figures relating to total site floorspace however the way that 
space is divided up (i.e. the number of individual units) is more relevant as each of the 55 units is 
likely to have several employees plus visiting vehicles.  It is more likely that existing staff numbers 
and predominant personal vehicle use (which negate the travel plan) will be multiplied up (from 

Page 97



6

4000sqm in use to over 24000sqm – this cross-references with previously submitted data that 
employment numbers might increase from 100 to 670-700), which would result in higher traffic 
figures.  Traffic increases will also vary depending on the exact uses of the various units, the extent 
of distribution uses and especially if any of them attract visiting public, so could be even higher and 
on-site parking provision may prove inadequate. 

Unsuitability of access routes and road safety concerns:  

 The proposed road “enhancements” are noted however we are overall concerned about 
possible creation of an urbanised appearance in a rural environment.  

 In the Lower Higham Conservation Area the proposed roundabout will lead to prevention of 
on-street parking immediately outside the houses of many residents, and would likely be 
displaced into Canal Road so creating a different hazard.  

 The green area which would be taken at the north-east corner of the junction presently 
accommodates community facilities and services (postbox, salt bin, disposal bin, road signs, 
electricity/telegraph pole) which would all need to be reprovided.  

 The documents refer to different routing of incoming and outgoing traffic during the 
remediation and construction phases, this needs to be continued and enforced during the 
operational phases.  

 The proposal is that vehicles will be directed to use the B2000 and travel via Lower 
Rochester Road for inbound movements and Gore Green Road for outbound movements.  
However, the junction of Gore Green Road to Lower Rochester Road is “blind” and the 
increased inbound traffic on Lower Rochester Road will increase hazards at this junction.  

 As before, we note the restricted height of the nearby railway bridge, which will result in 
operational restrictions during all phases.  Over-height lorries reaching that point would not 
be able to turn in Canal Road. 

 In addition to the comments made by the KCC PROW Officer, which we support, we also 
point out that connecting between Footpaths NS156 and NS140 relies on using a length of 
Canal Road passing under the railway bridge.  Road configuration to ensure safety of walkers 
and cyclists should also be created on this section.  Traffic calming structures (as elsewhere 
on Canal Road) should be installed on Canal Road between NS156 and the site entrance.

Public parking outside the entrance:  As mentioned previously, for very many years, public have 
parked on unused ground by the entrance to the site in order to take walks.  It is likely that they will 
instead park on Canal Road if no provision is made for public parking.

POLLUTION AND OTHER ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES:

Air pollution:  For vehicle originating pollution, this is informed by traffic data (see above) which we 
believe to have been underestimated.  Even with the low figures presented there is a prediction of 
adverse effect at the Lower Higham end of Canal Road.  We are also concerned about potential air 
pollution impacting on Canal Road itself where there is Ramsar Site on both sides of the road, and 
also pollution to the North Kent Marshes from business activities on the new Estate.  The nature of 
work undertaken by the tenants will have to be closely controlled.

Light Pollution:  The proposed site is likely to have higher lighting levels than at present, for safety of 
access and security, this is a concern in a rural and protected area where there is high landscape 

Page 98



7

visibility.  The light fittings should be shielded to avoid lights being visible outside of the site and they 
should be off or dimmed during hours of darkness/at night unless triggered for security purposes.

Litter etc:  Experience elsewhere of industrial estates accessed via rural roads is that considerable 
littering occurs along the access route.  In this case, the verges of Canal Road are part of the Ramsar 
Site.  The operational policy should include measures to reduce and rectify litter contamination 
within the site and along all approach routes.

Noise pollution:  In open, flat landscapes noise travels a considerable distance.  There will be 
additional concerns due to noise from vehicles accessing and moving (especially reversing) within 
the site, security alarms etc.  Modern industrial units do not contain noise well, and doors etc are 
likely to be open during warmer conditions.  This will affect the ambience and tranquillity of the 
adjacent footpaths and cycle route, and also affect wildlife within the Ramsar site and elsewhere 
locally.

Direct damage to protected land:  The proposal will increase recreational use of, and potential 
damage to, the Ramsar site by staff and visitors - the document notes that on-site workers, said to 
number up to 700, are likely to remain in the area across lunchtime.

Visual intrusion and urban appearance:  We do not accept the statements about lack of visual 
impact made in the EIA summary and the landscape and visual impact assessment.  The proposal 
creates a much more visually intrusive site with two-storey modern buildings (on a raised platform, 
so equivalent to three-storey in new height) close to the footpath and cycle route, and the Ramsar 
site.  It reduces the visual amenity of important recreational routes including footpath NS156.  It 
creates an urban appearance where presently rural.  There will be visual impact over a wide area 
due to long distance views from much higher ground to the south, which are not sufficiently 
considered.  There should be a requirement for existing mature and tall trees to be retained plus for 
additional tall permanent plantings all around the perimeter of the buildings area to screen the 
buildings from long-distance view.   

Loss of habitat:  The proposal seeks to permanently fill in part of the Canal course at the eastern 
edge of the site however the reasons or need for this are unclear.  It is noted that the proposal also 
involves loss of the easternmost pond and its surrounding dense, mature habitat, which is already a 
designated local wildlife site.

OTHER GENERAL/PLANNING ASPECTS:

Utilities/Services:   The lack of standard Utility/Services provision to the site is of great concern.  
However, proper provision of new utilities will be disruptive to local residents and damaging to the 
rural environment.

 Electricity:  Supply to Bridge House must be maintained and assured as part of this project.
 Mains/Potable water supply:  It was not made clear in the Scoping application that the site 

does not have a mains/potable water supply.  This would be an essential service provision 
for any redevelopment of the site.  There is an assumption in the proposals that borehole 
water can be used instead in sufficient volume but water analysis results suggest that this 
water would need to be treated before use.  Possible abstraction of large amounts of 
borehole water so close to the Ramsar site and marshes is a cause for concern.  Conversely, 

Page 99



8

the report also refers to likelihood presently of significant pipe leaks, and stopping these 
might also adversely influence groundwater levels locally.  

 Foul drainage/Sewerage:  The site does not presently have any main sewer connection.  The 
plans include a large “package plant” (the modern equivalent of a cesspit/septic tank) for 
sewerage but this will not accommodate large inflow volumes, catering outflows or other 
sources that include untreated grease or oils or other chemicals that result in biological 
inhibition – these provisos would restrict business usage of the site or otherwise adversely 
affect the functioning of the plant.  The location of the plant is not shown on the plans.  

 Rainfall Drainage:  A large increase in hardstanding area (“considerable hardstanding area 
extension”) and also of the total built area with roofs is proposed.  While the quantity of 
rainfall onto the site will be unchanged, the amount of contaminated water run-off will 
increase particularly depending on the exact activities of the business unit users, e.g. 
washing vehicles on-site.  We are concerned that the proposed filtration sumps might not 
have adequate capacity, which could lead to large volumes of contaminated water entering 
the Canal and then potentially the drainage ditch on the North Kent Marshes/Ramsar site.  

Usage of the Canteen facility:  The canteen facility is shown located at the entrance of the site, with 
29 associated car parking places, which seems a large number.  The proposed usage of this building 
requires clarification.   We asked previously about whether it is intended that the canteen facility will 
to be open to visitors to the site, both to the industrial estate itself and from passing walkers and 
cyclists.  If that is the intention, then the various responsible authorities and interested parties need 
to consider whether this is a desirable development as it might attract even more traffic and visitors 
to the area.

Picnic area:  The area shown is part of the Ramsar Site.  The usefulness and appropriateness of a 
picnic area for the general public in this location requires further discussion.  It will routinely tend to 
draw workers from the Apex Industrial Estate to cross the railway line.  There needs to be more 
detail of what facilities will be installed (benches, waste bins etc) and how it will be maintained and 
kept clean (assumed to be by the new estate).  Meanwhile, with up to 700 workers on the new site, 
there is no designated outside recreation/relaxation space shown, e.g. in association with the 
Canteen/Offices building.

Historical assets:  The area is known to have had Roman occupation.  Celtic, Roman and Saxon 
remains/items were found very close by.  A watching brief for historical assets should be undertaken 
during all works on the site.  An official assessment is also required as to whether any architectural 
and historical features of the site merit retention and preservation, e.g. possibly the domed building 
at the south-east of the site, that houses one of the borehole pumps.

Planning and Highways Committee,
Shorne Parish Council

Page 100



 

 

NURALITE INDUSTRIAL ESTATE - 20190290 

 

20190290: The proposal is for the systematic redevelopment of the existing Nuralite site. This 

includes the importation of inert materials to cap, and landscape the historic asbestos landfill, thus 

containing its contamination risk. To demolish the existing buildings of the Nuralite industrial estate, 

deal with existing contamination, both through capping and removal of areas of hydrocarbon 

pollution, the laying of new service and utility infrastructure and the construction of 11 new purpose 

built light industrial type units and a site office. 

 

We refer to the above application, which although only a small part of which lies within our parish, 

will have a serious and significant adverse effect on the residents of Lower Higham and the Lower 

Higham Conservation Area.  We object to this application and ask you to refuse it. 

Application site 

The application site has been used for industrial purposes for over a century and additionally, as was 

common with asbestos manufacture, has been the subject of asbestos tipping/disposal of faulty 

products. The current owners have negligently disturbed the capped tipping areas exposing some of 

the [blue] asbestos so that the environmental reports and remediation plans are incomplete as the 

experts employed deemed the area unsafe to inspect. 

The Ordnance Survey plan shows that the site was developed as a close knit series of buildings with 

access around the perimeter, as was typical of factories at the time.  Some buildings appear to have 

been demolished at periods over the last 50 years and the areas used for yardage and open storage 

significantly extended.  

 

Transport 

We acknowledge the transport studies undertaken.   

For most of their existence the Nuralite Works were provide with transport via canal and/or the 

railway and the site had its own passenger halt as well as sidings.  In addition, there never used to be 

a road access from the Hoo Junction railway sidings onto Canal Road. 

Canal Road is a residential road for the whole length of the public highway.  However, for most of its 

length it is a private road (being the old canal towpath) through a rural environment before it meets 

industrial areas, including the Nuralite site. 

The western end of the public highway part of Canal Road is the narrowest part of the road and is of 

insufficient width to allow two HGVs to pass. In addition, due to the route of the old canal, the road 

does a Z bend so that one end of this narrow route is not visible from the other.  As the only vehicular 

access route which is already very busy any increase in use will cause further congestion and disruption 

to residents.  Within the documents, it is claimed that only 20% of the buildings at the Nuralite works 

are currently in use, which means that the potential increase in traffic is beyond any reasonable 

Page 101



expectation of the roads in Lower Higham to cope.  The amount of traffic already regularly results in 

traffic jams caused by the inability of traffic to enter or leave Canal Road. In addition to which the fact 

within 100 metres at the junction of Gore Green Road and Lower Rochester Road both roads are only 

about 3 metres wide means that there is a second bottleneck close to the first.  To bring the whole of 

the Nuralite site back into use when the current use of most of it seems to have been abandoned will 

result in an unacceptable intensification of traffic on the highways. This is shown by the projections in 

the Traffic Assessment documents as having an unacceptable noise effect on the dwellings in Canal 

Road and those by the junction at the eastern end of Canal Road.  The number of vehicles is projected 

to rise from the current observed levels of 40-50 an hour for most of the day to about 140 an hour 

with a peak of about 170 an hour roughly 3.5 times the current level of use, once construction works 

are completed.   

During the construction phase, the number of vehicles is much higher due to the projected average of 

“686 daily two way trips”, 420 of them being HGVs (January 2020 Construction Traffic Management 

Plan(CTMP)).  This is totally unacceptable and no mitigation measures in Canal Road can justify this 

increase.  All materials coming into or leaving the site should be by rail.  In addition, the CTMP makes 

it clear that these will be spread during the day from 6am to 8pm.  This is too long.  For residents to 

be able to sleep and enjoy their leisure time, traffic should be limited to 07:00 to 18:00. 

The proposed traffic light control of the narrowest part of the public highway part of this road will 

cause further disturbance to residents.  At present due to insufficient off street parking some residents 

and their visitors have no alternative to park on the road.  This effectively narrows the road to a single 

lane.   There is no indication that any consideration has been given to the adverse effect on residents 

and how to mitigate this.   

Since the traffic studies were undertaken, Medway Council have granted planning consent for the 

construction of major housing developments at Cliffe Woods totalling over 300 dwellings.  The traffic 

studies for these show a significant increase in traffic converging on Lower Higham, mainly using 

Lillechurch Road, Gore Green Road.  There needs to be a serious review of the cumulative effects of 

all the piecemeal developments affecting Chalk Road/Chequers Street and Lower Rochester Road 

including other developments in Shorne, as well as the projected increase in traffic on Gore Green 

Road.  

Residents in Lower Higham, particularly in Chequers Street, Church Street, Canal Road and Lower 

Rochester Road are already greatly inconvenienced by the industrial uses along Canal Road.  The 

increase in traffic and the proposed construction of a roundabout will both adversely affect their living 

environment.  In addition, the roundabout is likely to increase the time traffic is stationary increasing 

air pollution at this junction, as well as noise as all traffic slows/stops and the accelerates away again.  

In addition, the roundabout design removes an established tree and does not seem to allow for HGVs 

and agricultural vehicles coming from Church Street into Canal Road.  The road narrowing in this area 

will again reduce the area which residents who have no off street parking have available to park 

vehicles.  The proposals make no attempt to address this significant adverse effect on parishioners.  In 

addition, despite the current “ghost island markings, the full width of the road is currently used so 

narrowing the road on the south east side is likely to hinder movement.  This junction regularly floods 

and as part of any works, the drainage needs to be improved. 

Higham village already suffers from a significant number of light (and some heavy) goods vehicles 

using School Lane and Forge Lane or Villa Road instead of Lower Rochester Road Chequers Street,   

Page 102



which brings congestion into the village and outside the school, where parents parking at school times 

reduce the width to a single lane. 

The studies appear to ignore the affect that any increase in traffic will have on National Cycle routes 

1 and 179.  Route 1, which runs from the north of Scotland to Dover and is strategically important, run 

from Gravesend along the canal towpath as far as the Nuralite Works, then along Canal Road and from 

Lower Higham along the Lower Rochester Road and then via Two Gates Hill to Town Road which it 

crosses at Mockbeggar and continues along Bunters Hill Road.  This crossing of Town Road is difficult 

enough in a car and even more difficult on a bicycle or on foot.  Route 179 runs from Lower Higham 

along Gore Green Road and then Buckland Road.  All these roads, as well as Lillechurch Road are 

typically 4-5 metres in width but sometimes as narrow as 3 metres.  At various points larger vehicles 

have eroded the verges/banks so that they can pass.  Any increase in traffic on these roads will be to 

the detriment of cyclists and existing users.   

The junction of the Lower Rochester Road and the B2000 (Town Road/Lower Rochester Road) is 

difficult to use in the rush hour, especially when turning right towards Wainscott and Strood.  The 

increasing traffic on this road, when couple with the projected increase from this development means 

that there should be improvements to this junction.  A 2016 study for Medway Council suggested that 

in the AM peak hour, over 70 vehicles, including heavy vehicles turn right onto the B2000 from Higham 

at this junction. The amount of traffic using the Lower Rochester Road from Higham had, pre Covid 19 

increased significantly since 2016.     

Residents of dwellings already comment on the vibration they experience inside their homes from 

passing heavy traffic (most buildings are over 100 years old).  An increase of 420 HGVs a day will make 

this intolerable. 

The Lower Rochester Road is a dedicated lorry route to a number of industrial areas within Higham 

and Shorne, as well as Network Rail’s infrastructure maintenance facilities and sidings at Hoo Junction 

on the Shorne/Higham boundary. Roads through Lower Higham are narrow and also congested.  They 

are not capable of taking addition traffic without significant widening and junction improvements.  

Roads in Lower Higham, including Canal Road, Lower Rochester Road, Gore Green Road and 

Lillechurch Road are also used by numerous horse riders and pedestrians and there is already conflict 

between them and cyclists on the one hand, and motorised traffic, including articulated lorries on the 

other.   

Increasing traffic flows on Lillechurch Road, Gore Green Road and Lower Rochester Road will have an 

adverse effect on the residents of these roads and business situated on them.  Currently there is traffic 

congestion on Gore Green Road, which at its southern end is only one vehicle wide and for a lot of its 

length until east of Gore Green, is not off sufficient width to allow two cars to readily pass each other.  

Despite the fact that the ATC shows buses rarely using this road, it is a bus route for services buses, as 

stated elsewhere in the documents prepared by RSK , and also for school buses.  This error must bring 

into question the accuracy of the data and thus reports prepared by RSK. It will not be able to cope 

with the suggested increase in traffic during the remediation and construction phase, with or without 

trespassing on to private land to provide passing places. 

The travel plan proposals recognise the remoteness of the site but do not address the resultant 

difficulties if most employees and visitors are not to come by private transport.     

Canal Road is too narrow to cope with the existing and any increase in traffic volumes.  If it is decided 

to grant consent: 

Page 103



1) The applicant should be required to widen the public highway part of Canal Road from the 

western end of the residential buildings to the start of the private road.  The private road 

should be wide enough for two articulated lorries for a minimum of 100m from the boundary 

with the public highway. 

2) In order to safety accommodate vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, Canal Road should have 

a separate pavement and cycleway. 

The travel plan is predicated on a shuttle bus to Higham station.  Unless the bus service to Lower 

Higham is to be significantly improved on a permanent basis (ie not just 3 or 5 years), any consent 

should require the shuttle bus should be extended to the Falstaff PH so that there is a link with the 

main buses from Gravesend to the Medway Towns.  The shuttle bus must be a long term requirement 

(eg 15 or 25 years as a minimum). 

The study should consider traffic movements at the junctions of Town Road with the Lower 

Rochester Road and Lillechurch Road, and suggest significant upgrades and improvements to these 

junctions.  Given the dramatic increase in traffic volumes on these rural roads, additional works are 

needed to take account of the requirements of users of the National Cycle Route, pedestrians and 

horse riders using the roads in Lower Higham.  All improvements should be implemented as a 

condition of any consent. 

The applicant should be required to widen Lower Rochester Road, especially from Sandhill Lane to 

Chequers Street (including reducing the height of the field at the junction) so that it has room for 

two way traffic and cyclists and pedestrians; and vehicles can go from Lower Rochester Road into 

Chequers Street safely.  

The proposed roundabout will not solve the problem at this junction due to the volume of traffic.  

Any on-street car parking removed (either physically or by additional restrictions) must be provided 

elsewhere within a 2 minute walk of the properties concerned. 

The proposed reorganisation of the Canal Road, Chequers Street, Church Street, Lower Rochester 

Road junction with a roundabout is inappropriate in this Conservation Area. 

A weight limit should be imposed for School Lane, Forge Lane and Villa Road of 3.5 tonnes except 

for buses, council refuse vehicles and vehicles delivering to premises within the restricted area.  

Construction and remediation materials should be delivered to the site by rail. 

The increase in traffic after the construction phase is predicted to be over 3 times current levels.  This 

is an unacceptable increase in the volume of traffic and, on its own, is sufficient reason to refuse the 

permission sought. 

 

Proposed Development  

The application and its supporting documents state that it is an increase on the existing covered area 

and states that only about 20% of the current space is currently in use.  The remainder of the area 

therefore appears to be abandoned.  Any replacement or rebuilding should be limited to replacing the 

currently used floor space. 

The existing car park at the entrance to the site used by walkers and others should not be removed as 

part of the development 

Page 104



The development also refers to the need to properly contain the tipped asbestos so that it is not a 

health hazard.  The applicant damaged the current containment of most of the tipped area by its own 

negligence and Gravesham Borough Council and the Environment Agency should exercise their duty 

to force remediation of this damage before any planning consent is granted.  Any consent should then 

address further remediation not only of the site but also that part of Canal Road owned by the 

applicant, which appears to be supported on tipped asbestos.   

The footprint of any new buildings and yardage/ open storage areas should remain within the existing 

developed area and should not encroach on the areas previously used for tipping asbestos, ponds, 

etc.  Although the application states that it is for 11 Units, plus an office block, this is misleading as 

each ‘Unit’ is a building designed to be subdivided and multilet for industrial or warehouse use so 

there will be many business units. For example, 18/171/04 appears to show that “Unit C” actually 

forms 12 separate premises. 

Based on the Government’s website, we appreciate that the applicant has Permitted Development 

rights but these are limited to 

 Any building within 10 metres of the curtilage must be no more than 5 metres 
high 

 Development must be within the curtilage of an existing industrial building or 
warehouse 

 Gross floor space must not exceed: 
o 110% of the original building or 500 square metres (whichever is 

lesser) on designated land 
o 125% of the original building or 1,000 square metres (whichever is the 

lesser) on a site of special scientific interest 
o 150% of the original building or 1,000 square metres (whichever is the 

lesser) in all other cases 
 No development to come within 5m of the curtilage boundary 
 No development within the curtilage of a listed building 
 On designated land any new, extended or altered buildings to use materials 

similar in external appearance to those used for existing industrial building or 
warehouse 

 Developments that would reduce space available for parking or turning 
vehicles are not permitted development 

 Any new, extended or altered industrial building must relate to the current use 
of the original building, the provision of staff facilities or for research and 
development of products or processes 

 Any new, extended or altered warehouse must relate to the current use of the 
original building or the provision of staff facilities 

 No new, extended or altered building to provide staff facilities: 
o Between 7pm and 6.30am, for employees other than those present at 

the premises of the undertaking for the purposes of their employment 
o At all, if a notifiable quantity of hazardous substance is present 

The application therefore does not comply with these rights and is a completely fresh application 

because 

 The proposals increase the total floor area by more than 1,000 sq. metres 

 The proposals use different materials for external cladding 

Page 105



 The location and heights of some of the development on the site infringe the above limits 

 The replacement buildings would be put to a different use. 

 The existing use of most of the buildings has been abandoned and so any use would be a new 

use 

 Curtilage in planning terms is different to legal ownership and we submit that the tips, ponds 

and other undeveloped areas do not form part of the curtilage 

 The above permitted rights do not appear to include the proposed separate office building 

The proposals do not comply with any permitted development rights and should be rejected 

 Any redevelopment should be limited to replacing the buildings which are currently in beneficial use 

for this non-conforming use in the Green Belt and next to ecologically important areas. 

Gravesham should use its separate powers to enforce the remediation and safe containment of the 

asbestos and other ground and air pollutants on the land owned by the applicant and should not 

rely on an unacceptable planning consent to facilitate this.  

The existing car parking area used by walkers and others visiting the SPA should not be removed (it 

is shown as being planted with trees despite being an area of asbestos tipping) but remain in its 

current use. 

 

Landscape, environment, Ecology 

The site is within Green Belt and next to ecological sites of national and international importance - 

SSSI, Ramsar, and the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA), there should be no 

interference with the supporting areas for these wildlife areas, not only the direct feeding areas but 

the areas which provide habitats and food for insects, small mammals, etc., which provide the food 

for certain species, which the special designations are designed to protect.  Increasing lighting, 

building heights, building spread and reducing undeveloped/unused areas, etc will all be to the 

detriment of the existing wildlife.  The effect on wildlife should be considered before any mitigating 

measures are taken into account. 

The removal of a tree in the Lower Higham Conservation Area in order to form the roundabout is also 

unnecessary. 

In order to protect wildlife, both during and after construction, the use of the site should be limited 

to 07:00 – 18:00 Monday to Friday.  All use should be prohibited on Sunday.   

Security lighting should be designed so as not to escape from the developed area and all other lighting 

exstinguished outside working hours. 

Light noise and air pollution together with reducing the ‘green areas’ with the application site are 

all detrimental.  The development as planned will be to the adversely affect the adjoining Ramsar, 

SPA and SSSI and will not do anything to enhance the Green Belt in this location.     

The proposals will lead to unacceptable increase in night time light pollution to the detriment of 

wildlife and the designated Ramsar, SPA and SSSI. 

Controls need to be introduced to restrict the hours of use to mitigate the effect of the substantial 

increase in the use of the site. 

 

Page 106



In summary we believe that this is an opportunistic application design to generate profits for the 

current site owners in order to pay for their own disturbance of the asbestos tip and appears not to 

consider other areas of concern (eg the asbestos under the road or that which was tipping into the 

canal).  We do not believe that the applicant should be allowed to increase the current level of 

activities on the site and that the traffic generated will be to the great disadvantage of those living in 

Higham.  We do not believe that it is possible to design a traffic scheme which is acceptable to allow 

for the construction and subsequent use of the site as proposed. 

For the above reasons, we request that you refuse consent for this inappropriate application. 

 

HIGHAM PARISH COUNCIL 

 

 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

FURTHER COMMENT FROM HIGHAM PARISH COUNCIL REGARDING  

APPLICATION NUMBER 20190290 – NURALITE SITE. 

 

20190290: The proposal is for the systematic redevelopment of the existing Nuralite 

site. This includes the importation of inert materials to cap, and landscape the 

historic asbestos landfill, thus containing its contamination risk. To demolish the 

existing buildings of the Nuralite industrial estate, deal with existing contamination, 

both through capping and removal of areas of hydrocarbon pollution, the laying of 

new service and utility infrastructure and the construction of 11 new purpose built 

light industrial type units and a site office.  

 

Response to further Highways and Transport information made available on 

GBC website 

We refer to the above application and our previous response.  Since then, we have become aware of 

further correspondence between Highways England and RSK, the Applicant’s transport/highways 

consultants.  We are disappointed that none of our highways issues seem to have been addressed, 

indeed it appears that more traffic will be directed past the school and through the centre of the 

village than set out in their document dated 20 January 2020 (although only made available on 29 

September 2020).  Further, not all of the responses from RSK have been made publicly available and 

we would ask that you send us a copy of  document 661792-TN06-Rev00, which is referred to in both 

Highways England’s email response dated 19 November 2020 and RSK’s further response dated 24 

November 2020 (published 25 November). 

The flow diagram attached to the last document suggests that an additional 701 vehicles a day will 

use Chequers Street with 147 of these driving through the village to reach the A226 and thence the 

A289 and the M2/A2.  In addition, an unspecified proportion, which based on current observed traffic 

movements, we would estimate to be over 50%, will also drive through the village to go to Strood, 

Rochester and Chatham.  

Neither the traffic assessments nor the environmental assessments consider the effect of the increase 

in traffic with the resultant increase in pollution on the air quality in the village nor in the vicinity of 

the school.  RSK also prepared the Environmental Statement which does not seem to take into account 

the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 

2017, nor the subsequent decision of the Court of Appeal in Gladman v Secretary of State for 

Communities and Local Government, Swale Borough Council and CPRE Kent. 

Residents at the junction  of Canal Road and Chequers Street already suffer from pollution and noise 

and the proposals and revised information do nothing to address this, instead they assert that “It 

should be acknowledged that the application and accompanying transport documents have been 

Page 109



scrutinised and discussed at length with both Kent County Council (KCC) and Gravesham Borough 

Council (GBC), with agreement reached on all transport aspects.”, which, if true, we find both 

surprising and disappointing. 

Nothing provided by the Applicant and its advisers has addressed our fundamental issues concerning 

the proposed redevelopment, enlargement and intensification of this site and the consequent 

unacceptable increase in traffic on narrow rural roads or the roads through the village (which are of 

such a width that buses and other larger vehicles slow down to pass each other). 

There has been no attempt to assess the detriment to health of those living in the village and the 

effect on the school. 

We would also comment that on review of the plans for the modification of junction of Cheques Street 

with Lower Rochester Road, Church Street and Canal Road, the bus stop appears to have been 

removed from its location outside Telegraph Cottages and  while the Transport Assessment states 

there are bus stops in Chequers Street, this is no longer the case for southbound vehicles as this bus 

stop has been declared unsafe and closed by KCC (and apparently will not be the case for northbound 

buses either, as the applicant is removing it). 

In summary we do not believe that the revised information has addressed any of the concerns of this 

council; that the intensification of the use of the site and useable building area is unjustified and 

unwarranted and that the traffic generated will be to the great disadvantage of those living in Higham. 

We request that you refuse consent for this inappropriate application. 

 

HIGHAM PARISH COUNCIL 

 

03.12.20 

 

 

Page 110



Gravesham Borough Council
Civic Centre
Windmill Street
Gravesend
Kent
DA12 1AU

Highways and Transportation
Ashford Highway Depot
4 Javelin Way
Ashford
TN24 8AD

Tel: 03000 418181
Date: 1 December 2020

Application - GB/20190290
Location - Nuralite Industrial Estate, Canal Road, Higham, Rochester Kent
Proposal - The proposal is for the systematic redevelopment of the existing Nuralite

site. This includes the importation of inert materials to cap, and landscape
the historic asbestos landfill, thus containing its contamination risk. To
demolish the existing buildings of the Nuralite industrial estate, deal with
existing contamination, both through capping and removal of areas of
hydrocarbon pollution, the laying of new service and utility infrastructure
and the construction of 11 new purpose built light industrial type units and a
site office.

Thank you for your consultation in relation to the above planning application. I have the
following comments to make with respect to highway matters :-

The highway aspects of this application have been the subject of extensive discussions and
correspondence at both pre-application and post-application stages. This has resulted in a
comprehensive Transport Assessment being submitted in support of the application generated
by RSK Transport Consultants dated January 2020 and subsequently modified as a result of
those discussions. It is now considered to be a robust assessment and covers all the highway
impacts of the development. It must be remembered that this is an existing industrial site so
that whilst it is in an unsustainable location, transport wise, this needs to be taken into account
in the assessment.

Traffic Generation

The proposal consists of several elements, each of which has an impact on the local highway
network. Firstly, there is the need for approximately 500,000 tonnes of imported material to
provide a capping layer to cover the old asbestos works. Secondly, the demolition of the
existing industrial buildings on the site which will generate approximately 200,000 tonnes of
material that will need to be exported from the site although it may be possible that some of this
material could be used as a capping layer but for the purposes of the TA is assumed to be
unsuitable. Thirdly there is the traffic generated by the construction of the new industrial
buildings and finally the operational traffic from the new industrial estate. Since these four
elements cover different time periods they have been combined where necessary to assess the

Page 111



peak traffic generation for each of the first 3 years and for the separate operational generation
subsequently and into the future.

An estimate of the traffic generated for the remediation, demolition and construction phases
has been based on first principles according to the number of loads anticipated and number of
operatives required – mainly HGVs plus cars used by operatives. The expected generation from
the completed industrial buildings has been assessed on TRICS data for similar-sized
developments in rural areas. This is considered to form a robust assessment. Traffic generation
from the existing industrial premises has been taken into account (approximately 4,000 sq.m.)
and has been deducted from the traffic generated from the proposed industrial development.

Current traffic flows along Canal Road have been measured using a ATC and are seen to be
mainly light cars / vans with a low number of HGVs. These numbers have been added to the
proposed traffic generation to provide an overall forecast of vehicle numbers travelling along
Canal Road and onto the local highway network.

In summary, the daily flows of traffic generation for each of the remediation / demolition /
construction elements over the first 3 years have been estimated as:

Year 1 142 HGVs 34 cars / vans  Remediation / Demolition
Year 2 204 HGVs 67 cars / vans  Remediation / Demolition / Construction

 Year 3 150 HGVs 40 cars / vans  Remediation / Construction

These HGV numbers have been assumed to be equally distributed over a 10-hour day and it
would need to be managed (via an appropriate Condition) to restrict those numbers and the
spread over the day.

The existing flows along Canal Road taken from the survey have been added to the above
additional traffic flows resulting in a peak flow of 70 vehicles per hour in Year 1, 92 vehicles per
hour in Year 2, and 72 vehicles per hour in Year 3.

Once the remediation / demolition / construction phases are complete (after Year 3) it is
estimated that at peak times a traffic generation of 145 vehicles per hour in the am and 151
vehicles in the pm with a minimum of 115 vehicles per hour with approximately 15% – 20%
being HGVs. Daily traffic flows are estimated to be 848 arrivals (121 HGVs) and 873 departures
(123 HGVs) over a 12 hour period (07:00 to 17:00).

All the above figures are clearly illustrated by way of graphs on pages iii and iv of the Transport
Assessment.

The alternative option of using rail transport from the nearby rail sidings has been considered
and investigated but has been found not to be economically viable and impractical. This is
accepted and a full analysis is provided in Appendix 2 of the Transport Assessment.

Impact on Local Highway Network

The site is located in a rural area with the majority of the access roads comprising unlit,
relatively narrow lanes without footways.

Canal Road, the only access to the site, is adopted as a public highway for the first 450 metres
from its junction with Chequers Street, the remainder being a private road. The Highway
Authority has no jurisdiction over the private section. However, within the adopted section there

Page 112



is a pinch point just beyond the residential properties where HGVs would not be able to pass
and land is not available for undertaking any widening. It is proposed that temporary traffic
signals will be installed for the first 3 years of the works to manage alternate one-way working
which is an acceptable solution to avoid queueing or more particularly, reversing by HGVs.
There are concerns that this form of traffic control may also be necessary once operations start
on the industrial development and this will need to be assessed at the end of the 3-year period
for permanent signals. The Highway Authority is able to determine this and to implement any
necessary charges as a result.

It is accepted that the local villages of Higham and Shorne are unsuitable for HGV movements
and it has been agreed that a HGV routing agreement will be necessary during both the initial
phases and in the future for HGVs to use alternative routes. Any vehicles travelling westward
would be able to use Chalk Road to link with the A226 at Lion Roundabout since this road is
sufficiently wide and with reasonable forward visibility.

It is proposed to introduce a one-way routing strategy for HGV vehicles travelling east using
Lower Rochester Road westbound and Gore Green Road eastbound. Whilst it may be possible
to implement a Traffic Regulation Order to control these one-way movements (investigation
needed) it may also be controlled as part of a Construction Management Plan (Conditional on
any consent granted)  together with a requirement for all HGVs to be fitted with GPS tracking
devices to ensure compliance and to check for any non-compliance. This has been used at
other locations and is achievable.

Both Lower Rochester Road and Gore Green Road are relatively narrow (less than 4.0m in
parts with lengths of poor forward visibility. Any vehicles meeting an HGV coming in the
opposite direction would have difficulty passing and could result in lengthy reversing
manoeuvres detrimental to highway safety. In order to overcome this concern, it is proposed to
introduce additional surfaced passing places along both roads with a minimum road width of
5.5m and a length of 12m – sufficient to accommodate an HGV. Each passing place will need
to be visible from the previous one. A survey of the roads has been undertaken to identify
where passing places are required which appears achievable provided the passing places are
within the existing adopted highway or on land available to the applicant. This needs to be
further clarified by the applicant as sufficient information does not appear to be available and
therefore would need to be covered by Condition. A suitable S278 / S38 Agreement with the HA
would be required to adopt the new passing places.

Further mitigation works are being proposed at the Canal Road / Chequers Street / Church
Street / Lower Rochester Road staggered junction in the form of a new mini roundabout. This
will improve traffic flows and visibility to accommodate traffic movements at the junction. It has
been the subject of a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit and is be acceptable to the Highway Authority.
The works are all within existing public highway and would be carried out under a Section 278
Agreement with the HA.

Assessment of road junctions in the area, when taking into account the additional traffic
generated by the development, has shown that there are unlikely to be any congestion
problems at these junctions.

Highway Safety

Page 113



An analysis of the Crash Records has revealed only 2 sight injury crashes within the last 5
years up to 2019. There is therefore no significant highway safety record on the local roads in
the vicinity of the development access.

Sustainability

The development site is located in a rural area with little opportunity for sustainable transport.
The nearest railway station is at Higham at the junction of Chequers Street with Chalk Road. It
is proposed to operate a mini-bus shuttle service between the industrial development and
Higham station. Given the considerable walking distance (1.7 km.) along Canal Road and the
station this is considered to be a feasible alternative to the use of the private car by employees
of the new industrial units. Final details of the shuttle service will need to be submitted and
approved by the LPA prior to first occupation.

Bus services are available in Chequers Street but the distance to the development plus the
infrequent / poorly timed service is not considered to be a viable option.

Cycling is an alternative option, particularly between the development and Higham Station. It is
proposed that cycle parking at the station will be enhanced at the station (subject to
South-Eastern approval) which would hopefully encourage industrial site employees to make a
combined rail / cycle journey. NCR1 cycle route passes the site immediately to the north. Cycle
parking is proposed within the new development.

The above provisions should be supported by a Travel Plan both for the initial phases and the
completed industrial development. The TPs shall be required to be submitted and approved by
the LPA prior to any works commencing for the remediation / demolition / construction phase
(could be included in a Construction Management Plan) and prior to first occupation of any of
the industrial units on the site.

Car / Van / HGV Parking

Since the distance between the development site and the nearest public highway is
considerable, the impact of insufficient parking on the site is not considered to be a matter for
consideration by the Highway Authority. The Local Planning Authority may wish to consider the
parking provision against their own published parking standards.

Conclusions

In summary, whilst there are concerns regarding the levels of traffic movements in a rural
location and accessed by narrow lanes, provided the mitigating road measures are undertaken
as described above, it is not considered appropriate or sustainable to raise an objection to the
proposals and therefore no objection is raised by the Highway Authority provided that the
following issues are covered by an appropriately worded and enforceable Condition:

1 The road improvement works at the Canal Road / Chequers Street / Church Street /
Lower Rochester Road junction generally in accordance with RSK drawing ref.
661792/02A shall be completed under a Section 278 Agreement with the Highway
Authority prior to any works commencing.

Page 114



2 The construction of additional passing places along Lower Rochester Road and Gore
Green Road shall be completed generally in accordance with RSK Drawing Ref.
661792-10-04B prior to any works on the site commencing and with the agreement of
details with the Highway Authority.

3 A final Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the LPA in
co-ordination with the Highway Authority prior to any works commencing. Such a plan
shall be generally in accordance with the submitted details included in the Transport
Assessment submitted as a supporting document to the application and shall include
details of maximum HGV numbers both daily and hourly and HGV routing together with
a requirement for a GPS tracking system covering all construction vehicles.

4 A lorry routing agreement for HGV vehicles travelling to and from the proposed industrial
units shall be entered into and enforced by the LPA in conjunction with the HA prior to
first occupation of the industrial units on the site. No HGV traffic shall be permitted to
travel through the villages of Higham and Shorne.

5 A system of traffic signal control shall be installed along the narrow section of Canal
Road to enable one-way working, details and location to be agreed by the LPA in
conjunction with the HA prior to any works commencing for a duration to be agreed.

6 A Travel Plan shall be submitted to and agreed by the LPA prior to any industrial units
coming into use and shall include details of enhanced cycle parking at Higham Station
and details of a shuttle bus between the development site and Higham Station to be
operated for a period of at least 3 years from commencement of its operation.

7 Locations and details of EV charging points within the industrial site shall be submitted
to and approved by the LPA and installed prior to first occupation.

INFORMATIVE: It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure , before the development
hereby approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in order to
avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority.
Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not look
like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called ‘highway land’. Some of
this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third party
owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have ‘highway rights’ over the topsoil.
Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-e
nquiries

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in
every aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore
important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect
of the works prior to commencement on site.

Page 115

http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land


Yours faithfully

David Barton
Senior Development Planner

Page 116



1

Shorne Parish Council
 Borough of Gravesham 

Clerk & Responsible Officer
Mrs S Poole
Shorne Village Hall
The Street
Shorne
Nr Gravesend
Kent DA12 3EA

E-mail: clerk@shorneparishcouncil.org  

23rd October 2020.

GR/2019/0290

Nuralite Industrial Estate Canal Road Higham Rochester Kent ME3 7JA

*REVISED/ADDITIONAL INFORMATION* The proposal is for the systematic redevelopment of the 
existing Nuralite site. This includes the importation of inert materials to cap, and landscape the 
historic asbestos landfill, thus containing its contamination risk. To demolish the existing buildings 
of the Nuralite industrial estate, deal with existing contamination, both through capping and 
removal of areas of hydrocarbon pollution, the laying of new service and utility infrastructure and 
the construction of 11 new purpose built light industrial type units and a site office. 

This letter provides comments from Shorne Parish Council only on the revised/supplementary 
documents that the applicant has submitted in October 2020.  The representations that we 
previously made in July 2019 remain valid and both that and this present submission should be 
read in conjunction with each other.

The applicant has submitted six supplementary/updated documents.

1) Revised - Habitats Regulations Assessment 2020 Update:  

 Altered configuration of Canal Road:  The latest version of the proposals include changes to 
the configuration of Canal Road.  These works will impact on the SSSI designated area of 
Beckley Hill and particularly on the Ramsar site as that lies to the north of the entrance and 
on one or both sides of Canal Road.  That aspect has not been included in the evaluation.  

 Deficient Map:  The map at Appendix 1 does not include the SSSI classified land at Beckley 
Hill, to the immediate east of the site entrance.

 Hydrological assessments:  We do not believe the hydrological assessments in Table 1 to be 
correct.  The whole marshes area is interconnected hydrologically through complex ditch 
and drain patterns, and the proposals include excess water from the site draining into the 
canal and thence overflowing further into the marshes.

 Activities on-site:  In the section describing the development there is reference to 
“……waste recycling centre, soil and stone processing centre……”.  We do not recall these 
activities being mentioned previously, and they raise additional concern over greater air and 
noise pollution.

Page 117

mailto:clerk@shorneparishcouncil.org


2

 Canal Remediation:  We are uncertain whether there have been any changes to the land 
profiles etc proposed and detailed in the other Appendices but we would anyway like to see 
considerably greater remediation of the canal.

2) Revised - Nuralite Water Vole Survey Report:  

 Previous damage:  Conditions of the southern bank and the canal bed itself have previously 
been altered by the actions of the applicant and predecessors.  

 Recolonisation potential:  If the canal was to be properly remediated then water voles 
might colonise the canal again from other local habitats.

3) Revised - Wintering bird survey Nuralite Industrial Estate:  

 Validity of surveys:  As described before, the western part of the site was previously 
bulldozed by the applicant so the then existing habitat was destroyed.  Therefore the 
surveys are not representative of the less recent conditions of the site.  

 Limited recovery to date will be re-zeroed:  There has however already been some 
recovery, as evidenced in the survey by the presence of birds on the “red” and “Amber” lists 
but the site will again be stripped of all habitat by the process of building new industrial 
units and capping of the western part of the site.  

 Replanting:  It is to be hoped that subsequent replanting might eventually enable recovery 
to at least the original, and hopefully perhaps an improved state. 

 Nesting boxes:  The recommendation for nesting boxes to be installed on the new buildings 
is noted however it cannot be predicted as to whether the new range of activities to be 
undertaken on the site will encourage or discourage their use.  

 Within-site landscaping:  There needs to be significant landscaping and plantings installed 
and maintained within the industrial part of the site, particularly at the southern border.

4) Revised - Construction Management Plan:

 Transfer of goods between vehicles:  Vehicles destined for the Apex site but taller than the 
railway bridge height limit of 4.1m should not be allowed to offload onto other smaller 
vehicles on Canal Road if this will cause obstruction.

 Safety along whole of Canal Road:  Safety measures for pedestrians and cyclists need to be 
instituted for the entire length of Canal Road.

 Warnings about cyclists and pedestrians:  The Road Safety Initiative needs to include 
warnings about cyclists and pedestrians, especially near the site entrance, and particularly 
for any over-height vehicles turning at the Network Rail entrance due to the co-location 
there of Footpath NS156.

 Opening hours start too early:  The proposed opening hours for construction begin too early 
(06.00), this should be 07.00 or later, and vehicles should not be entering Canal Road to wait 
prior to the opening time.

 Impact of increased traffic:  The proposed increase in traffic including HGV’s will have an 
unbearable impact on local residents.

 One-way traffic system:  There is discussion about having a one-way system temporarily for 
HGV’s using Gore Green Road.  In our view, this would need to be implemented for all traffic 

Page 118



3

and to be permanent in order to ensure traffic and public safety.  The turn from Gore Green 
Road onto Lower Rochester Road is already “blind” and therefore dangerous, and will be 
more so with additional traffic, particularly HGV’s, using the Lower Rochester Road.  This 
would however be an inconvenience to local residents.

 Turning onto the B2000:  We remain concerned about the large increase in the number of 
turning movements, including during construction by heavy, and therefore slow-moving, 
HGV’s, from Gore Green Road turning right onto the B2000.

 Passing places:  There is discussion about creating passing places on local roads however in 
many of these the amount of verge available, particularly in Gore Green Road, is either 
inadequate or non-existent without land being purchased.  These could also negatively 
impact on local amenity.  (See also under Revised Transport Assessment below).

 Suitability for heavy vehicles:  We would also question whether local roads are structurally 
suitable for use by very heavy HGV’s, and who would be responsible for consequent repairs.

 Security gate at entrance:  A security gate in now mentioned however this was not shown 
on the previously submitted plans.

 Wheel-washing:  On-site wheel washing facilities must not lead to contamination run-off.

5) Revised - Transport Assessment:

 Chequers area:  The proposed alterations to the Chequers area have been commented on 
previously in detail, we remain concerned about the overall unsuitability.

 Urbanisation:  Regarding this change and those proposed to provide passing places and one-
way systems and associated signage, overall we are concerned about the degree of 
urbanisation that will be imposed on local residents and the Conservation Area.

 Traffic volume increases:  The proposals result in a predicted more than quadrupling of 
traffic volumes and particularly of HGV’s, these volumes and types of vehicles will have a 
significant detrimental effect on the safety of local roads and the lives of local residents.  We 
disagree with the applicant’s conclusion that “The resulting impact of the proposed 
development is not predicted to have a significant adverse effect on the on the operation of 
the local highway network….”.  The increase in traffic levels will also depend on the nature of 
the businesses occupying the individual units so is likely to be greater than predicted.

 Adequacy of turning space before railway bridge:  We are not convinced that there is 
enough space for larger HGV’s to turn in the Network Rail entrance.  On-going availability 
and permission to use this area is not guaranteed so cannot be relied upon.

 Accident analysis:  Analysis over a longer time frame reveals more accidents, one fatal (in 
November 2000) on Gore Green Road.   It is obvious that more traffic will lead to more 
accidents occurring as there will be greater opportunity for conflict between vehicles and 
between vehicles and cyclists.

 Widening Canal Road into the Ramsar Site:  The proposals widen Canal Road and add a 
footway north of the Railway Bridge however the land on each side of the road here is part 
of the Ramsar Site and SSSI so we would question as to whether the road can actually be 
widened etc.  

 Location and type of footway:  Any pedestrian footway would be better on the north side 
rather than the south.  A crossing point should be provided south of the Railway Bridge in 
relation to Footpath NS156 and an all-weather footway provided continuously from there to 

Page 119



4

the Apex entrance.  The structure of the footway should reflect the rural and specially 
protected natures of the area rather than creating an urban appearance.

 Chequers mini-roundabout:  The mini-roundabout area needs to also facilitate traffic 
moving from Church Road to Canal Road, unless this traffic is instead to be compelled to 
circumnavigate the roundabout.  

 Displaced resident’s parking:  The issue of where displaced resident parking will be located, 
and the impact of this on the proposals and on road safety, has still not been addressed.

 Additional signage:  The proposed additional “low bridge” signage is appreciated.
 Options for rail transport:  The options for using rail to transport incoming and outgoing 

waste materials have not yet been adequately explored.
 Passing places:  Regarding passing places (see also under Construction management plan 

above), these would need to be maintained as available, i.e. checked for fly-tipping several 
times per day and cleared immediately if found to be compromised.  Responsibility for this 
needs to be assigned.

6) Revised - Travel Plan:

 Aims etc vs reality:  Aims, targets and potential for non-vehicular modes of access are not 
the same thing as the reality of what will actually happen.  Likewise, “…… best endeavours” 
to control  operational HGV movements……” do not ensure compliance.

 Access route:  The point remains that all practical access to the site is by road, via Canal 
Road and therefore through Lower Higham residential and Conservation Areas.

Summary:

We continue to object to the proposal to expand the footprint of the industrial area beyond the 
official/original footprint, and that objection also applies to several large hardstanding areas which 
have already been laid out and brought into use without planning permission.  We also object to the 
proposed impacts on the historic Thames and Medway Canal and the Lower Higham area.

We remain unconvinced that the importation of materials in the quantity described is actually 
needed to remediate the western part of the site which is not going to be further disturbed.  We 
would like to see an independent opinion regarding the minimum requitement.

Among other issues, aspects such as supplies of potable water and electricity, and the safe 
management of foul and surface water drainage remain inadequately addressed. 

The revised/supplementary documents submitted by the applicant have not altered our views that 
due to the location the proposals are not, and cannot be made to be, suitable.

Planning and Highways Committee,
Shorne Parish Council

Page 120



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20201231

Site Address: Alexandrias Residential Home 147 Wrotham Road Gravesend Kent

Application 
Description:

Change of use of building from a care home (Use Class C2) to an 11 
bedroom HMO (House in Multiple Occupation) (sui generis) with 
communal facilities and staffing areas to provide short-term supported 
accommodation.  

Applicant: Mr Daniel Killian, Gravesham Borough Council

Agent: Mr Alex Johnson, Potter Raper Ltd

Ward: Pelham

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 18 January 2021

Publicity expiry date: 16 December 2020

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 6th January 2021

Reason for referral: Applicant is Gravesham Borough Council

Recommendation: Permission Subject to Conditions
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

The proposed change of use is considered to be an effective use of this empty property, whilst 
providing adequate accommodation for future occupiers, with minimal impact on both 
neighbour amenity and highways.

Subject to conditions, the proposal is compliant with national and local planning policy.

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Proposal

1.1. The proposal is for the change of use of building from a care home (Use Class C2) to 
an 11 bedroom HMO (House in Multiple Occupation) (sui generis) with communal 
facilities and staffing areas to provide short-term supported accommodation.

1.2. The ground floor will be developed with 3 en-suite bedrooms, with a communal kitchen, 
dining room, communal laundry room plus different rooms as multifunctional room and 
conservatory/lounge area. Bedroom 1, together with the communal dining room are 
wheelchair accessible. On the first floor, accessible by communal staircases, there will 
be 5 en-suite bedrooms, a communal kitchen, two multifunctional rooms and different 
rooms to be at use of the staff. On the second floor, there will be 3 en-suite bedrooms 

Page 121 Agenda Item 5b



and a communal kitchen. Three multi-use rooms will be used to provide the specialist 
support during the day, including therapy and rehabilitation services to residents.

1.3. The spare rooms may also be used overnight on occasions to provide emergency 
temporary accommodation in exceptional circumstances. Residents will be granted an 
initial 6 month assured short hold tenancy with the maximum stay being no more than 2 
years, unless there are individual exceptional circumstances.

1.4. The front entrance will be adapted to be disabled/wheelchair accessible free with railing 
to prevent falls. The front garden will be cleaned and organised with a new bin store 
area on the right side of the building to tidy the external appearance.  

1.5. The rear garden will be cleaned and organised with an installation of separate secure 
cycle store for staff and future occupants.  It will provide another exit behind the 
building giving access to 3no. new parking bays and connecting on the adjacent Essex 
Road.

1.6. Replacement of 4no. external timber doors; - 1no. on the front (east facing) elevation to 
the right within the curved opening; 1no. on the north facing elevation; and 1no. on the 
rear (west) facing elevation.  All are like for like timber replacements.

2. Relevant Planning History

Application Ref. No. Description Status Date
20131049 Conversion of second floor to 

provide three additional resident 
bedrooms including installation of 
roof lights.

Permission 20.05.2014

20180698 Change of use from residential 
care home to bed-and-breakfast 
accommodation

Withdrawn 12.02.2020

19910701 Change of use of premises to 
residential home for the elderly 
incorporating demolition of 2 
kitchens at ground floor level & 
erection of 2 storey rear extension 
to form 3no.bedrooms & bathrooms 
at ground floor with 3no. bedrooms 
at 1st floor level & formation of 4 
parking spaces at the rear.

Permission 14.01.1992

19930492 Erection of conservatory at rear. Permission 14.10.1993

19930722 Continued use of premises as 
residential home for the elderly 
without complying with condition (ii) 
granted under GR/91/319 and 
conversion of office and storeroom, 
to bedrooms at first floor level.

Permission 14.02.1994

 
19920622 Erection of a two storey rear 

extension to form bedroom at 
ground floor level with bedroom 

Permission 23.11.1992

Page 122



over, incorporating formation of a 
lift shaft.

19760463 Erection of a single storey 
extension at rear to form kitchen 
and conversion of existing kitchen 
to bedroom

Permission 12.07.1976

3. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

Development Plan

The Development Plan for Gravesham currently comprises: 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and Policies Map, September 2014; and
Saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review, November 1994.

The relevant policies for your proposal are as follows:

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
 CS01 – Sustainable Development
 CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
 CS07 – Economy, Employment and Skills
 CS14 – Housing Type and Size
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19  - Development & Design Principles

3.1 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2019) sets out those policies within adopted local plans should 
be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and 
should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set out 
in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations 
2012.

3.2 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and found that the adopted Local 
Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02, due to the 
increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted and the need to 
ensure that a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need.  Whilst saved policies from the 
Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the NPPF (2019), the Council will also 
seek to replace these.  A Regulation 18 (stage 2) consultation is underway in regard to the 
Emerging Local Plan Partial Review, Site Allocations and Development Management 
Policies (until 31 December 2020.  The early stage of these documents means they are not 
afforded any significant weight as part of the assessment of this application.

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
 P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
 H5 – Increasing Housing Stock by Conversion of existing Buildings
 H6(iii) – Provision to meet Special Housing Needs

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places

Supplementary Planning Guidance

Page 123



 SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
 SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
 Gravesham Borough Council Guidance to HMO Amenity Standards (2006)

4. Consultations and Publicity Responses

4.1. This application was advertised with a site notice and letters were sent to 19 
surrounding properties with an overall expiry date of 16th December 2020. No letters of 
representation have been received.  

4.2. The Local Ward Councillors were also consulted and no responses were received.

5. Site Description and Surroundings

5.1. The application site is defined on the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policies 
Map as lying in the urban area of Gravesend, located on the outskirts of the town 
centre. 

5.2. The sites current use is an 18-bed residential care home.  

5.3. Parking on-site is located to the rear which can be accessed from Essex Road.  

5.4. The building is not listed nor is it set within a conservation area.

6.        Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments

6.1. The principal issues in the consideration of this application are:
 Principle of development;
 Design and impact on the surrounding area;
 Amenity of future occupiers;
 Amenity of neighbouring properties;
 Parking and highway safety; and 
 Ecology and biodiversity.

6.2. Principle of Development and Need

6.3. The application site lies within a housing area where there exist no specific policies or 
constraints, other than general policies that seek to protect the character of the area and 
the amenity of existing residents. Policy CS14 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) 
requires that the Council protects the mix of housing in the existing housing stock while 
also expecting new housing development to provide a range of dwelling types and 
sizes, taking into account the existing character of the area and evidence of local need 
to create sustainable and balanced communities. 

6.4. The application site has been operating as a residential institution of some form, be it a 
residential care home for the elderly since the 1991 when permission was granted in 
1991 (Ref. 19910701). The proposed supported accommodation is for up to 10 adults in 
an independent arrangement. The proximity of the site to the town centre, local 
amenities and public transport links is such that its sustainable location is acceptable in 
principle as per Policy CS01 (LPCS). This stance is further supported by saved Policy 
H6(iii) of the Local Plan First Review (LPFR) which supports in principle, proposals in 
appropriate locations. There are three other residential institutions in the local vicinity, 
namely 56 and 60 Pelham Road and 2 The Avenue. 2 The Avenue was recently 

Page 124



approved in 2019 (Ref. 20190445), which is due in part to the sustainable location of 
these large dwellings suitable for multiple occupation. 

6.5. However it is important that the conversion of the buildings to provide more intensive 
occupation does not cause harm to the character and amenity of existing areas, and in 
the case of residential homes local planning policies seek to prevent clustering;

6.6. Saved Policy H6(iii) (LPFR) with regard to proposals for residential hostels and homes, 
whether by new build or by conversion, the Borough Council will take particular care to 
ensure that these do not cluster together and harm the overall character of the area. 

6.7. Given the fact the property appears to have been a residential care home since the 
early 1990’s, it is not considered that the change of use from a residential care home to 
supported accommodation is materially different from the current lawful use. Therefore a 
wholly new type of use is not being introduced into the area. There is no clustering 
effect which may harm the overall character of the area. The property is located in a 
street predominantly consisting of single family dwellings. There are also some known 
HMOs in the vicinity. As such the character of the area is domestic, and the proposed 
change of use will not erode the domestic character of the area. 

6.8. It is considered that the proposal is in accordance with saved Policy H6(iii) of (LPFR), 
but also Policy CS14 (LPCS) which states sheltered housing and extra care housing for 
people with special needs will be supported on suitable sites in areas with access to a 
range of services that provide for the needs of future occupants. 

6.9. The preamble to this policy in paragraph 5.10.7 states that while the Council will look to 
support the provision of housing to meet the requirements of people in special need of 
help or supervision, the use should not change the character of the area nor involve a 
loss of amenity to residents because of potential noise and disturbance it could create 
outside normal working hours.

6.10. Having regard to the above, it is concluded that the principle of converting the existing 
residential home into more conventional residential use in the form of a house of 
multiple occupation is acceptable.

6.11. Design and impact on the area

6.12. Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires development to conserve and enhance the character of 
the local built, historic and natural environment, integrate well with the surrounding local 
area and meet anti-crime standards. This stance is reflected in chapter 12 (Achieving 
well-designed places) of the NPPF (2019).

6.13. It is worth noting that the scheme that is before Members has been the subject to pre-
application discussion prior to submitting this application.

6.14. The site is situated in the urban area of Gravesend and is not listed, nor within a 
conservation area.  Only minimal external alterations in the form of the replacement of 
3no. doors are proposed, which area like for like timber design.  No extensions are 
proposed.

6.15. The existing garden to the front will be tidied up with new railings and a bin store to be 
provided.  The proposed front elevations show that the bin store would be minimal in 
size and would be located to the north side of the building in front of the curved timber 
opening.  Further details of its appearance will be required which could be by condition.  

Page 125



6.16. A small amount of parking is available to the rear, accessed from Essex Road and not 
highly visible from public vantage points.  The rear garden will be tidied, together with 
the installation of a secure cycle store for use by residents and a separate cycle store 
for staff.  The proposed ground floor plan shows that 3no. parking spaces can be 
provided.  Details of marking out of spaces, together with the location and details of the 
cycle store will need to be requested which could be by condition. 

6.17. As such, in respect of design and the impact on the character and visual amenity of the 
area, it is considered the proposal is compliant with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and saved 
Policy H5 (LPFR).

6.18. Amenity of Future Occupiers

6.19. Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires that all development should be ‘fit for purpose’ and be 
‘adaptable to allow changes to meet the need of users’ and that ‘the design and layout 
of new residential development, including conversion, will accord with the adopted 
Residential Layout Guidelines’.

6.20. The Gravesham Borough Council Guidance to HMO Amenity Standards (2006) set out 
the minimum size of rooms, facilities to be provided.

6.21. The proposal is for 11no. bedrooms, each with its own en-suite.  Each floor has a 
communal kitchen and ‘multi-functional’ rooms.  The ground floor has a communal 
dining room and separate lounge area.  The ground floor and first each have a staff 
office.  Separate staff access and facilities has also provided. All bedrooms and 
communal kitchens exceed the minimum room sizes.

6.22. The individual bedroom sizes exceed the standards set in the HMO Amenity Standards.  
The minimum for a 1 person unit combined bedroom and living room is 10m2.  The floor 
layout has annotated double bedrooms with en-suites for all bedrooms with the 
exception of bedroom one which is a wheelchair room and bedroom 10 on the second 
floor.  The minimum room size for a 2 person unit with living room is 14m2. 

Room No. and Floor Proposed Room Size Standard
Ground Floor
1 (1 person wheelchair) 21m2 10m2

2 (2 person) 20.5m2 14m2

3 (2 person) 20m2 14m2

Communal Kitchen 14.5m2 9m2 (based on 6 sharing)
Dining Room 20.6m2 2m2 per person
First Floor
4  (2 person) 21.1m2 14m2

5 (2 person) 2.6m2 14m2

6 (2 person) 20.7m2 14m2

7 (2 person) 18m2 14m2

8 (2 person) 20.6m2 14m2

Communal Kitchen 10.2m2 9m2 (based on 6 sharing)
Second Floor
9 (2 person) 18.6m2 14m2

10 (1 person) 18m2 10m2

11 (2 person) 22.2m2 14m2

6.23. Whilst the dining room would have a shortfall of 1.4m2, this is considered acceptable as 
it is unlikely that all residents would be using the dining room all at one time.

Page 126



6.24. In terms of amenity space, there is a large rear garden measuring some 271m2 and 
16.17m in depth from the rear wall.  This area does include the proposed parking area.  
The area that would be usable space for the enjoyment of residents would measure 
approx. 122.17m2. The HMO Amenity Standards do not contain guidelines on garden 
space but this area and depth is considered acceptable for an 11 room HMO.   

6.25.  In respect of the amenity of future occupiers, the proposal is considered compliant with 
Policy CS19 (LPCS).

6.26. Neighbour Amenity 

6.27. Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to safeguard the amenity, including 
privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of neighbouring properties and 
land and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019) requires development to have a high 
standard of amenity for existing users (In this case surrounding properties).

6.28. As a care home use, the rooms were used for residential rooms for individual residents 
and so the proposal for individual HMO rooms would not raise any new issues regarding 
overlooking to neighbouring properties etc. No extensions or other alterations are 
proposed. In respect of neighbour amenity, the proposal is considered compliant with 
Policy CS19 (LPCS).

6.29. Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking 

6.30. Parking for 3no. spaces for staff, is shown on the proposed ground floor plan, with 
ample space for turning. Due to the nature of the HMO, it is not envisaged that residents 
would have a private vehicle.  Access is from the existing access to the rear from Essex 
Road.

6.31. The property is located approximately 0.54miles from the town centre and would be 
within walking distance for future occupiers.

6.32. Cycle storage has also been proposed for both staff and residents.  It is considered a 
condition would be included relating to cycle storage.

6.33. Subject to conditions, in respect of parking and highways the proposal is considered 
compliant with Policy CS11 (LPCS) and saved Policy P3 (LPFR).

6.34. Ecology and Biodiversity

6.35. The application site is located in the Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar Buffer Zone. 
The Ramsar site is of international biodiversity importance, particularly for birds. Recent 
evidence suggests that there has been a decline in bird populations in the internationally 
significant Special Protection Areas (SPA) and Ramsar sites that make up the North 
Kent Marshes. There is currently insufficient evidence to adequately assess the cause 
of this decline although interim findings indicate that recreational activity causes 
disturbance to birds and that more development will lead to an increase in disturbance. 
In the meantime, a precautionary approach to development will be applied. It will be 
imperative that developers address and mitigate any detrimental impacts on 
biodiversity.

6.36. In this instance, due to the existing use being an 18-bed residential care home, the 
proposed use would result in a net decrease of 7 units to an 11-bed HMO and therefore 
no net increase in residential units and as such, no mitigating measures are needed.

Page 127



6.37. The proposal would accord with Policy CS12 (LPCS) which affords internationally 
important areas such as Ramsar sites and SPA’s the highest protection and addresses 
the comments raised by Natural England. 

6.38. Refuse

6.39. A refuse storage is proposed to the north side of the building.  Details of its appearance 
will be required which could be by condition.  

7. Suggested Conditions

 Standard time limit;
 Approved plans;
 Details of soft landscaping;
 Details of hard landscaping, including the replacement railings;
 Details of marking out of parking bays and parking spaces to remain; 
 Details of cycle storage; and
 Details of refuse storage.

8. Conclusion and Overall Balancing Exercise 

8.1. The principle of converting the existing residential home into more conventional 
residential use in the form of a house of multiple occupation is acceptable, and is in 
accordance with saved Policy H6(iii) of (LPFR), but also Policy CS14 (LPCS) which 
states sheltered housing and extra care housing for people with special needs will be 
supported on suitable sites in areas with access to a range of services that provide for 
the needs of future occupants.

8.2. The proposal would not result in material external alterations to the property and 
therefore in respect of design and the impact on the character and visual amenity of the 
area, it is considered the proposal is compliant with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and saved 
Policy H5 (LPFR).

8.3. In respect of the amenity of future occupiers, the proposed room sizes accord with the 
Gravesham Borough Council Guidance to HMO Amenity Standards (2006) and as such 
is considered compliant with Policy CS19 (LPCS).

8.4. It is considered that the change of use from a care home to an HMO would not raise any 
new issues regarding overlooking to neighbouring properties and in respect of 
neighbour amenity, the proposal is considered compliant with Policy CS19 (LPCS).

8.5. Due to the property being within walking distance of the town centre, resident car 
parking would not be required, subject to the provision of secure cycle storage being 
provided.

8.6. The proposed use would result in a net decrease of 7 units to an 11-bed HMO and as 
such, no mitigating measures are needed in relation to the development resulting in 
disturbance to birds.

8.7. In terms of the assessment of the impact of the development the key considerations, 
beyond the form and principle of the development, have been:
 Design and impact on the surrounding area;
 Amenity of future occupiers;

Page 128



 Amenity of neighbouring properties;
 Parking and highway safety; and 
 Ecology and biodiversity.

8.8. Subject to conditions, the proposal is compliant with national and local planning policy.

_____________________________________________________________________________
Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be GRANTED Planning Permission, subject to the 
following conditions:

Time Limit

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in precise accordance with the 
following submitted plans and particulars and pursuant to any condition hereinafter 
contained and there shall be no deviation therefrom without the prior permission in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority:-  

Planning Application Form;
Design and Access Statement;
Drawing No. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL001 - Location & Block Plans;
Drawing No. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL101 - Existing Floor Plans;
Drawing No. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL102 - Proposed Floor Plans;
Drawing No. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL201 - Existing South Elevation;
Drawing No. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL202 - Existing North Elevation;
Drawing No. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL203 - Existing East & West Elevations;
Drawing No. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL204 - Proposed South Elevation;
Drawing No. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL205 - Proposed North Elevation;
Drawing No. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL206 - Proposed East & West Elevations; and
Drawing No. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL401 - Proposed South Elevation.

Reason  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

Prior to occupation

Hard Landscaping

3. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard landscaping shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping 
works shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
completion of the development or the first occupation of the residential unit whichever is 
sooner. The scheme shall include: 
 proposed boundary treatments, 

Page 129



 hard surface finishes to the vehicle parking areas, pedestrian accesses, private 
gardens and amenity areas; 

 details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or other supporting 
structures

 details of the pedestrian and vehicular access 

Reason To protect and enhance the visual amenity and the character of the area and to ensure a 
satisfactory environment for existing and future residents in accordance with Policy 
CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Soft Landscaping

4. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans a scheme detailing the proposed soft 
landscaping shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include the type and species of planting to be carried out, to 
include their quantity and size as well as arrangements for aftercare. Thereafter the 
approved soft landscaping scheme shall be carried out in full during the first available 
planting season following first occupation of the dwelling. Any trees or plants that die, 
are damaged, removed or become diseased within five years from the date that the 
development is first brought into use shall be replaced with a species of a similar size 
and species during the next available planting season.

Reason To ensure that the landscaping is maintained in the long term in the interests of the visual 
amenity of the development, in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Parking Arrangements

5. Prior to the first use of the building as a house of multiple occupation and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, details of how the parking 
bays as shown on drawing no. B9689-PR-WR-ZZ-M2-B-PL001 shall be suitably marked 
on the ground shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the first use of the building as the house of multiple occupation hereby permitted 
and shall thereafter be maintained while the building remains in use as the house of 
multiple occupation.

Reason  In the interests of highway safety and visual amenity in accordance with Policies CS11 
and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and saved Policies P3 
and TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994).

Cycle Storage

6. Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, details shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority of a secure, weather proof cycle 
store and its location within the site, which provides sufficient space for bicycles to be 
parked. The approved cycle store shall be implemented in full prior to the first use of the 
building as the house of multiple occupation hereby permitted and the structure shall 
thereafter be maintained and kept available for the parking of bicycles while the building 
remains in use as a house in multiple occupation.

Reason  In order to provide for alternative modes of sustainable transport in accordance with 
Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and the adopted 

Page 130



Vehicle Parking Standards (SPG4).

Refuse Arrangements

7. Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, details shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority of the location and appearance 
of the refuse and recycling storage area to serve the development and the waste 
management arrangements associated with the proposed use.  The submitted details 
shall ensure adequate provision for non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable 
waste.  The approved bin store and waste management arrangements shall be 
implemented in full prior to the first use of the building as the house of multiple 
occupation hereby permitted and shall thereafter be maintained while the building 
remains in use as a house in multiple occupation.

Reason  In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area, to 
preserve the residential and visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies 
CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

INFORMATIVES:-

 1 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-TAKING 

 2 DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED PLANS

 3 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT 1996

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A: Application Site plan

Reference 20201231

Address Alexandrias Residential Home 147 Wrotham Road Gravesend Kent 

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20190290 - Nuralite Industrial Estate, Canal Road, Higham, Rochester ME3 7JA - Redevelopment of the existing Nuralite site - report herewith
	B. Shorne Parish Council 7.12.19
	C. Higham Parish Council 22.10.20
	D. Higham Parish Council 3.12.20
	E. KCC Highways
	F. Shorne Parish Council 23.10.19

	5b 20201231 - Alexandrias Residential Home 147 Wrotham Road, Gravesend DA11 0QL - report herewith
	A. 20201231 - Alexandrias Residential Home  (site plan)


